
AGENDA

KENT COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

Wednesday, 11th October, 2017, at 10.00 
am

Ask for: Joel Cook/Anna 
Taylor

Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, 
Maidstone

Telephone 03000 416892/03000 
416478 
joel.cook@kent.gov
.uk/anna.taylor@ke
nt.gov.uk

Tea/Coffee will be available 15 minutes before the meeting.

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS
(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public)

A.  Committee Business
A1 Apologies 

A2 Declarations of Interest 

A3 Notes of meeting held on 19 July 2017 (Pages 3 - 10)

B.  Matters for Discussion
B1 Kent Community Safety Agreement Update (Pages 11 - 14)

B2 KCSP Working Group update (Pages 15 - 20)

B3 Housing & Homelessness for CJS Service Users (Pages 21 - 102)

B4 Public Protection Intelligence Team update 

B5 Mental Health update 

B6 Kent Drug and Alcohol Services Commissioning update (Pages 103 - 104)

C.  Matters for Information
C1 Date of next meeting 

2018 KCSP meeting dates to be confirmed.

D -RESTRICTED ITEM(S)
Meeting not open to the press and public and reports not for publication 



D1 PREVENT and Counter Terrorism update 

D2 Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) - update 

D3 Domestic Homicide Review briefing - Pauline 2016 (subject to Home Office 
Quality Assurance Panel approval) 

Tuesday, 3 October 2017



1

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

KENT COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP

NOTES of a meeting of the Kent Community Safety Partnership held in the Medway 
Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 19 July 2017.

PRESENT: Mr P M Hill, OBE (Chairman), Mr Rivers (Vice-Chairman), Mrs H Bland, 
T/Supt T Cook, Mr T England, Ms D Exall, Cllr A Gulvin, Cllr J Knight, Mrs K Kyzer, 
Ms J Leney, Ms J Mookherjee, Mrs A Oates, Mr M Overbeke, Mr J Padley, 
Mr S Peerbux, Mr Robert Phillips, Mr D Rattray, Mr I Thomson and Mr N Wilkinson

IN ATTENDANCE: Mrs E Banks, Ms S Brinson (KCC Community Safety), 
Ms F Gaffney (Kent Resilience Team Supervisor) and Mrs A Taylor (Scrutiny 
Research Officer)

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS

148. Notes of meeting held on 15 March 2017 
(Item A3)

1. The Chairman requested that where the minutes stated that information was 
available ‘here’ this was expanded to explain that the information could be found 
online.  

2. Regarding Health Visitors in One Stop Shops, Ms Mookherjee explained that 
there had been an extensive review of the Health Visitors Service covering the 
whole of Kent.  Health Visitors were a critical step in the support and treatment for 
men and women suffering from Domestic Abuse.  There was an aim for all Health 
Visitors to be trained to support those suffering from Domestic Abuse and it was 
not considered that having specialist Health Visitors in One Stop Shops was a 
good use of that precious resource and that people could be referred directly to 
the Heath Visitors.  

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 15 March were a correct record 
and that they be signed by the Chairman. 

149. Kent Community Safety Agreement Update 
(Item B1)

1. Mr Peerbux (Head of Community Safety, KCC) introduced this item; this was a 
new Community Safety Agreement with agreed priorities.  The Agreement had 
moved away from a 3 year strategy into a rolling strategy with elements that 
would be refreshed annually as appropriate.  An action plan would be developed 
and following an internal audit review the Community Safety Agreement Actions 
had been updated so they were more outcome focused.  

2. Ms Brinson (Community Safety Team Leader, KCC) explained that there were 
key actions to be delivered by community safety partners across the county with a 
number of actions ongoing.  This was a living document which was still in draft, if 

Page 3

Agenda Item A3



Members had any comments or suggestions they should be submitted to the Kent 
Community Safety Team.  

3. The Chairman stated that this was a comprehensive plan and invited Members to 
make comments.  

4. There was a suggestion that the plan should include a reference to the joint 
children’s and adult’s Risk Threats and Vulnerabilities group and also links to the 
work of the Community Safety Partnerships.  

5. The group were happy with the format and that it should be kept under constant 
review.  

6. Tim Cook explained that there had been a rise in crime, particularly violence 
against the person but in 80% of the increase, there was no injury. This increase 
was a national trend and there had been changes to the ways in which crime was 
recorded, it was now victim oriented, and for example there could historically have 
been 1 crime with 32 victims, whereas now there would be 32 separate crimes 
which was largely why recorded crime had increased.  There was also more 
awareness of issues such as modern slavery and human trafficking leading to a 
rise in non-traditional crime types.  Following the HMIC inspection, much work 
had already been done to address the issues raised in order to reassure the 
public that they could be confident in the crime recording and more importantly, 
the quality of investigation by Kent Police, however following an internal review of 
the findings it was clear that appropriate safeguarding had been put in place for 
victims.  There had previously been a removal of targets and a focus on victims. 
Crime recording in Kent was one of the best in the country with victims getting the 
right level of support but recording was not as HMIC recommended or in line with 
national standards.  Since the inspection, crime recording had significantly 
improved and there was an ongoing work stream to get back to previous levels. 

7. The Chairman commented that it was disappointing; having made such enormous 
progress and it looked as if recording had stepped back.  He asked whether there 
was an internal team, which should have picked up on this issue, rather than it 
being raised as part of an HMIC inspection.  In response it was confirmed that 
there was an internal team however it was considered that HMIC were applying a 
different stance in this inspection than previously.  

8. The Vice-Chairman asked whether there was anyone in central government 
looking at the information from HMIC, Ms Banks explained that the Police Council 
was looking at it and questioning the legitimacy of the recording.  It was important 
to note that whilst crime was going up commitment to victims had not changed.  

9. RESOLVED that the Kent Community Safety members: 

a. note the changes to the draft action plan which supports delivery of the 
refreshed Community Safety Agreement.  

b. provide feedback on the content and format of the draft action plan via 
email to Shirley Brinson. 

c. note the areas that have been highlighted, by the KCSP Working Group, 
with regards to performance measures and the actions being taken by 
partners to address them.

Page 4



150. Kent Community Safety Partnership Working Group Update 
(Item B2)

1. Ian Thomson, Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) explained that the annual 
community safety conference was due to take place on the 7th November looking 
at working together to protect vulnerable people from organised crime.  A road 
safety workshop had been delivered on 5th June which allowed data analysts to 
get together to use data more effectively to improve services.  This had been a 
useful meeting with immediate improvements such as reinstating road traffic 
fatality reviews and looking at short term information reporting along with long 
term information reporting.  The Kent Community Safety Team had also delivered 
a number of workshops on e-safety and Anti-Social Behaviour   Mr Thomson 
offered thanks to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for providing 
funding to the KCSP of approximately £40k top support community safety 
projects. Funding had been allocated to three bids so far, online safety 
workshops, Licence to Kill presentations and scams Tru-Call devices and to fund 
the integrated approach to gangs training in principle whilst further discussions 
were undertaken. 

2. In response to a query about why the conference had moved to the Clive Emson 
building on Kent County Showground, it had proved to be better value for money 
and could accommodate more people.  

3. The Chairman had been to the launch of Crime Stoppers, and he asked whether it 
was recognised as a valuable tool for Kent police?  It was considered that it did 
provide police with intelligence but it was not always possible to attribute success 
to Crime Stoppers.  Crime Stoppers did receive funding from the OPCC and Kent 
Police.

 
RESOLVED that the Kent Community Safety Partnership note the progress and 
actions undertaken by the Working Group.

151. Mental Health Update 
(Item B3)

1. Mr Phillips attended the KCSP representing the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC).  Mental Health issues were a priority for the PCC, he was the deputy lead 
for a national group of commissioners on mental health.  The PCC had a Mental 
Health and Policing Oversight Board, and had set up street triage teams, with a 
pilot in Thanet.  Funding had also been made available for mental health 
counsellors in the force control room to support callers with mental health issues 
and ensure they were signposted in right direction.  There were concerns around 
police staff and officers who regularly deal with traumatic issues, Kent Police had 
a feel well live well strategy.  The PCC ran a Mental Health and Policing Fund for 
which bids were now closed, this fund had distributed over £100k across the 
county.  The PCC had been pleased with progress but it was not possible to 
tackle this problem without partners.  

2. The Chairman asked who was represented on the Mental Health and Policing 
Oversight Board – this would be confirmed outside of the meeting.  The Group 

Page 5



were pleased that the PCC was so committed to this agenda.  It was considered 
to be critical.

3. Cllr Gulvin explained that Medway Council, with the support of other agencies, 
had been exploring a ‘place of safety’ as an alternative to a police custody suite.  
It was noted that the West Kent CCG was co-chairing a Crisis Care Concordat 
working with Kent Police with a remit to look at places of safety.   Members stated 
that it would be useful to request a report from Crisis Care Concordat and an 
update on what had been achieved.  The Head of Medway Community Safety 
formally thanked the PCC for the contribution to the Community Safety Team 
around this issue.

4. The Chairman confirmed that he was very pleased to see the progress and he 
would like confirmation of the membership of the Mental Health and Policing 
Oversight Board.  The Chairman asked that a mental health update be given to 
the partnership at the next meeting in October.   

RESOLVED that KCSP note the Mental Health Update and request a further update 
at the October meeting.  
 

152. Kent Community Safety Partnership Terms of Reference Update 
(Item B4)

1. The Head of Community Safety explained that as a result of the recent internal 
audit review the team had taken the opportunity to look at the Terms of Reference 
(TOR) of the KCSP and updated to reflect changes to the partnership.  Changes 
included the Domestic Homicide Review process being formally recognised in the 
TOR and management of funding given to the partnership by the PCC.  The 
Membership of the group was made up of the core statutory responsible 
authorities.  In Kent this includes all of the responsible authorities and an invitation 
is also extended to CSP chairs, a number of participating bodies and Medway 
CSP.  Regarding meeting structure, there would be 3 meetings a year as a 
minimum, and the KCSP Working Group would support the work of the KCSP and 
there would also be a DHR steering group.  

2. IT systems around partner agencies were not conducive to issuing restricted 
items so officers would continue to work together to determine the best way of 
issuing restricted papers.  

3. The Chairman was concerned about feedback to districts, however the feeling of 
the group was that there was feedback, that this should be selective and 
attendance from districts should not overwhelm the meeting.    

4. One KCSP Member explained that the Districts Chief Executives had had their 
annual away day last week.  During which they discussed how to ensure that they 
could connect better.  Generally the district’s chief executives did not attend the 
KCSP meetings and requested that the Chair of the Kent Community Safety 
Partnership ask for a nominated representative from the district’s Chief 
Executives.  

Page 6



5. Mr Wilkinson had recently been part of a peer review in Hampshire, connectivity 
was critical because of the many groups which exist in local authority areas.  

6. The Kent Criminal Justice Board was also looking to identify suitable 
representatives from district and borough councils.

7. The Chairman stated that the Members attending KCSP should be of an 
appropriate seniority and be mandated to take appropriate decisions.  

   
RESOLVED that:

a) the KCSP Members approve the content of the revised Terms of Reference for 
the Kent Community Safety Partnership, subject to any changes proposed by 
the Partnership 

b) the Chair of the KCSP write to all current members of the KCSP to formally 
advise them of the refreshed Terms of Reference and to request confirmation 
of their nominated representatives for the KCSP and its sub-groups.

c) all KCSP member organisations shown in the Terms of Reference should 
ensure that they are signed up to the latest version of the Kent and Medway 
Information Sharing Agreement.

d) the KCSP Working Group to review their Terms of Reference in light of the 
changes to the KCSP ToR and will update as appropriate.  

e) An annual review of the KCSP and the KCSP Working Group Terms of 
Reference to be included as an agenda item on both these groups at least 
once a year.  

153. New Policing Model Update 
(Item B5)

1. Ms Banks, Kent Police, gave the KCSP a presentation on the New Horizon 
Change Programme. 

2. Kent Police had identified strands of vulnerability; the public protection team 
which was currently centrally managed would be managed locally with new 
teams: vulnerable child neglect/cruelty; vulnerable adult harassment and domestic 
abuse standard risk.  

3. The team had looked at DHR and case reviews to understand failings to bridge 
gaps and ensure a more cohesive resource.  

4. Referring to the Criminal Investigation Department: part of which was the missing 
and child exploitation team, determined that the link between Looked After 
Children and missing children was so significant that the teams were combined to 
give comprehensive division, in east Kent 24 officers dedicated to looking for 
missing children, 12 Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) and 12 
uniformed officers.  Headed up by Detective Inspector, this was receiving national 
attention.  

5. Specialist PCSOs – Kent had increased levels to 300 and there would be 90 
specialist PCSOs, working in communities and identifying those in need of care 
and support. This was to ensure cross agency support. Domestic Abuse Single 
Point of Contact individuals would attend one stop shops.

Page 7



6. The purpose of the New Horizon Change Programme was to put vulnerability at 
the heart of policing.  

7. The Chairman stated that he understood the need for specialist PCSOs.  He 
asked whether the PCSOs in neighbourhoods would be retained, and Ms Banks 
explained that Kent Police were retaining 210 PCSOs.  Profiling had been 
undertaken to assess how many PCSOs each district should have to respond to 
incidents, ASB and problem solving issues within communities.   Ensure 
consistently engagement with community which are more vulnerable.  It was 
considered that PCSOs were successful but only if they were left in place.  

8. One Member considered that local uniformed officers were moved around too 
often.  To be effective PCSOs needed to be familiar with areas.  Mr Cook 
commented that the PCSO was one element the Force had introduced to tackle 
issues affecting local communities and there was still a commitment to 
neighbourhood policing.  As the Force had to match resourcing to available 
funding it was necessary to deploy staff in line with threat, risk and harm which 
meant moving staff, however delivering a quality service and focussing on 
vulnerability remained the priority of the force.

RESOLVED that the KCSP thank Emma Banks for the update on the New Policing 
Model – New Horizon Change Programme.   

154. Road Safety Update 
(Item B6)

1. Ian Thomson, KFRS gave Members an update on Road Safety.  The Kent and 
Medway Road Casualty Reduction Board coordinated activity in relation to that 
area.  This Board was chaired by Tim Read (KCC) and included elected members 
and senior officers from Kent and Medway, Kent Police, KFRS, Highways 
England and PCC.  There was also a Delivery Group chaired by Mark Rist 
(KFRS), coordinating activity to ensure delivering real impact in relation to road 
safety.  

2. The Kent and Medway Road Casualty Reduction Board was following the Police 
Chiefs Council Road Safety Calendar for awareness campaigns. August: speed 
and national motorcycle week led by Kent Police and supported by partners.  
September: seatbelts and commercial goods vehicles, led by KCC, supported by 
Kent Police and KFRS and in October:  trucks, buses and traffic information 
system for the police, a European body would be looking at improving road safety.

3. At the March meeting the Kent and Medway Road Casualty Reduction Board 
commissioned a Task and Finish Group to investigate the progress and identified 
four key areas: 1. Governance – there were a number of groups delivering road 
safety across Kent and Medway, the Board would act as coordinator for that 
activity; 2. Data – concern around speed of data provided to change action; 3. 
Funding – ensuring effective use of funding; 4. Resourcing, multi hatted officers 
delivering road safety. 

4. Mr Thomson would report back to Cllr Knight following his query about West 
Midlands police cyclists.  

Page 8



5. The Chairman asked whether the board engaged with the public?  Mr Thomson 
explained that there was a strong desire to communicate effectively with the 
public.  Kent Association of Local Councils was another layer of communication.  
KFRS was driving a pledge, for example not getting distracted by mobile phones, 
use of seatbelts etc. which had over 600 members of public signed up at Kent 
County Show.  

RESOLVED that the KCSP thank Mr Thomson for the Road Safety update.  

155. Kent Drug and Alcohol Strategy Update 
(Item B7)

1. Ms Mookherjee explained that the KCSP had seen the Kent Drug and Alcohol 
Strategy in draft; this was now the completed strategy which had been signed off 
by the relevant cabinet member and had come back to the KCSP for final 
endorsement Ms Mookherjee thanked partners as this was a joint partnership 
strategy.  

2. The Kent Drug and Alcohol Action Team Board will be having an extraordinary 
meeting to develop a robust action plan to engage all partners.

 
3. The National Drug Strategy had been published and this reflected the local 

strategy.  

4. 70% of people who have drug and alcohol problems also have mental health 
problems and this is probably understated. It was considered that mental health 
services should be integrated in the treatment of vulnerable people for example, 
those who are homeless.  

5. The Chairman thanked Ms Mookerjee for her offer to bring the action plan back to 
KCSP.

6. The Chairman asked whether it was necessary to have a relaunch of the Kent 
Community Alcohol Partnerships (KCAP), this was considered to be a good idea; 
there was a reference to KCAP in the Community Safety Agreement Action Plan. 
Cllr Gulvin advised that Medway are identifying substance misuse hotspots for 
licensing work and is happy to share this with the partnership. 

RESOLVED that Members of the KCSP note the update on the new Drug and 
Alcohol Strategy and that a full delivery plan will be available in August 2017.  

156. Date of next meeting 
(Item C1)

RESOLVED that Members note the date of the next meeting.

157. PREVENT and Counter Terrorism Update 
(Item D2)

1. Mr Wilkinson updated members on the current threat status of Counter Terrorism 
including Channel referrals, threat levels and learning from recent attacks. 

Page 9



2. Mrs Gaffney provided members with details of how Emergency Planning 
responded to the recent attacks, even those that were not local. 

RESOLVED that Members note the PREVENT and Counter Terrorism Update.

158. Response to recent events discussion 
(Item D3)

1. Discussions between members regarding the recent events both from the 
emergency services but also from an emergency planning perspective. 

2. A copy of the Emergency Planning presentation is available online via this link.

RESOLVED that KCSP Members note the response to recent events and request a 
report back to the KCSP at an appropriate time.

159. Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) Update 
(Item D4)

1. Mr Peerbux (Head of Community Safety, KCC) updated Members on the status of 
all the active Kent and Medway DHR cases, an update from the DHR Steering 
Group, changes to the DHR protocols and procedures and sought agreement 
from the partnership on the updated Terms of Reference for the Steering Group. 

RESOLVED that the KCSP:

a. agree and approve the updated DHR Steering Group ToR
b. note the progress made on the DHR Cases
c. note the Kent and Medway DHR Protocols and Procedures have been 

updated to ensure adherence to the new statutory guidance issued by the 
Home Office and have been agreed by the Steering Group

d. note the DHR Seminars being planned for later this year/early next year.   
 

160. Domestic Homicide Review Briefing for Elizabeth/2015 
(Item D5)

RESOLVED that the KCSP note the Domestic Homicide Review Briefing for 
Elizabeth/2015.  

Page 10

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/b18254/Kent%20County%20Council%20Resilience%20and%20Emergency%20Planning%2019th-Jul-2017%2010.00%20Kent%20Community%20Safety%20Pa.pdf?T=9


By: Shafick Peerbux - Head of Community Safety, KCC

To: Kent Community Safety Partnership – 11th October 2017

Classification: For Information

Subject: Kent Community Safety Agreement Update

Summary This report includes details of progress with regards the Kent Community 
Safety Agreement action plan and the upcoming strategic assessments

1.0 Background

1.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 gave statutory responsibility to local authorities 
(KCC/District/Boroughs), Kent Police and key partners to reduce crime and disorder 
in their communities.  Under this legislation Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (now Community Safety Partnerships) were required to carry out 3 
yearly audits and to implement crime reduction strategies.  A formal review of the 
1998 Act took place in 2006, with the result that three year audits were replaced with 
annual partnership strategic assessments and rolling partnership plans, whilst in two 
tier authority areas a statutory County Community Safety Agreement was introduced.

2.0 Introduction

2.1 The Kent Community Safety Agreement (CSA) outlines the key community safety 
priorities for the county along with the cross-cutting themes that support the identified 
priorities.  The current version of the CSA received approval from the KCSP members 
at their meeting in March 2017 with the new priorities and cross-cutting themes taking 
effect from April 2017:

Priorities Cross Cutting Themes
 Anti-Social Behaviour
 Domestic Abuse
 Substance Misuse
 Safeguarding Vulnerable People
 Serious and Organised Crime
 Road Safety   

 Early intervention, prevention & education
 Reducing re-offending and supporting 

victims
 Improving quality of life and enhancing 

community resilience

2.2 The partnership also agreed that the CSA should become a rolling document rather 
than covering a set three-year period as previously.  Although the Agreement will 
continue to be reviewed and refreshed annually only the relevant Chapters and 
appendices within the document will be updated as required.

3.0 Action Plan and Performance Monitoring

3.1 At the last meeting of the KCSP, members were asked to review and approve the 
refreshed action plan which supports delivery of the CSA priorities.  Following the 
agreement of the plan the KCSP Working Group is monitoring the activities identified 
and reviewed the latest updates at their meeting in September 2017.

Page 11

Agenda Item B1



3.2 At this early stage only two of the actions from the plan have been completed - the 
series of anti-social behaviour workshops arranged by the Kent Community Safety 
Team which began in 2016/17; and the Road Safety data workshop which took place 
in June.  The outcomes from these workshops were referenced at the last KCSP 
meeting.  

3.3 Other ongoing actions that partners are involved in delivering include Domestic 
Homicide Reviews, Awareness Weeks (Adult Safeguarding in October, Domestic 
Violence in November, Child Sexual Exploitation in March), intel based operations, 
information sharing, the annual Conference and a variety of projects that received 
funding from the KCSP / Police and Crime Commissioner.  Greater detail relating to 
many of these activities will be covered within other reports that will be presented at 
the meeting.

3.4 In addition to monitoring the action plan the KCSP Working Group also monitors a 
set of performance indicators chosen to represent the key priorities.  At this stage, 
there are no unexpected results with regards the proxy indicators; however the 
partnership is asked to note that the focus areas of domestic abuse and road safety, 
as previously reported continue to be monitored.

3.5 The issue of total recorded crime as well as the data integrity of crime recording was 
covered in detail at the last KCSP meeting. It was reported that whilst recorded crime 
had seen a rise, this was largely due to changes in recording practices rather than an 
increase in crime being committed. This change had also impacted on crime data 
integrity and following an HMIC inspection a significant programme of activity was 
put in place including a new comprehensive training package for officers and staff 
responsible for recording crime and a change in the way those decisions are 
scrutinised by supervisors.

4.0 Strategic Assessments

4.1 The Kent Community Safety Team (KCST) has begun work on the annual strategic 
assessment process.  The team is currently working with statutory partners to source 
and collate data for use by the district Community Safety Partnership’s (CSPs) in 
their strategic assessments to help identify key community safety issues.  This data 
and the outcomes from the local assessments will help inform the annual review of 
the CSA priorities.  

4.2 The time frame for the strategic assessment process is as follows:
 September/October, Data requested by the KCST for the most recent 

year data available and previous 2 years (or whatever is available).
 End of October – Mid November, Data submissions received.
 Mid November – January, Strategic Assessments undertaken by 

districts. 
 January/February, Draft local CSP priorities shared with the KCST to 

contribute to the CSA review and refresh. 
 March/April, Strategic Assessment signed off by the district Community 

Safety Partnership.

4.3 The KCST will also be revisiting the use of the MoRiLE risk assessment matrix 
(Management of Risk in Law Enforcement) which was trialled last year to help 

Page 12



identify the priorities for the CSA along with the PESTELO analysis undertaken by 
the KCSP Working Group to identify existing or emerging issues and opportunities.

4.4 It should be noted that discussions have been taking place between community 
safety partners across the county with regards options for streamlining the strategic 
assessment process in light of the limited resources available to undertake analysis.  
Any progress in relation to these discussions will be shared with the KCSP at a 
future date.

4.5 The outcome of the next strategic assessment process and the review of the CSA 
priorities and cross-cutting themes will be presented at the next KCSP meeting in 
2018.

5.0 Next Steps

5.1 Continued monitoring of the Community Safety Agreement (CSA) Action Plan and 
Performance Measures, as well as ongoing assessment and identification of any 
emerging issues.

5.2 Collation of data for the annual strategic assessment process and review of the CSA 
priorities and cross-cutting themes. 

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 The KCSP is asked to note the progress with regard the current Community Safety 
Agreement.

For Further Information:
Shirley Brinson
KCC Community Safety Team Leader
shirley.brinson@kent.gov.uk

Shafick Peerbux
KCC Head of Community Safety
shafick.peerbux@kent.gov.uk

Page 13

mailto:shirley.brinson@kent.gov.uk
mailto:shafick.peerbux@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



By: Ian Thomson - Chair of the KCSP Working Group 
Shafick Peerbux - Head of Community Safety, KCC 

To: Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP) – 11th October 2017

Classification: For Information

Subject: Kent Community Safety Partnership Working Group Update

Summary This report provides an update on the key activities and projects being 
managed on behalf of the Kent Community Safety Partnership by the Working 
Group.

1.0   Background / Introduction

1.1 The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 gave statutory responsibility to local authorities, 
the police, and key partners to reduce crime and disorder in their communities. 
Under this legislation the responsible authorities were required to form multi-agency 
‘Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships’ to undertake this activity.  Subsequent 
revisions introduced additional responsibilities to tackle anti-social behaviour, 
substance misuse and reduce reoffending and the partnerships were renamed 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs). 

1.2 The Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP) operates at a County level with the 
overarching purpose to manage the Kent Community Safety Agreement (CSA) on 
behalf of the responsible authorities in Kent and to deliver safer and stronger 
communities.  The KCSP is supported by a multi-agency working group which has a 
particular remit to prepare and monitor the Community Safety Agreement including 
the action plan and performance reports, as well as managing the Kent Community 
Safety fund on behalf of the governing group. 

 
2.0     KCSP Working Group Terms of Reference Update

2.1 Following the last KCSP meeting in July, the KCSP Working Group Terms of 
Reference (ToR) have been amended to reflect the changes made to the KCSP ToR 
particularly around the responsibilities and membership. 

2.2 The updated KCSP Working Group ToR were included within the letters that the 
Chair of the KCSP sent to all members of the KCSP to formally advise them of the 
refreshed KCSP Terms of Reference and which requested confirmation of their 
nominated representatives for the KCSP and its sub-groups.

2.3 A number of suggestions were received regarding the KCSP Working Group ToR 
(see Appendix 1) and where appropriate, these have been incorporated.   In the case 
of those that represent a collective group or number of authorities/bodies, it will be the 

Page 15

Agenda Item B2



responsibility of the nominated representative(s) to obtain approval from each of the 
individual authorities or bodies they represent in order to be able to make decisions, 
implement change and commit resources on behalf of the group.

3.0 Annual Community Safety Conference

3.1 The KCSP has delivered an annual Community Safety Conference for the benefit of 
partners across the county for a number of years with a different focus each year.

3.2 A Conference sub group of the working group involving members from the Police, 
Fire and Rescue Service, Kent County Council, Public Health, Medway Council and 
Kent Surrey and Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company was established to 
organise and deliver the 2017 event supported by the joint Kent Community Safety 
Team (KCST).  

3.3 This year’s Community Safety Conference has the theme of ‘Protecting Vulnerable 
People from Organised Crime’ and is being held on Tuesday 7th November 2017 at 
the Clive Emson Building, Detling Showground between 9:30am and 4pm; with the 
opportunity for up to 230 delegates to attend.

3.4 The day will be interesting and informative with talks on specific topics delivered by a 
range of key note speakers looking at the impact of organised crime groups on 
vulnerable people.  The day will also include case studies and roundtable 
discussions/interactive exercises to look at how partners can organise themselves to 
deal with these issues. More information is available from the Kent Community Safety 
Team.

4.0 KCSP Grant Update

4.1 The Kent Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) has allocated £39,661 to the KCSP 
for 2017/18 to fund pan Kent projects focussing on the priorities identified in the 
Community Safety Agreement and the Police and Crime Plan.   Similar funding has 
also been provided by the PCC to all Community Safety Partnerships across Kent 
and Medway to help deliver projects in support of local priorities. 

 
4.2 Following the internal audit and first half bid application process, the Kent 

Community Safety Team (KCST) amended the bid application forms to include 
questions around value for money and sustainability of the project.   

4.3 The bid application for the second half of the funding closed on Wednesday 23rd 
August. The KCSP Working Group reviewed all bid applications and agreed in 
principle, subject to further reassurances, to recommend funding the following 
projects:  

 Promoting Alternative Thinking Strategies (PATHS) - £9,800
The project focuses on adolescents who have lived with domestic abuse and are 
already showing signs of disengaging in their communities and/or have unhealthy 
relationships with their peers/families. 

Page 16



 Scam Awareness for All - £8000
A six month countywide, online and offline Scam Awareness Campaign including 
a targeted digital marketing campaign that aims to reach a minimum 400,000 
residents. 

4.4 These recommendations will be sent to the Chair of the KCSP for approval once the 
necessary assurances have been provided by the applicants.  As part of this 
process, the bids have been discussed with the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner to ensure duplicate funding has not been awarded.

           
4.5      Some updates on the funding provided from the first half include: 

 Online Safety Awareness Sessions – The four sessions are going to take place 
between January – March 2018 with dates and venues to be confirmed.

 License to Kill – Dates are scheduled from November onwards to deliver this 
project.

 Scams True Call Devices - Training for Community Wardens is booked for the 
9th October to coincide with Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week.  There have 
been 32 devices purchased, 2 of which have been placed in suitably identified 
homes.

 Integrated Approach to Gangs (7 workshops) -   Training for professionals who 
work with young people linked to gangs to develop their knowledge and skills in 
this area. Further discussions were had which amended this project.  There are 
now two parties delivering the training at a significantly reduced cost whilst still 
meeting the project aims and objectives.   Work is currently underway to confirm 
venues and dates for delivery of the training, estimated to start in November 
2017.

4.6 In 2016/17, the KCSP funded some research on Mental Health and the report is a 
very comprehensive analysis of the Section 136 incidents which were recorded in the 
Kent Integrated Dataset (KID). While not all incidents are recorded on the KID, the 
analysis covers 1091 separate Section 136 incidents involving 821 people.  The 
analysis provided a detailed picture of the Section 136 cohort, for instance, it shows 
that while 57% of section 136 incidents involve men, those individuals with multiple 
incidents are more likely to be women. Another interesting statistic is that only 21% 
of individuals involved in a section 136 are currently flagged as having a serious 
mental illness by their GP. There are also sections on substance misuse and living 
arrangements.  The report has been discussed by Public Health colleagues and has 
shaped conversations with Kent and Medway NHS and Social Care Partnership 
Trust (KMPT) about the way in which they report incidents. It is expected that it will 
also be presented to multi-agency partners at a Crisis Care Concordat meeting in the 
near future. The full report is available upon request from KCC Public Health.

5.0 Kent Community Safety Team 

5.1 The joint Kent Community Safety Team (KCST) helps to support the work of the 
KCSP, the KCSP Working Group and a variety of multi-agency projects. It consists of 
Kent Police, Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS) and Kent County Council (KCC) 
staff.

Page 17



    
5.2 As part of the KCST’s role in sharing good practice and facilitating joint working, 

members of the KCST are in the process of developing the Safer Communities 
Portal and a Kent Community Safety Newsletter. 

5.2.1 The Safer Communities Portal has been migrated onto a SharePoint platform 
which will provide much more opportunities for developments in the future 
particularly around the use of calendars for listing campaigns, training and 
upcoming events.  KCST Officers have received training on its functions and are 
currently reviewing and updating the existing content and layout to be more user 
friendly and aesthetically pleasing.

5.2.2   The first edition of the Kent Community Safety Newsletter was produced by the 
team in July and included articles on Mental Health Team, Scams, Safer Care 
Service, Op Sceptre (knife crime) and others. The next edition is due out in 
October and the team are currently liaising with partners for suitable articles for 
inclusion to highlight and promote community safety work across the county. To 
subscribe to the newsletter, please contact the KCST via email at 
communitysafetyunit@kent.gov.uk. 

5.3 The team are currently coordinating and delivering a number of events in 2017/18 
including the annual community safety conference in November, three Domestic 
Homicide Review (DHR) lessons learnt seminars in October, November and another 
planned for early 2018, four online safeguarding awareness sessions that will be 
held between January to March 2018 and a further Community Safety Information 
Session (CSIS) for January 2018 to share community safety information with partner 
agencies from across Kent and Medway.

6.0 Recommendations

6.1 The KCSP is asked to note the progress and actions undertaken by the Working 
Group.

6.2 The KCSP is asked to approve the updated KCSP Working Group Terms of 
Reference. 

Attachments:
Appendix 1 – KCSP Working Group Terms of Reference

For Further Information:
Ian Thomson
KFRS, Assistant Director, Community Safety
ian.thomson@kent.fire-uk.org  

Shafick Peerbux
KCC, Head of Community Safety
shafick.peerbux@kent.gov.uk  

Page 18

mailto:communitysafetyunit@kent.gov.uk
mailto:ian.thomson@kent.fire-uk.org
mailto:shafick.peerbux@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1

KENT COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP WORKING GROUP

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

1. TITLE

The group will be known as the Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP) Working 
Group.

2. OVERARCHING PURPOSE 

To support the work of the Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP), in particular by

(i)  Managing the Kent Community Safety fund on behalf of the KCSP.

(ii) Preparing and monitoring the Kent Community Safety Agreement and managing the 
review process.

3. RESPONSIBILITIES 

On behalf of the Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP) to:
 Develop and produce the County Community Safety Agreement (CSA) on behalf of 

the KCSP based on the annual strategic assessments and to include the 
undertaking of an annual review and refresh (if required).

 Develop and performance manage the CSA Action Plan  to coordinate community 
safety activity and monitor the performance measures that are in place; ensuring 
that remedial action is taken regarding areas of concern and that any exceptions 
are raised with the KCSP. 

 Maximise co-ordination and co-operation at an operational level between partners 
with the aim of tackling the community safety issues identified within the County 
Community Safety Agreement

 Facilitate delivery of the annual Community Safety conference on behalf of the 
KCSP.

 Provide support, guidance and sharing of information to ensure delivery of the 
annual Strategic Assessment process.

 Ensure robust financial monitoring and budget arrangements are in place to 
support and manage the available funding streams.

 Advise the KCSP on any emerging national, local or pan Kent issues, policies and 
priorities; with any appropriate recommendations for solutions and most effective 
use of available resources. 

 Liaise and coordinate with other statutory bodies (e.g. Medway CSP) and external 
bodies (e.g. Home Office) to disseminate best practice and develop guidance.

4. MEMBERSHIP

Membership shall consist of senior officer representatives appointed by the responsible 
authorities for the County area, namely:

 Kent Police
 Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner (OPCC)
 Kent Fire and Rescue Service (KFRS)

Page 19



 KCC – Currently represented by officers from Community Safety, Public Health, 
Trading Standards and Highways. 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) – Currently collectively represented by 
West Kent CCG.

 Kent, Surrey & Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC)
 Local District/Borough Authorities – Currently collectively represented by two 

nominated Community Safety Managers. 
 National Probation Service (NPS)

The KCSP Working Group may also be attended by other person/bodies for specific 
agenda items as required.

5. RESPONSIBILITY OF MEMBERS

All representatives must have sufficient seniority within their own organisations to be able 
to make decisions, implement change and commit resources  on behalf of the body or 
group which they represent. In the case of those that have been nominated to represent a 
collective group or number of authorities/bodies, it will be their responsibility to obtain 
approval from each of the individual authorities or bodies they represent. Substitute 
members are assumed to have that capability delegated to them.

All members should be able to commit  to regular attendance and represent their 
organisation effectively.

All members have the responsibility for sharing relevant information and/or feedback to 
their respective agencies, collective group and/or any authorities/bodies they have been 
nominated to represent.

6. CHAIR PERSON

The Chair and Vice Chair are revised every two years and elected from amongst the 
members. 

7. MEETINGS  

The group will meet quarterly, or as required, ensuring that meetings take place prior to 
the KCSP to help inform the agenda for the KCSP meeting  including any emerging issues 
or themes that need to be escalated.

  
A meeting will be regarded as quorate if no less than four of the responsible authorities 
are represented.

8. DECISION MAKING  

The group will use its best endeavours at all times to make decisions by consensus.

Decisions will be recorded in the minutes, with actions being reviewed at subsequent 
meetings.

9. COMMUNICATION  

All KCSP member organisations are required to be signed up to the Kent and Medway 
Information Sharing Agreement and abide by its principles. 

Page 20



By: Abbie Gardner – Senior Probation Officer and Accommodation 
Lead, National Probation Service, Kent 

To: Kent Community Safety Partnership (KCSP) – 11th October 2017

Classification: For Information

Subject: Housing and Homelessness Paper

Summary This paper summarises the scale and scope of the strategic and systemic 
housing and homelessness issues facing Criminal Justice System (CJS) 
service users in Kent.

The challenge of addressing these issues cannot be met by CJS services 
alone, it is vital to have local engagement, leadership and commitment from a 
wide range of stakeholders, including Local Housing Authorities, housing 
providers and all other agencies with a responsibility for reducing re-offending. 

Data, views, concerns, ideas and suggestions have been sought from Kent 
CJS and housing agencies. This paper outlines potential solutions, both 
nationally and locally, and proposes suggestions for a multi-agency action 
plan to tackle the difficulties faced by our Kent CJS service users in trying to 
secure and maintain appropriate and safe accommodation.  

1.0   Background / Introduction

1.1 Securing and maintaining appropriate accommodation has long been one of the 
most significant challenges to many individuals with criminal convictions and to those 
professionals, both statutory and non-statutory, working with them. 

1.2 A number of multi-agency groups have sought to explore and address the issues 
with many examples of good practice across Kent and Medway. National measures 
have also been implemented in order to try and address the issues, e.g. The 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. Nevertheless, accommodation remains a key 
challenge to successfully reducing re-offending and therefore the Kent and Medway 
Reducing Re-offending Board requested a paper to identify the scale and scope of 
the strategic and systemic housing and homelessness issues that impact upon CJS 
service users in Kent. This was approached through multi-agency qualitative and 
quantitative data analysis to identify and explore the issues. The paper includes key 
themes and potential solutions for consideration. 

1.3 The objective of this paper is to propose realistic and achievable actions for multi-
agency support and implementation to assist those who have committed offences, 
and the professionals working with them, to secure and maintain appropriate 
accommodation.  

Page 21

Agenda Item B3



2.0     Scale

2.1 National: Headline figures claim homelessness in the UK went up by 16% in 2016, 
with 57,740 households accepted as homeless in England, 28,226 in Scotland and 
7,128 in Wales. Rough sleeping increased from 3,569 in 2015 to 4,134 in 2016. 

15% of the prison population were homeless before entering custody. 

5,423 people left prison without accommodation who needed supported 
accommodation in 2015.

2.2 Kent: 3,259 people were recorded as homeless in Kent in December 2016, of which 
5.7% (186) were sleeping rough.

Ashford, Dover, Maidstone & Medway all have higher homelessness than the 
national average.  

Medway have the highest number of homeless people, Canterbury have the highest 
number of recorded rough sleepers and Dartford is ranked by Shelter as most 
problematic in the county.

2.3 Kent County Council: Received 1,092 applications for housing assistance during 
July-September 2016. 29% (320) were accepted as homeless and in priority need, 
38% (415) were found not to be homeless, 21% (229) were not in priority need, 6% 
(66) were found to be intentionally homeless.

2.4 National Probation Service, Kent LDU: 24.8% (315) service users in the 
community were in unsettled accommodation, of which 6.4% (81) were of No Fixed 
Abode. 

Of these 41% had accommodation as an identified need, in 29% of cases 
accommodation was linked with risk of serious harm and in 36.5% of cases 
accommodation was linked with offending behaviour.

2.5 Kent Surrey Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (Kent): 19.7% (891) 
service users in the community were in unsettled accommodation, of which 8.2% 
(368) were of No Fixed Abode.    

3.0 Scope

3.1 The full Housing and Homelessness paper explores the scope of strategic and 
systemic housing and homelessness issues for Kent CJS service users covering the 
following:

 Housing and Land Markets: Not enough Local Housing Authorities planning for the 
homes they need, house building being too slow, a construction industry too reliant 
on a few big players. 

Page 22



 National Characteristics of Homelessness: The main causes of homelessness in 
the UK are the end of an assured short hold tenancy, parents or friends no longer 
able or willing to provide accommodation or relationship breakdown.

 Local Housing Authorities: CJS service users deemed too high risk, low priority, 
no local connection or intentionally homeless. Reduced or removed housing stock, 
reliance on Housing Associations and a shortage of accommodation for all. London 
Borough placements, conflicting priority groups and the ‘last minute’ nature of CJS 
need.

 The Benefit System: The benefits cap, issues for <35s and Universal Credit.

 Private Renting: Cost, availability, willingness of landlords, accessibility.

 Supported Housing: Funding, sustainability, long waiting lists, some service users 
too high risk.

 Resources: Funding, access and inconsistency. 

 Through the Gate: Funding model, access and outcomes. 

 Approved Premises: Role, myths and bed shortages. 

 Service User Issues: Motivation, honesty, skill and experience to manage a 
tenancy and chaotic lifestyles. Specific issues for young people and for the ageing 
offender population, impact on family and friends, cuckooing and expectations of 
Probation Services.

4.0 Solutions

4.1 The full Housing and Homelessness paper outlines potential solutions to the 
strategic and systemic barriers identified, including:

 The Homelessness Reduction Act: Local Housing Authorities must provide or 
secure the provision of a homelessness service and the service must be designed to 
meet the needs of persons in the district including the needs of persons released 
from prison or youth detention.

 The White Paper, ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’: We need to plan for the 
right homes in the right places, build homes faster, diversify the housing market and 
help people now.

 The Benefit System: Actual rents and eligible service charges for supported and 
sheltered housing should be funded via Universal Credit or Pension Credit.

 Converted Shipping Container Accommodation: Seek creative and achievable 
cost effective alternatives to affordable sustainable housing. 

Page 23



 Social Impact Bonds: For example, the East Kent Entrenched Rough Sleeper 
Social Impact Bond, a jointly commissioned entrenched rough sleeper programme 
which aims to improve outcomes for entrenched rough sleepers who have spent a 
lengthy spell in the homelessness system through Housing First principles.

 Housing First Principles: People have a right to a home, flexible support is 
provided for as long as it is needed, housing and support are separated, individuals 
have choice and control, based on people’s strengths, goals and aspirations and an 
active engagement and harm reduction approach is used.

 Holistic Approach: Robust and collaborative multi-agency assessment, planning, 
intervention and support taking into account the circumstances and views of the 
individual.

 Joint Strategic Needs Assessments: Local Housing Authorities and Clinical 
Commissioning Groups have equal and joint duties to prepare JSNAs through Health 
and Wellbeing Boards. The Local Authority Housing Lead should be represented on 
the Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure the housing needs of the community are 
identified.

 Making Every Adult Matter: Utilising a partnership of voluntary and statutory 
agencies to design an effective, coordinated and flexible response for people with 
multiple and complex needs.

 Communication and Training: The creation of a joint accommodation strategy, 
developed in partnership with the MoJ, DCLG and the DWP and the local 
development and implementation of a multi-agency Kent accommodation 
communication and training strategy.

 Prison Interventions: Highlighting the importance of timely release plans, 
assessment for suitability and prompt referrals to resettlement services. A ‘departure 
lounge’ model providing opportunity for families and agencies to meet service users 
immediately after release. 

 Prison Estates: The suggestion for prison land in London to remain in public 
ownership and to be redeveloped into genuinely affordable homes.

 Tenancy Sustainment Programme: Tenancy sustainment programmes to be 
reviewed for suitability, re-rolled and promoted both in custody and in the community. 

 Subsidised Tenancies: A co-commissioned agreement with an accommodation 
provider who would provide tenancy and additional wraparound support for specific 
CJS service user groups, e.g. Integrated Offender Management (IOM).

 Local Authority Housing Policy Review: Stop excluding CJS service users on the 
basis of intentional homelessness due to convictions, consider accepting high or 

Page 24



medium risk individuals with a robust Risk Management Plan. Develop strong 
strategic and operational links between CJS agencies and Local Authorities.

 Supported Housing: Full and timely communication regarding changes to the 
funding for supported housing and how this is likely to impact providers, clients and 
partners. Recommendations of leading charities to be incorporated into national 
changes. 

 Psychologically Informed and Planned Environments: Housing providers to 
consider the PIPE approach to supporting people out of homelessness, in particular 
those who have experienced complex trauma or are diagnosed with a personality 
disorder.

 Utilise/expand existing services: E.g. BASS and NACRO.

 Service User Collaboration: Services benefit from the insights of experts by 
experience. A collaborative approach with CJS service users should be considered 
throughout the formation and delivery of the multi-agency housing and 
homelessness action plan.  

5.0 Recommendations 

5.1 The following are proposed multi-agency actions for consideration and exploration:

1. Explore funding possibilities for accommodation access for CJS service users:

a. CRC to fund bed spaces and sell through the Rate Card 
b. NPS to fund bed spaces through staffing underspend
c. Co-commissioning arrangement between two or more RRB agencies
d. Develop a CJS private rental sector access scheme
e. Develop a CJS service user rent deposit scheme
f. Purchase and management of converted shipping container accommodation

2. Monitor recommendations for a cross-departmental government accommodation 
strategy and communicate/implement as necessary

3. Ensure compliance with existing agency accommodation strategies and 
communicate/implement as necessary

4. Consider a review and refresh of the Kent Offender Accommodation Strategy and 
communicate/implement as necessary

5. Each Kent Local Authority to develop and implement a multi-agency housing strategy

6. Consider adopting the Making Every Adult Matter Approach where not already in 
place

Page 25



7. Consider adopting the Housing First Approach where not already in place

8. Develop and implement a multi-agency housing and homelessness communication 
strategy to improve knowledge and understanding of agencies role and remit in 
relation to accommodation and associated matters

9. Develop and deliver multi-agency housing and homelessness training to frontline 
staff

10.Develop and maintain a multi-agency housing and homelessness repository of 
information, resources, referral forms, processes, pathways, training packs and best 
practice

11.Review existing Tenancy Sustainment and Good Neighbour Programmes for 
suitability, re-roll and promote

12.Kent Prisons to explore the ‘departure lounge’ model highlighted as good practice at 
HMP Durham and, if possible, roll out in establishments.

13.Explore attendance of the Local Authority Housing Leads at Health and Wellbeing 
Boards (if not already in place) 

14.Explore options for a multi-agency scheme to identify empty Local Authority 
properties, or others available through purchase or let, set up a programme of ETE 
development to be delivered in the properties developing skills in property 
maintenance with the longer term plan to let to CJS users  

15.Ensure that developments in DCLG Supported Housing strategy are shared with all 
RRB members in a timely fashion

16.To consider collaboration with service users in the consideration and delivery of the 
proposed multi-agency housing and homelessness actions 

For Further Information:

Abbie Gardner
Senior Probation Officer, National Probation Service 
abbie.gardner@probation.gsi.gov.uk

Page 26

mailto:abbie.gardner@probation.gsi.gov.uk


1

HOUSING & 
HOMELESSNESS

National Probation Service

Kent Local Delivery Unit

Appendix 1

Page 27



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 2

HOUSING & HOMELESSNESS
FOR CJS SERVICE USERS IN KENT 

Executive Summary

This paper explores the scale and scope of the strategic and systemic housing and homelessness 
issues facing Criminal Justice System (CJS) service users in Kent.

The challenge of addressing these issues cannot be met by CJS services alone, it is vital to have 
local engagement, leadership and commitment from a wide range of stakeholders, including Local 
Housing Authorities, housing providers and all other Reducing Re-offending Board agencies. 

Data, views, concerns, ideas and suggestions have been sought from Kent CJS and housing 
agencies. This paper outlines potential solutions, both nationally and locally, and proposes 
suggestions for a multi-agency action plan to tackle the difficulties faced by our Kent CJS service 
users in trying to secure and maintain appropriate and safe accommodation.  

Scale

National: Headline figures claim homelessness in the UK went up by 16% in 2016, with 57,740 
households accepted as homeless in England, 28,226 in Scotland and 7,128 in Wales. 

Rough sleeping increased from 3,569 in 2015 to 4,134 in 2016. 

15% of the prison population were homeless before custody. 

5,423 people left prison without accommodation who needed supported accommodation in 2015.

Kent: 3,259 people were recorded as homeless in Kent in December 2016, of which 5.7% (186) 
were sleeping rough.

Ashford, Dover, Maidstone & Medway all have higher homelessness than the national average.  
Medway have the highest number of homeless people, Canterbury have the highest number of 
recorded rough sleepers and Dartford is ranked by Shelter as most problematic in the county.

Kent County Council: Received 1,092 applications for housing assistance during July-September 
2016. 29% (320) were accepted as homeless and in priority need, 38% (415) were found not to be 
homeless, 21% (229) were not in priority need, 6% (66) were found to be intentionally homeless.

National Probation Service, Kent LDU: 24.8% (315) service users in the community were in 
unsettled accommodation, of which 6.4% (81) were of No Fixed Abode. 

Of these 41% had accommodation as an identified need, in 29% of cases accommodation was 
linked with risk of serious harm and in 36.5% of cases accommodation was linked with offending 
behaviour.

Kent Surrey Sussex Community Rehabilitation Company (Kent): 19.7% (891) service users in 
the community were in unsettled accommodation, of which 8.2% (368) were of No Fixed Abode.    

Page 28



3

Scope

This paper explores the scope of strategic and systemic housing and homelessness issues for 
Kent CJS service users covering the following:
 
Housing and Land Markets: Not enough Local Housing Authorities planning for the homes they 
need, house building being too slow, a construction industry too reliant on a few big players. 

National Characteristics of Homelessness: The main causes of homelessness in the UK are the 
end of an assured short hold tenancy, parents or friends no longer able or willing to provide 
accommodation or relationship breakdown.

Local Housing Authorities: CJS service users deemed too high risk, low priority, no local 
connection or intentionally homeless. Reduced or removed housing stock, reliance on Housing 
Associations and a shortage of accommodation for all. London Borough placements, conflicting 
priority groups and the ‘last minute’ nature of CJS need.

The Benefit System: The benefits cap, issues for <35s and Universal Credit.

Private Renting: Cost, availability, willingness of landlords, accessibility.

Supported Housing: Funding, sustainability, long waiting lists, some service users too high risk.

Resources: Funding, access and inconsistency. 

Through the Gate: Funding model, access and outcomes. 

Approved Premises: Role, myths and bed shortages. 

Service User Issues: Motivation, honesty, skill and experience to manage a tenancy and chaotic 
lifestyles. Specific issues for young people and for the ageing offender population, impact on family 
and friends, cuckooing and expectations of Probation Services.

Solutions

This paper outlines potential solutions to the strategic and systemic barriers identified, including:

The Homelessness Reduction Act: Local Housing Authorities must provide or secure the 
provision of a homelessness service and the service must be designed to meet the needs of 
persons in the district including the needs of persons released from prison or youth detention.

The White Paper, ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’: We need to plan for the right homes in 
the right places, build homes faster, diversify the housing market and help people now.

The Benefit System: Actual rents and eligible service charges for supported and sheltered 
housing should be funded via Universal Credit or Pension Credit.

Converted Shipping Container Accommodation: Seek creative and achievable cost effective 
alternatives to affordable sustainable housing. 

Social Impact Bonds: For example, the East Kent Entrenched Rough Sleeper Social Impact 
Bond, a jointly commissioned entrenched rough sleeper programme which aims to improve 

Page 29



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 4

outcomes for entrenched rough sleepers who have spent a lengthy spell in the homelessness 
system through Housing First principles.

Housing First Principles: People have a right to a home, flexible support is provided for as long 
as it is needed, housing and support are separated, individuals have choice and control, based on 
people’s strengths, goals and aspirations and an active engagement and harm reduction approach 
is used.

Holistic Approach: Robust and collaborative multi-agency assessment, planning, intervention and 
support taking into account the circumstances and views of the individual.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessments: Local Housing Authorities and Clinical Commissioning 
Groups have equal and joint duties to prepare JSNAs through Health and Wellbeing Boards. The 
Local Authority Housing Lead should be represented on the Health and Wellbeing Board to ensure 
the housing needs of the community are identified.

Making Every Adult Matter: Utilising a partnership of voluntary and statutory agencies to design 
an effective, coordinated and flexible response for people with multiple and complex needs.

Communication and Training: The creation of a joint accommodation strategy, developed in 
partnership with the MoJ, DCLG and the DWP and the local development and implementation of a 
multi-agency Kent accommodation communication and training strategy.

Prison Interventions: Highlighting the importance of timely release plans, assessment for 
suitability and prompt referrals to resettlement services. A ‘departure lounge’ model providing 
opportunity for families and agencies to meet service users immediately after release. 

Prison Estates: The suggestion for prison land in London to remain in public ownership and to be 
redeveloped into genuinely affordable homes.

Tenancy Sustainment Programme: Tenancy sustainment programmes to be reviewed for 
suitability, re-rolled and promoted both in custody and in the community. 

Subsidised Tenancies: A co-commissioned agreement with an accommodation provider who 
would provide tenancy and additional wraparound support for specific CJS service user groups, 
e.g. Integrated Offender Management (IOM).

Local Authority Housing Policy Review: Stop excluding CJS service users on the basis of 
intentional homelessness due to convictions, consider accepting high or medium risk individuals 
with a robust Risk Management Plan. Develop strong strategic and operational links between CJS 
agencies and Local Authorities.

Supported Housing: Full and timely communication regarding changes to the funding for 
supported housing and how this is likely to impact providers, clients and partners. 
Recommendations of leading charities to be incorporated into national changes. 

Psychologically Informed and Planned Environments: Housing providers to consider the PIPE 
approach to supporting people out of homelessness, in particular those who have experienced 
complex trauma or are diagnosed with a personality disorder.

Utilise/expand existing services: E.g. BASS and NACRO.

Service User Collaboration: Services benefit from the insights of experts by experience. A 
collaborative approach with CJS service users should be considered throughout the formation and 
delivery of the multi-agency housing and homelessness action plan.  

Page 30



5

Introduction

Securing and maintaining appropriate accommodation has long been one of the most significant 
challenges to many individuals with criminal convictions and to those professionals, both statutory 
and non-statutory, working with them. 

A number of multi-agency groups have sought to explore and address the issues with examples of 
good practice such as the Kent Joint Policy and Planning Board for Housing (JPPB) Protocol for 
Emergency Accommodation Placements (2010) and the Kent and Medway Reducing Re-offending 
Board Housing Roundtable (2011) leading to the refresh of the Multi-Agency Protocol for the 
Resettlement and Housing of Offenders (2012). Think Housing First, was developed by the JPPB 
and the Kent Housing Group to reduce health inequalities through the housing sector. 

The plight of the most complex and high risk of harm cases has also been recognised with the 
formation of the Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) Housing Panel. The 
Deputy Director for the South East and Eastern (SEE) National Probation Service (NPS) region 
has also held a multi-agency accommodation workshop to try and frame the problems and to 
identify opportunities for the future (2016). 

National measures have also been implemented in order to try and address the issues. The 
Homelessness Reduction Act, to amend the Housing Act 1996 in order to make provision about 
measures for reducing homelessness and for connected purposes, will soon come into force.  

The NPS Housing Needs Strategy (2016) makes clear that the NPS is ‘committed to working 
effectively with a wide range of commissioners, stakeholders and partners in order to influence 
strategy, promote access to services and address the housing needs of offenders’. This paper has 
been drawn together in line with the NPS Housing Needs Strategy principles; effective stakeholder 
engagement and pro-active partnership working.  

The following requested this paper on Housing and Homelessness for CJS service users in Kent:  

 Kent and Medway Reducing Re-offending Board (KMRRB) 
 Integrated Offender Management Performance and Delivery Group (IOMPDG)
 Steve Johnson-Proctor, Deputy Director for South East and Eastern (SEE) Region, 

National Probation Service 

The paper will be distributed to all KMRRB and IOMPDG members and to all contributors.

Aims and Objectives

This paper aims to identify the scale and scope of the strategic and systemic housing and 
homelessness issues that impact upon CJS service users in Kent. This will be approached through 
multi-agency qualitative and quantitative data analysis to identify and explore the issues. This 
paper will include key themes and potential solutions, both national and local, for consideration. 

The objective of this paper is to propose realistic and achievable actions for multi-agency support 
and implementation to assist those who have committed offences, and the professionals working 
with them, to secure and maintain appropriate accommodation.  

Page 31



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 6

Scale

This paper attempts to outline the scale of the housing and homelessness problem in Kent through 
analysis of data from the National Probation Service (NPS), Kent Surrey Sussex Community 
Rehabilitation Company (KSS CRC), NACRO and Centra, Pathways to Independence, Porchlight, 
Gravesham Borough Council (GBC) and Kent County Council (KCC). Some national data of note 
has also been included.   

The following data has been provided by SEE NPS:

Context 

The National Probation Service is a statutory Criminal Justice Service that predominantly 
supervises high-risk offenders released into the community. The NPS works with around 30,000 
offenders a year, supporting their rehabilitation while protecting the public. The NPS works in 
partnership with the CRCs, with the Courts, police and with private and voluntary sector partners in 
order to manage offenders safely and effectively. The NPS priority is to protect the public by the 
effective rehabilitation of high risk offenders, by tacking the causes of offending and enabling 
offenders to turn their lives around.

The NPS Housing Needs Strategy recognises that there is a fundamental link between accessing 
and retaining stable housing/accommodation and desistance from offending and that stable 
housing/accommodation is key to the management of risk. In addition to the general barriers faced 
by offenders, the NPS cohort of offenders are likely to experience significant additional challenges 
in terms of housing need, particularly those who pose a high risk of harm, sex offenders, those with 
arson convictions and offenders with mental health issues, personality disorder and complex 
needs.

Drawing credit: Tom Bailey, BIGSPD Conference, Inverness, March 2017

Page 32



7

NPS Kent Accommodation Summary

The data includes cases currently managed by NPS Kent Local Delivery Unit (LDU), subject to a 
Community Order, Suspended Sentence Order or are currently being managed on Licence/Post 
Sentence Supervision. It does not include those currently serving custodial sentences. The data 
was extracted 24/04/17.

Figure 1 - Accommodation Status: 

Summary of accommodation status, as recorded on Delius

Accommodation Total % of Total
Approved Premises 60 4.7%
Friends/Family 116 9.1%
Friends/Family (settled) 233 18.4%
Friends/Family (transient) 72 5.7%
Friends/Family, Permanent 
Independent Housing 1 0.1%
Historic Accommodation Record 9 0.7%
Homeless - Other 1 0.1%
Householder (Owner - freehold or 
leasehold) 28 2.2%
No fixed abode 79 6.2%
No information 15 1.2%
Not Recorded 43 3.4%
Permanent Independent Housing 264 20.8%
Permanent Independent Housing 
(LA or private rent) 174 13.7%
Permanent Independent Housing 
(Owner - f/h or l/h) 16 1.3%
Rental accommodation - private 
rental 10 0.8%
Rental accommodation - social 
rental from LA 4 0.3%
Supported Housing 97 7.6%
Transient/short term accommodation 46 3.6%
Homeless - Rough Sleeping 1 0.1%
Total 1269

 

Highlights: Kent LDU, NPS, April 2017

24.8% (315) service users were classed as in unsettled accommodation

Of which 6.2% (79) were recorded as No Fixed Abode

Of which 0.1% (1) was recorded as homeless – other

Of which 0.1% (1) was recorded as homeless – rough sleeping

69.9% (887) service users were classed as in settled accommodation

5.3% (67) service users did not have a recorded accommodation status

Page 33



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 8

Figure 2 - Accommodation Need Overview:

This data is based on the latest OASys assessment completed (where an assessment could be 
matched on CRN).  Where multiple assessments have been completed, the latest assessment 
information has been used.

Accommodation is a Need?

Team (OM) No Yes Total
% with Accommodation 

Need
KNT-Canterbury 59 24 83 28.9%
KNT-Dartford & Gravesham 85 41 126 32.5%
KNT-Maidstone 82 74 156 47.4%
KNT-Maidstone MC 3 2 5 40.0%
KNT-Margate MC 1 3 4 75.0%
KNT-Medway 120 70 190 36.8%
KNT-Medway MC 4 2 6 33.3%
KNT-South East Kent 119 106 225 47.1%
KNT-Swale 70 30 100 30.0%
KNT-Thanet 60 55 115 47.8%
KNT-West Kent 63 56 119 47.1%
Total 666 463 1129 41.0%

Highlights: Accommodation Need, Kent LDU, NPS, April 2017

A total of 41% (463) service users have accommodation as an identified need

Thanet have the highest proportion of service users with an accommodation need at 47.8% (115)

SEK have the highest number of service users with an accommodation need at 225 (47.1%)

Canterbury have the lowest proportion of service users with an accommodation need at 28.9% (83)

Page 34



9

Figure 3 - Accommodation Need linked to Risk of Serious Harm, Risk to the Individual and 
Other Risks:

Accommodation Need linked to Risk of Harm?

Team (OM) No Yes Not Known Total

% with 
Accommodation 
Need linked to 
Risk of Harm

KNT-Canterbury 64 18 14 96 18.8%
KNT-Canterbury MC  4 4 0.0%
KNT-Dartford & Gravesham 92 32 9 133 24.1%
KNT-Folkestone MC  1 1 0.0%
KNT-Maidstone 92 64 9 165 38.8%
KNT-Maidstone MC 5 5 0.0%
KNT-Margate MC 2 2 6 10 20.0%
KNT-Medway 135 53 30 218 24.3%
KNT-Medway MC 5 6 11 0.0%
KNT-South East Kent 149 76 17 242 31.4%
KNT-Swale 75 24 18 117 20.5%
KNT-Thanet 70 45 26 141 31.9%
KNT-West Kent 60 58 8 126 46.0%
Total 749 372 148 1269 29.3%

Highlights: Accommodation Need Linked with Risk of Harm (ROSH), 
Kent LDU, NPS, April 2017

A total of 29.3% (372) service users have an accommodation need linked with ROH

West Kent have the highest proportion of service users with an accommodation need linked with 
ROH at 46% (58)

SEK have the highest number of service users with an accommodation need linked with ROH at 76 
(31.4%)

Canterbury have the lowest proportion of service users with an accommodation need linked with 
ROH at 18.8% (18)

There were 148 cases where it was not known whether accommodation need was linked with ROH

Page 35



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 10

Figure 4 - Accommodation Need link to Offending Behaviour:

Accommodation Need linked to Offending Behaviour?

Team (OM) No Yes Not Known Total

% with 
Accommodation 
Need linked to 

Offending 
Behaviour

KNT-Canterbury 59 24 13 96 25.0%
KNT-Canterbury MC  4 4 0.0%
KNT-Dartford & Gravesham 85 41 7 133 30.8%
KNT-Folkestone MC  1 1 0.0%
KNT-Maidstone 82 74 9 165 44.8%
KNT-Maidstone MC 3 2 5 40.0%
KNT-Margate MC 1 3 6 10 30.0%
KNT-Medway 120 70 28 218 32.1%
KNT-Medway MC 4 2 5 11 18.2%
KNT-South East Kent 119 106 17 242 43.8%
KNT-Swale 70 30 17 117 25.6%
KNT-Thanet 60 55 26 141 39.0%
KNT-West Kent 63 56 7 126 44.4%
Total 666 463 140 1269 36.5%

Highlights: Accommodation Need Linked to Offending Behaviour (OB), 
Kent LDU, NPS, April 2017

A total of 36.5% (463) service users have an accommodation need linked to OB

Maidstone have the highest proportion of service users with an accommodation need linked to OB 
at 44.8% (74)

SEK have the highest number of service users with an accommodation need linked to OB at 106 
(43.8%)

Canterbury have the lowest proportion of service users with an accommodation need linked to OB 
at 25% (24)

There were 140 cases where it was not known whether accommodation need was linked to OB

Page 36



11

The following data has been provided by KSS CRC:

Context

KSS CRC deliver a range of rehabilitation services to people who have been sentenced by a Court 
to either custody or community supervision and who are classed as low to medium risk. Their goal 
is to reduce re-offending and in so doing, improve people's lives, potential victims as well as the 
perpetrators of crime. They do this specifically by steering people away from offending.

The KSS CRC approach to rehabilitation puts the service user at the heart of their own journey to a 
crime-free life. They call it My Solution Rehabilitation Programme, or MSRP for short, and it 
permeates everything they do. It works on the premise that to become crime-free, a person needs 
to take responsibility for their own actions. For this to happen, a person must first understand what 
it is that makes them offend and then start to change their thinking about that behaviour. This 
approach puts the onus on the fact it's 'my problem' and 'my solution', which sets up the right 
conditions for rehabilitation to work.

KSS CRC has a responsibility to endeavour to source and place service users in accommodation 
due to the fact that lack of accommodation is a major causal link to crime. Both CRC and NPS 
have ‘HETE’ targets; Housing, Education, Training and Employment. They are required to record 
at the beginning of every Order/Licence what form of accommodation a service user is in. This 
ranges from No Fixed Abode to permanent owned accommodation with all the ranges in between. 
If there are any changes to this they are recorded in N-Delius and it also recorded upon termination 
of the Order or Licence. 

KSS CRC has a contract with NACRO and Centra to undertake accommodation searches and link 
in service users with housing providers. However, strong links also remain with Pathways to 
Independence and Porchlight, housing providers with whom a long standing relationship has been 
forged with probation. 

Page 37



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 12

Figure 5 – Assessment Team - Location and Directorate:

Ashf
ord 

Chath
am 

Grave
send 

Maid
stone 

Mar
gate 

Sittingb
ourne 

Tunbri
dge 

Wells
Ken

t
Surr
ey

Suss
ex

Assess
ment 
Total

Unsettled
1 

(2.3%
)

2 
(6.1%)

1 
(4.5%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%) 1 
(8.3%)

5 
(3.2
%)

1 
(1.3
%)

3 
(2.9%

)
9 (2.7%)

Unsettled - 
BASS/SABS  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)

1 
(7.7%

)

 
(0%)  (0%)  (0%)

1 
(0.6
%)

0 
(0%)

0 
(0%) 1 (0.3%)

Unsettled - 
Family/Friends

1 
(2.3%

)
1 (3%) 1 

(4.5%)

1 
(7.7%

)

3 
(18.
8%)

 (0%) 3 
(25%)

10 
(6.5
%)

4 
(5.3
%)

1 
(1%)

15 
(4.5%)

Unsettled - Multi-
occupancy  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

1 
(1.3
%)

0 
(0%) 1 (0.3%)

Unsettled - NFA
4 

(9.3%
)

1 (3%) 1 
(4.5%)

1 
(7.7%

)

 
(0%) 1 (6.7%)

2 
(16.7%

)

10 
(6.5
%)

4 
(5.3
%)

8 
(7.7%

)
22 

(6.6%)

Unsettled - 
Partners Home  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

2 
(2.7
%)

0 
(0%) 2 (0.6%)

Unsettled - Short 
Term 
accommodation

1 
(2.3%

)
1 (3%) 1 

(4.5%)  (0%)  
(0%) 1 (6.7%)  (0%)

4 
(2.6
%)

0 
(0%)

2 
(1.9%

)
6 (1.8%)

Settled
8 

(18.6
%)

1 (3%) 1 
(4.5%)

2 
(15.4
%)

 
(0%)

2 
(13.3%)  (0%)

14 
(9.1
%)

11 
(14.
7%)

10 
(9.6%

)
35 

(10.4%)
Settled - 
Approved 
Premises

 (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  
(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 

(0%)
1 

(1.3
%)

2 
(1.9%

)
3 (0.9%)

Settled - 
Family/Friends

7 
(16.3
%)

7 
(21.2%

)

5 
(22.7%

)

2 
(15.4
%)

5 
(31.
3%)

3 (20%) 1 
(8.3%)

30 
(19.
5%)

11 
(14.
7%)

10 
(9.6%

)
51 

(15.2%)
Settled - 
Permanent 
Independent 
Housing

9 
(20.9
%)

9 
(27.3%

)

7 
(31.8%

)

4 
(30.8
%)

7 
(43.
8%)

3 (20%)
4 

(33.3%
)

43 
(27.
9%)

11 
(14.
7%)

6 
(5.8%

)
60 

(17.9%)

Settled - 
Supportive 
Housing

2 
(4.7%

)

2 
(6.1%)  (0%)

1 
(7.7%

)

 
(0%) 1 (6.7%)  (0%)

6 
(3.9
%)

0 
(0%)

0 
(0%) 6 (1.8%)

Unrecorded
10 

(23.3
%)

9 
(27.3%

)

5 
(22.7%

)

1 
(7.7%

)

1 
(6.3
%)

4 
(26.7%)

1 
(8.3%)

31 
(20.
1%)

29 
(38.
7%)

62 
(59.6
%)

124 
(37%)

A
ss

es
sm

en
t

Total 43 33 22 13 16 15 12 154 75 104 335

Highlights: Kent CRC Assessment Team, April 2017

19.4% (20) service users were classed as in unsettled accommodation

Of which 6.5% (10) were recorded as No Fixed Abode

60.4% (93) service users were classed as in settled accommodation

20.1% (31) service users did not have a recorded accommodation status

Page 38



13

Figure 6 – Rehabilitation Team - Location and Directorate:

Ashf
ord 

Chath
am 

Grave
send

Maidst
one

Mar
gate 

Sittingb
ourne 

Tunbri
dge 

Wells
Ken

t
Surr
ey

Suss
ex

Rehabil
itation 
Total

Unsettled
6 

(1.1%
)

13 
(2.6%)

8 
(2.4%)

4 
(1.3%)

3 
(1%) 8 (3.3%) 3 (1%)

45 
(1.8
%)

27 
(2.2
%)

68 
(8.1%

)
140 

(2.4%)

Unsettled - 
BASS/SABS  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

0 
(0%)

2 
(0.2%

)
2 (0%)

Unsettled - 
Family/Friends

31 
(5.5%

)

28 
(5.5%)

18 
(5.4%)

20 
(6.4%)

24 
(8.3
%)

22 
(8.9%)

18 
(5.9%)

161 
(6.3
%)

42 
(3.4
%)

113 
(13.5
%)

317 
(5.4%)

Unsettled - Multi-
occupancy  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

6 
(0.5
%)

1 
(0.1%

)
7 (0.1%)

Unsettled - NFA
32 

(5.7%
)

20 
(4%)

19 
(5.7%)

17 
(5.5%)

27 
(9.3
%)

6 (2.4%) 17 
(5.6%)

138 
(5.4
%)

46 
(3.7
%)

191 
(22.8
%)

377 
(6.4%)

Unsettled - 
Partners Home  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 

(0.3%)
 

(0%) 1 (0.4%)  (0%)
2 

(0.1
%)

31 
(2.5
%)

1 
(0.1%

)
34 

(0.6%)
Unsettled - Short 
Term 
accommodation

17 
(3%)

18 
(3.6%)

7 
(2.1%)

10 
(3.2%)

5 
(1.7
%)

4 (1.6%) 8 
(2.6%)

69 
(2.7
%)

24 
(1.9
%)

93 
(11.1
%)

186 
(3.1%)

Settled
40 

(7.2%
)

21 
(4.2%)

19 
(5.7%)

21 
(6.8%)

30 
(10.
3%)

20 
(8.1%)

29 
(9.6%)

180 
(7.1
%)

145 
(11.
6%)

279 
(33.3
%)

605 
(10.2%)

Settled - Approved 
Premises  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)

1 
(0.3
%)

 (0%) 1 
(0.3%)

2 
(0.1
%)

3 
(0.2
%)

1 
(0.1%

)
6 (0.1%)

Settled - 
Family/Friends

183 
(32.7
%)

148 
(29.3%

)

122 
(36.5%

)

97 
(31.2%

)

79 
(27.
2%)

81 
(32.9%)

92 
(30.4%

)

802 
(31.
5%)

322 
(25.
9%)

481 
(57.5
%)

1609 
(27.2%)

Settled - 
Permanent 
Independent 
Housing

215 
(38.5
%)

213 
(42.2%

)

129 
(38.6%

)

112 
(36%)

106 
(36.
6%)

87 
(35.4%)

114 
(37.6%

)

976 
(38.
3%)

324 
(26
%)

650 
(77.7
%)

1956 
(33.1%)

Settled - 
Supportive 
Housing

12 
(2.1%

)

25 
(5%)

7 
(2.1%)

8 
(2.6%)

3 
(1%)

10 
(4.1%) 9 (3%)

74 
(2.9
%)

23 
(1.8
%)

80 
(9.6%

)
177 
(3%)

Hospital / 
Institution  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

0 
(0%)

1 
(0.1%

)
1 (0%)

Unrecorded
23 

(4.1%
)

19 
(3.8%)

5 
(1.5%)

21 
(6.8%)

12 
(4.1
%)

7 (2.8%) 12 
(4%)

99 
(3.9
%)

196 
(15.
7%)

195 
(23.3
%)

490 
(8.3%)

R
eh

ab
ili

ta
tio

n

Total 559 505 334 311 290 246 303 254
8

124
5 837 5907

Highlights: Kent CRC Rehabilitation Team, April 2017

16.3% (621) service users were classed as in unsettled accommodation

Of which 5.4% (138) were recorded as No Fixed Abode

79.9% (2034) service users were classed as in settled accommodation

3.9% (99) service users did not have a recorded accommodation status

Page 39



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 14

Figure 7 – Rehabilitation Team - Location and Directorate:

Ashf
ord 

Chath
am 

Grave
send 

Maidst
one 

Mar
gate 

Sittingb
ourne 

Tunbri
dge 

Wells
Ken

t
Surr
ey

Suss
ex

Resettl
ement 
Total

Unsettled 23 
(5%)

20 
(5.5%)

14 
(5.3%)

4 
(2.3%)

9 
(3.9
%)

1 (0.6%) 3 
(1.9%)

74 
(4.1
%)

16 
(3%)

25 
(3%)

115 
(3.6%)

Unsettled - 
BASS/SABS

5 
(1.1%

)

1 
(0.3%)  (0%) 1 

(0.6%)

3 
(1.3
%)

1 (0.6%)  (0%)
11 

(0.6
%)

4 
(0.8
%)

5 
(0.6%

)
20 

(0.6%)

Unsettled - 
Family/Friends

7 
(1.5%

)

27 
(7.5%)

12 
(4.6%)

8 
(4.6%)

16 
(6.9
%)

12 
(7.6%)

9 
(5.7%)

91 
(5%)

21 
(4%)

34 
(4.1%

)
146 

(4.5%)

Unsettled - Multi-
occupancy

1 
(0.2%

)
 (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%)
1 

(0.1
%)

0 
(0%)

0 
(0%) 1 (0%)

Unsettled - NFA
58 

(12.6
%)

61 
(16.9%

)

12 
(4.6%)

23 
(13.1%

)

41 
(17.
6%)

17 
(10.8%)

8 
(5.1%)

220 
(12.
2%)

46 
(8.7
%)

125 
(14.9
%)

394 
(12.2%)

Unsettled - 
Partners Home  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  

(0%)  (0%)  (0%) 0 
(0%)

10 
(1.9
%)

0 
(0%)

10 
(0.3%)

Unsettled - Short 
Term 
accommodation

22 
(4.8%

)

3 
(0.8%)

2 
(0.8%)

2 
(1.1%)

7 
(3%)

10 
(6.3%)

3 
(1.9%)

49 
(2.7
%)

56 
(10.
6%)

27 
(3.2%

)
132 

(4.1%)

Settled
76 

(16.5
%)

55 
(15.2%

)

51 
(19.4
%)

32 
(18.3%

)

54 
(23.
2%)

20 
(12.7%)

30 
(19.1%

)

318 
(17.
6%)

48 
(9.1
%)

126 
(15.1
%)

504 
(15.6%)

Settled - Approved 
Premises

2 
(0.4%

)

3 
(0.8%)

3 
(1.1%)  (0%)

1 
(0.4
%)

 (0%)  (0%)
9 

(0.5
%)

16 
(3%)

9 
(1.1%

)
35 

(1.1%)

Settled - 
Family/Friends

116 
(25.2
%)

76 
(21%)

62 
(23.6
%)

50 
(28.6%

)

47 
(20.
2%)

48 
(30.4%)

35 
(22.3%

)

434 
(24
%)

153 
(28.
9%)

217 
(25.9
%)

810 
(25.1%)

Settled - 
Permanent 
Independent 
Housing

60 
(13%)

72 
(19.9%

)

48 
(18.3
%)

31 
(17.7%

)

25 
(10.
7%)

41 
(25.9%)

39 
(24.8%

)

316 
(17.
5%)

83 
(15.
7%)

169 
(20.2
%)

575 
(17.8%)

Settled - 
Supportive 
Housing

10 
(2.2%

)

8 
(2.2%)

3 
(1.1%)

2 
(1.1%)

3 
(1.3
%)

2 (1.3%) 1 
(0.6%)

29 
(1.6
%)

11 
(2.1
%)

20 
(2.4%

)
60 

(1.9%)

Unrecorded
81 

(17.6
%)

36 
(9.9%)

56 
(21.3
%)

22 
(12.6%

)

27 
(11.
6%)

6 (3.8%)
29 

(18.5%
)

257 
(14.
2%)

65 
(12.
3%)

80 
(9.6%

)
424 

(13.1%)

R
es

et
tle

m
en

t

Total 461 362 263 175 233 158 157 180
9 529 837 3226

Highlights: Kent CRC Resettlement Team, April 2017

24.7% (446) service users were classed as in unsettled accommodation

Of which 12.2% (220) were recorded as No Fixed Abode

61.2% (1106) service users were classed as in settled accommodation

14.2% (257) service users did not have a recorded accommodation status

Page 40



15

Figure 8 – KSS CRC by County:

Figure 9 – KSS CRC County Highlights:

Kent Surrey Sussex KSS CRC

Unsettled 891 (19.7%) 341 (19%) 699 (22.6%) 1940 (20.5%)

Settled 3234 (71.7%) 1162 (64.8%) 2060 (66.5%) 6497 (68.5%)

Hospital / Institution 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (0%) 1 (0%)

Unrecorded 387 (8.6%) 290 (16.2%) 337 (10.9%) 1044 (11%)

Total 4512 1793 3097 9482

Kent Surrey Sussex KSS CRC

Unsettled 124 (2.7%) 44 (2.5%) 96 (3.1%) 264 (2.8%)

Unsettled - BASS/SABS 12 (0.3%) 4 (0.2%) 7 (0.2%) 23 (0.2%)

Unsettled - Family/Friends 262 (5.8%) 67 (3.7%) 148 (4.8%) 479 (5.1%)

Unsettled - Multi-occupancy 1 (0%) 7 (0.4%) 1 (0%) 9 (0.1%)

Unsettled - NFA 368 (8.2%) 96 (5.4%) 324 (10.5%) 794 (8.4%)

Unsettled - Partners Home 2 (0%) 43 (2.4%) 1 (0%) 46 (0.5%)

Unsettled - Short Term accommodation 122 (2.7%) 80 (4.5%) 122 (3.9%) 325 (3.4%)

Settled 513 (11.4%) 204 (11.4%) 415 (13.4%) 1146 (12.1%)

Settled - Approved Premises 11 (0.2%) 20 (1.1%) 12 (0.4%) 44 (0.5%)

Settled - Family/Friends 1266 (28.1%) 486 (27.1%) 708 (22.9%) 2473 (26.1%)

Settled - Permanent Independent Housing 1335 (29.6%) 418 (23.3%) 825 (26.6%) 2591 (27.3%)

Settled - Supportive Housing 109 (2.4%) 34 (1.9%) 100 (3.2%) 243 (2.6%)

Hospital / Institution 0 (0%) 0 (0%) 1 (0%) 1 (0%)

Unrecorded 387 (8.6%) 290 (16.2%) 337 (10.9%) 1044 (11%)

Total 4512 1793 3097 9482

Page 41



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 16

Figure 10 – KSS CRC Gender:
Kent Surrey Sussex

Male Female Male Female Male Female

Total 
Male

Total 
Female

Unsettled 110 
(2.8%)

14 
(2.4%)

38 
(2.5%)

6 
(2.2%)

85 
(3.2%)

11 
(2.3%)

233 
(2.9%)

31 
(0.4%)

Unsettled - BASS/SABS 11 
(0.3%)

1 
(0.2%)

1 
(0.1%)

3 
(1.1%) 5 (0.2%) 2 

(0.4%)
17 

(0.2%) 6 (0.1%)

Unsettled - Family/Friends 232 
(5.9%)

30 
(5.2%) 61 (4%) 6 

(2.2%)
123 

(4.7%)
25 

(5.2%)
418 

(5.1%)
61 

(0.7%)

Unsettled - Multi-occupancy 1 (0%)  (0%) 6 
(0.4%)

1 
(0.4%) 1 (0%)  (0%) 8 (0.1%) 1 (0%)

Unsettled - NFA 321 
(8.2%)

47 
(8.1%)

81 
(5.3%)

15 
(5.5%)

282 
(10.8%)

42 
(8.8%)

690 
(8.5%)

104 
(1.3%)

Unsettled - Partners Home 2 (0.1%)  (0%) 39 
(2.6%)

4 
(1.5%) 1 (0%)  (0%) 42 

(0.5%) 4 (0%)

Unsettled - Short Term 
accommodation

100 
(2.5%)

22 
(3.8%)

67 
(4.4%)

13 
(4.8%)

97 
(3.7%)

25 
(5.2%)

265 
(3.3%)

60 
(0.7%)

Settled 466 
(11.9%)

47 
(8.1%)

178 
(11.7%)

26 
(9.6%)

366 
(14%)

49 
(10.3%)

1024 
(12.6%)

122 
(1.5%)

Settled - Approved 
Premises

10 
(0.3%)

1 
(0.2%)

19 
(1.2%)

1 
(0.4%)

11 
(0.4%)

1 
(0.2%)

41 
(0.5%) 3 (0%)

Settled - Family/Friends 1164 
(29.6%)

102 
(17.5%)

438 
(28.8%)

48 
(17.7%)

648 
(24.7%)

60 
(12.6%)

2262 
(27.8%)

211 
(2.6%)

Settled - Permanent 
Independent Housing

1072 
(27.3%)

263 
(45.2%)

317 
(20.8%)

101 
(37.3%)

635 
(24.2%)

190 
(39.8%)

2036 
(25%)

555 
(6.8%)

Settled - Supportive 
Housing

85 
(2.2%)

24 
(4.1%)

27 
(1.8%)

7 
(2.6%)

74 
(2.8%)

26 
(5.5%)

186 
(2.3%)

57 
(0.7%)

Hospital / Institution  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%) 0 (0%)

Unrecorded 356 
(9.1%)

31 
(5.3%)

250 
(16.4%)

40 
(14.8%)

291 
(11.1%)

46 
(9.6%)

925 
(11.4%)

119 
(1.5%)

Kent Surrey Sussex
Male Female Male Female Male Female

Total 
Male

Total 
Female

Unsettled 777 
(19.8%)

114 
(19.6%)

293 
(19.3%)

48 
(17.7%)

594 
(22.7%)

105 
(22%)

1673 
(20.5%)

267 
(20%)

Settled 2797 
(71.2%)

437 
(75.1%)

979 
(64.3%)

183 
(67.5%)

1734 
(66.2%)

326 
(68.3%)

5549 
(68.1%)

948 
(71.1%)

Hospital / Institution  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%) 0 (0%)

Unrecorded 356 
(9.1%)

31 
(5.3%)

250 
(16.4%)

40 
(14.8%)

291 
(11.1%)

46 
(9.6%)

925 
(11.4%)

119 
(8.9%)

Highlights: Gender, Kent CRC, April 2017 

19.8% (777) male service users were recorded as in unsettled accommodation
Of which 8.2% (321) were of No fixed Abode

19.6% (114) female service users were recorded as in unsettled accommodation
Of which 8.1% (47) were of No Fixed Abode

71.2% (2797) male service users were recorded as in settled accommodation

75.1% female service users were recorded as in settled accommodation

9.1% (356) male service users did not have recorded accommodation status

5.3% (31) female service users did not have recorded accommodation status

Page 42



17

Figure 11 – Age:
18-24 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60+

Unsettled 50 (2.8%) 51 (2.8%) 83 (2.9%) 52 (2.9%) 24 (2.5%) 4 (1.5%)
Unsettled - BASS/SABS 5 (0.3%) 6 (0.3%) 5 (0.2%) 4 (0.2%) 3 (0.3%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Family/Friends 117 (6.5%) 101 (5.6%) 135 (4.8%) 93 (5.2%) 29 (3%) 4 (1.5%)
Unsettled - Multi-occupancy  (0%)  (0%) 5 (0.2%) 4 (0.2%)  (0%)  (0%)

Unsettled - NFA 110 (6.1%) 146 (8.1%) 260 (9.2%) 184 
(10.2%) 82 (8.4%) 12 (4.5%)

Unsettled - Partners Home  (0%) 6 (0.3%) 27 (1%) 11 (0.6%) 2 (0.2%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Short Term 
accommodation 48 (2.7%) 69 (3.8%) 96 (3.4%) 72 (4%) 34 (3.5%) 6 (2.3%)

Settled 187 
(10.4%)

206 
(11.4%)

338 
(11.9%)

208 
(11.5%)

157 
(16.2%) 50 (18.9%)

Settled - Approved Premises 2 (0.1%) 9 (0.5%) 15 (0.5%) 11 (0.6%) 5 (0.5%) 2 (0.8%)

Settled - Family/Friends 806 
(44.7%)

560 
(31.1%)

669 
(23.6%)

293 
(16.2%)

123 
(12.7%) 22 (8.3%)

Settled - Permanent Independent 
Housing

232 
(12.9%)

425 
(23.6%)

809 
(28.5%)

635 
(35.2%)

382 
(39.3%)

108 
(40.9%)

Settled - Supportive Housing 61 (3.4%) 34 (1.9%) 72 (2.5%) 49 (2.7%) 21 (2.2%) 6 (2.3%)
Hospital / Institution  (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)

Unrecorded 185 
(10.3%)

189 
(10.5%)

322 
(11.4%)

188 
(10.4%)

110 
(11.3%) 50 (18.9%)

Total 1803 1802 2837 1804 972 264

18-24 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60+
Unsettled 330 (18.3%) 379 (21%) 611 (21.5%) 420 (23.3%) 174 (17.9%) 26 (9.8%)
Settled 1288 (71.4%) 1234 (68.5%) 1903 (67.1%) 1196 (66.3%) 688 (70.8%) 188 (71.2%)
Hospital / Institution  (0%)  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)
Unrecorded 185 (10.3%) 189 (10.5%) 322 (11.4%) 188 (10.4%) 110 (11.3%) 50 (18.9%)

Figure 12 – Age – Kent:
18-24 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60+

Unsettled 22 (2.5%) 22 (2.5%) 37 (2.7%) 29 (3.5%) 11 (2.5%) 3 (2.5%)
Unsettled - BASS/SABS 2 (0.2%) 4 (0.5%) 2 (0.1%) 2 (0.2%) 2 (0.4%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Family/Friends 66 (7.4%) 59 (6.7%) 78 (5.8%) 43 (5.2%) 14 (3.1%) 2 (1.7%)
Unsettled - Multi-occupancy  (0%)  (0%)  (0%) 1 (0.1%)  (0%)  (0%)
Unsettled - NFA 52 (5.8%) 72 (8.2%) 113 (8.4%) 89 (10.8%) 36 (8.1%) 6 (5.1%)
Unsettled - Partners Home  (0%)  (0%) 2 (0.1%)  (0%)  (0%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Short Term 
accommodation 21 (2.4%) 34 (3.9%) 32 (2.4%) 22 (2.7%) 11 (2.5%) 2 (1.7%)

Settled 81 (9.1%) 88 (10%) 157 
(11.6%) 85 (10.3%) 79 (17.7%) 23 

(19.5%)
Settled - Approved Premises  (0%) 2 (0.2%) 3 (0.2%) 5 (0.6%)  (0%) 1 (0.8%)

Settled - Family/Friends 420 
(47.2%)

295 
(33.6%)

332 
(24.6%)

154 
(18.6%) 57 (12.8%) 8 (6.8%)

Settled - Permanent Independent 
Housing

133 
(14.9%) 220 (25%) 436 

(32.2%)
313 

(37.9%)
186 

(41.6%)
47 

(39.8%)
Settled - Supportive Housing 36 (4%) 16 (1.8%) 31 (2.3%) 17 (2.1%) 4 (0.9%) 5 (4.2%)

Unrecorded 57 (6.4%) 67 (7.6%) 129 (9.5%) 66 (8%) 47 (10.5%) 21 
(17.8%)

Total 890 879 1352 826 447 118

18-24 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-59 60+
Unsettled 163 (18.3%) 191 (10.6%) 264 (9.3%) 186 (10.3%) 74 (7.6%) 13 (4.9%)
Settled 670 (75.3%) 621 (34.5%) 959 (33.8%) 574 (31.8%) 326 (33.5%) 84 (31.8%)
Unrecorded 57 (6.4%) 879 (48.8%) 1352 (47.7%) 826 (45.8%) 447 (46%) 118 (44.7%)

Page 43



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 18

Highlights: Age, Kent CRC, April 2017 

The highest rate of unsettled accommodation was aged 18-24 at 18.3% (163)
Of which 5.8% (52) were of No Fixed Abode

The lowest rate of unsettled accommodation was aged 60+ at 4.9% (13)
Of which 5.1% (6) were of No Fixed Abode

The lowest rate of settled accommodation was 31.8% for both age 40-49 (574) and 60+ (84)

The highest rate of unrecorded accommodation was aged 25-29 at 48.8% (879)

The lowest rate of unrecorded accommodation was aged 18-24 at 6.4% (57)

  

Figure 13 – Risk – All Counties: 

Risk – All Counties Low Medium High
Unsettled 86 (2.3%) 168 (3.3%) 2 (11.8%)
Unsettled - BASS/SABS 7 (0.2%) 16 (0.3%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Family/Friends 147 (3.9%) 327 (6.4%) 2 (11.8%)
Unsettled - Multi-occupancy 3 (0.1%) 6 (0.1%)  (0%)
Unsettled - NFA 238 (6.3%) 528 (10.3%) 3 (17.6%)
Unsettled - Partners Home 19 (0.5%) 25 (0.5%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Short Term accommodation 107 (2.8%) 202 (4%)  (0%)
Settled 426 (11.2%) 619 (12.1%)  (0%)
Settled - Approved Premises 21 (0.6%) 21 (0.4%)  (0%)
Settled - Family/Friends 1010 (26.6%) 1434 (28%) 6 (35.3%)
Settled - Permanent Independent Housing 1198 (31.5%) 1344 (26.3%) 1 (5.9%)
Settled - Supportive Housing 88 (2.3%) 152 (3%)  (0%)
Hospital / Institute  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%)
Unrecorded 449 (11.8%) 270 (5.3%) 3 (17.6%)

Total 3799 5113 17
Low Medium High

Unsettled 607 (16%) 1272 (24.9%) 7 (41.2%)
Settled 2743 (72.2%) 3570 (69.8%) 7 (41.2%)
Hospital / Institution  (0%) 1 (0%)  (0%)
Unrecorded 449 (11.8%) 270 (5.3%) 3 (17.6%)

Page 44



19

Figure 14 – Risk – Kent: 

Highlights: Risk, Kent CRC, April 2017 

The highest rate of unsettled accommodation was high risk at 37.5% (3)
Of which 12.5% (1) was of No Fixed abode

The lowest rate of unsettled accommodation was low risk at 16.3% (291)
Of which 6.7% (119) were of No Fixed abode

The highest rate of settled accommodation was low risk 76% (1357)

The lowest rate of settled accommodation was high risk at 50% (4)

The lowest rate of recorded accommodation was aged 25-29 at 48.8% (879)

* NB – Cases assessed as high risk are usually transferred to the NPS hence the low numbers

Risk – Kent Low Medium High
Unsettled 45 (2.5%) 71 (2.9%) 2 (25%)
Unsettled - BASS/SABS 3 (0.2%) 9 (0.4%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Family/Friends 84 (4.7%) 176 (7.2%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Multi-occupancy 1 (0.1%)  (0%)  (0%)
Unsettled - NFA 119 (6.7%) 239 (9.8%) 1 (12.5%)
Unsettled - Partners Home  (0%) 2 (0.1%)  (0%)
Unsettled - Short Term accommodation 39 (2.2%) 79 (3.2%)  (0%)
Settled 227 (12.7%) 234 (9.6%)  (0%)
Settled - Approved Premises 6 (0.3%) 4 (0.2%)  (0%)
Settled - Family/Friends 502 (28.1%) 751 (30.9%) 3 (37.5%)
Settled - Permanent Independent Housing 584 (32.7%) 727 (29.9%) 1 (12.5%)
Settled - Supportive Housing 38 (2.1%) 69 (2.8%)  (0%)
Unrecorded 137 (7.7%) 73 (3%) 1 (12.5%)

Total 1785 2434 8

Low Medium High
Unsettled 291 (16.3%) 576 (23.7%) 3 (37.5%)
Settled 1357 (76%) 1785 (73.3%) 4 (50%)
Unrecorded 137 (7.7%) 73 (3%) 1 (12.5%)

Page 45



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 20

The following data has been provided by the NACRO and Centra Kent Housing Brokerage 
Service and applies to CRC service users:

Context

NACRO, in partnership with Centra, have been commissioned by the Kent, Surrey and Sussex 
CRC to deliver housing brokerage services both in custody and in the community throughout Kent. 
The service provides information, advice and guidance to service users to ensure they have a 
realistic understanding of their housing options and support them to take steps to secure safe and 
secure placements. 

In custody, NACRO support individuals as they begin their sentence and also as they prepare for 
release with an aim to ensure that they leave custody with safe and secure accommodation. In the 
community, Centra provide support to those on Community Orders and on Licence with an aim to 
ensure that they obtain and sustain a safe and secure placement.  

 
Figure 15 – NACRO & Centra % of homeless referrals housed: 

Clients in the community who are homeless or at risk of homelessness who have been housed.

Canterbury 4
Chatham 6
Gravesend 0
Tunbridge Wells 1
Margate 0
Folkestone 0
Maidstone 1
Sittingbourne 1
Total people homeless or at risk of who have been housed 13
Total number of people homeless or at risk of referred 58
Variance (45)
% of homeless referrals housed (Nov’16-Feb’17) 22%

In this four month period NACRO and Centra had 45 individuals referred to them who remained 
homeless throughout Kent.
 
Figure 16 – NACRO & Centra % leaving custody housed: 

In custody NACRO and Centra also record all those who are referred because they are going to be 
homeless on release and those who are released with safe and secure accommodation.
 

Total Housed 65
Total Nacro referrals released 184
Total not engaged 26
Variance (93)
% leaving custody housed (Nov’16-Feb’17) 41%

Please note the custody figures are not total number of releases, they are only the total number 
referred to NACRO and Centra for housing support prior to release, their assumption is that all 
other individuals released will have had a safe and secure placement. Custody releases also 
include those released out of area and so are not broken down by specific Kent region. 

NACRO and Centra also note that most of their CJS service users are men with a few women in 
each area. They report working with 13 women in HMP East Sutton Park in April 2017. 

Page 46



21

The following data has been provided by Pathways to Independence:

Context

Pathways to Independence is a registered charity providing housing and support to single 
homeless adults across Kent and Medway. To be eligible for their services, clients must have 
identified housing related support needs which impact on their ability to sustain independent 
accommodation without assistance and support. Some properties are designated to house people 
with an offending history, or those at risk of offending. Clients must agree to work with the support 
of staff to agree (and work towards) personalised goals which will allow them to move on to, and 
sustain, their own accommodation within two years. Pathways doesn’t exclude any client on the 
basis of any specific conviction, but every client is assessed on the basis of level of support 
required and risk of harm (to themselves or others) that they would present within an 
accommodation setting. Pathways works with many clients who have substance misuse and/or 
mental health issues but all properties are dry houses and clients are expected to adhere to this 
rule for the benefit of all residents.

Pathways doesn’t collate any homelessness data independently at present, any referrals indicating 
rough-sleepers currently gets directed to StreetLink (Homeless Link) as Pathways do not currently 
have resources to work on street projects.

It is noted that the following figures provided by Pathways are for the period April 2015 to March 
2017 (inclusive). It was a period of time that saw an unusually high level of Notices and 
abandonments. In Pathways experience a high number of potential Notices can be avoided if staff 
are able to engage others agencies to increase the support around that individual quickly, this has 
proved much more difficult over the past couple of years and staff have often felt that they have 
been having to deal with spiralling risk in isolation. Pathways highlight that multi-agency support 
and interventions are essential to prevent poor outcomes. This will become even more important 
as further welfare benefit changes are introduced and the landscape of Supported Housing 
changes, as more service users will inadvertently fall foul of the system without adequate support. 

Figure 17 – Pathways Client Numbers - April 2015 to March 2017 (inclusive): 

CURRENT CLIENTS

Females – 2

Trans-gender – 1

ROTL – 2

CRC – 44

NPS – 105

Not CRC or NPS – 3

Page 47



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 22

Figure 18 – Pathways Accommodation at Referral Point – April 2015 to March 2017: 

Approved Premises 21
Bail hostel 1
BASS hostel 2
Bed & Breakfast 2
Kenward Trust 2
Living with family 4
Living with partner 1
No Fixed Abode 4
Other 1
Other supported accommodation 1
Prison 88
Private rented accommodation 1
Probation 2
Sleeping rough 16
Sofa surfing 14

Figure 19 – Pathways Referral sources – April 2015 to March 2017: 

Bed & Breakfast 1
Centra 1
CRI 1
Emergency housing 1
Homeless shelter 1
Job Centre 1
Police 2
Prison 41
Probation 149
Of which CRC 44
Of which NPS 105
ROTL 2
Self 5
Turning Point 1

Figure 20 – Pathways Move-On Accommodation – April 2015 to March 2017: 

Abandoned 10
Housing Association 4
Home choice 4
Local Authority Accommodation 12
With family 2
With friends 2
With partner 5
Other supported housing 1
Prison 18
Private rental 16
Sheltered accommodation 2
Unknown 1
Unknown NOTL issued 30

Page 48



23

Pathways Placement length in no. of nights – April 2015 to March 2017:

Shortest  - 2 nights (ROTL) 
Longest - 1077 nights (almost 3 years)

Pathways to Independence have received a contract extension for their Kent services until end of 
September 2018 and their Medway homelessness and offender services are currently funded until 
June 2019. 

The following data has been provided by Porchlight: 

Context 

Working across Kent and Bexley, Porchlight helps vulnerable and isolated people to get support 
with their housing, mental health, education and employment. It provides young people and adults 
with the advice, guidance and skills to live independently by offering personalised support and 
intervention to individuals who may present with a range of support needs from mental health 
issues, substance misuse and those with a history of offending.  Porchlight’s homelessness 
services include: Outreach, 12 supported accommodation projects, Private Rented Sector (PRS) 
and they are currently exploring the feasibility of setting up a Social Lettings Agency (SLA). In 
addition, in response to impressive outcomes of the Housing First delivery model in other parts of 
the UK and the world, Porchlight are developing and incorporating this model as part of their 
homelessness services to support entrenched rough sleepers in East Kent.

Last year, more than 5,000 were supported by Porchlight across all of their services. 

Figure 21 – Total Rough Sleeper numbers recorded across Kent (2016-2017):

Page 49



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 24

21. i. Gender split 21. ii. Age groups

Figure 22 – Accommodation destination for service users supported by Porchlight’s Rough 
Sleeper team (2016-2017):

Page 50



25

22. i. Gender split 22. ii. Age groups

Figure 23 – Move on destinations from Porchlight supported accommodation: 

Page 51



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 26

Figure 24 – Porchlight Service Users sustaining tenancies beyond 3 months (figures 
collated from Move on and PRS service):

Figure 25 - Porchlight service users exiting prison who are referred to our centralised 
accommodation referral team:

Page 52



27

The following data has been provided by Gravesham Borough Council (GBC):

Context

Local Government housing advice and homelessness service provide statutory and non-statutory 
services to homeless people and those threatened with homelessness.

Statistics are compiled for GBC quarterly in line with Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) (P1E) requirements and data sets collated as part of this provision are 
outlined as follows:

 
(i) Statutory homelessness and prevention and relief
(ii) Statutory homelessness
(iii) Statutory provision of temporary accommodation
(iii) Statutory provision of bed and breakfast
(iv) Homelessness prevention and relief

The above data sets are broken down (where required) into the following categories:                
Eligibility, decision, age, family composition, vulnerability & ethnicity.

Figure 26 – GBC Households dealt with under the homelessness provisions of the 1996 
Housing Act (1 October to 31 December 2016):

   
    
    
    

White Black Asia
n

Mixe
d

Othe
r

Ethnicit
y Not 

Stated

Total 
of all 

Ethnic 
Group

s

    (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g)
1. Eligible, unintentionally homeless and in 
priority need
    

5 1 1 0 1 2 10

2. Eligible, homeless and in priority need, but 
intentionally so
    

4 1 0 0 2 4 11

3. Eligible, homeless but not in priority need
    

4 0 1 0 0 4 9

4. Eligible, but not homeless  
    

2 1 0 0 2 0 5

5. Ineligible   
    

3 0 0 0 0 0 3

6. Total decisions (sum of rows 1 to 5 above)
    

18 3 2 0 5 10 38

Figure 27 - GBC decisions on households owed the reapplication duty under s195a:

Page 53



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 28

Note: these decisions should not be included in section E1.

(i) Ineligible    

(ii) Eligible, but not homeless   
(iii) Eligible, homeless but intentionally so  

(iv) Duty Accepted   

(v) Total (sum of rows (i) to (iv) above)  

Figure 28 - Of the acceptances recorded in Section 1 row 1 above, what was the applicant's 
age when accepted as eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need:

1. 16 – 24   
  3  
2. 25 – 44   
  4  

3. 45 – 59   
  3  
4. 60 – 64   
  0  
5. 65 – 74   
  0  
6. 75 & Over   
  0  
7. Total applicant households accepted (sum of 1 to 6, which must 
also equal section E1 cell 1g) 10

Figure 29 -  GBC Applicant households found to be eligible for assistance, unintentionally 
homeless and in priority need during the quarter - analysis by household type:

Lone parent household 
with dependent children One person householdCouple 

with 
dependent 
children* Male 

Applicant
Female 

Applicant* Male Applicant Female 
Applicant

All other 
household 

groups
Total

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g)

5 0 4 0 1 0 10

   Total households, E1c cell g must also equal E1 cell 1g above

Note:  * include expectant mothers with no other dependent children   

Figure 30 – GBC Applicant households found to be eligible for assistance, unintentionally 
homeless and in priority need during the quarter, by priority need category:

1. Applicant who is homeless because of emergency (fire, flood, storms, disaster, etc. ) 

(a)

0

0
0

0

0

Main priority
category

(d)

0

1 child 2 children 3 or more 
children

All 
households

    
(a) (b) (c) (d)
0 9 0 9

Page 54



29

2. Applicant whose household includes dependent children

3. Applicant is, or household includes, a pregnant woman and there are no other dependent children

4. Applicant aged 16 or 17 years old

5. Applicant formerly "in care", and aged 18 to 20 years old

Applicant, or a member of their household is vulnerable as a result of:

6. Old age

7. Physical disability

8. Mental illness or disability

9. Other special reason:

a. Drug dependency  
   
b. Alcohol dependency  
   
c. Former asylum seeker  
   
d. Other (please specify in notes box)

Applicant is vulnerable as a result of:

10. Having been "in care"    
     
11. Having served in HM Forces   
     
12. Having been in custody/on remand   
     
13. Having fled their home because of violence/threat of violence
Of which:     
   a. domestic violence    

14. Total applicant households accepted 

Highlights: Gravesham Borough Council, 1st October to 31st December 2016

26.3% (10/38) applicants were assessed as eligible, unintentionally homeless and in priority need

The greatest proportion of applicants, 40% (4), were aged 25-44

50% (5) were female applicants, 50% (5) were couples with children

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

10

Page 55



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 30

For 90% (9) the main priority reason was dependent children, for 10% (1) it was physical disability

The following data has been provided by Kent County Council’s Homelessness Bulletin:

Context

The data contained within the Homelessness Bulletin referenced in this paper refers to 
homelessness data collated by Kent County Council (KCC) Local Housing Authorities through the 
P1E returns (of which Gravesham Borough Council’s data above is an example). It does not apply 
to Medway. The data relates to quarter 3, 1st July to 30th September 2016. 

Background notes for homelessness data 

The Local Authority where you live will provide help and advice to keep you in your home. In 
addition they also have a legal duty under the Housing Act 1996 to assist you if you have nowhere 
to live. The level of assistance depends upon your status but they will always provide you with 
advice and assistance. 

The full duty is only for those who are: 

 Eligible for assistance in accordance with section 185 of the Housing Act 1996 
 Homeless in accordance with section 175 of the Housing Act 1996. 
 Priority Need (e.g. a family with children, pregnant, vulnerable due to old age, disabilities, 

mental health, care leavers, domestic violence) Section 189 of the Housing Act 1996 
 Intentionality – whether or not someone has done or failed to do something which was a 

deliberate act the consequence of which led to the loss of their home, in accordance with 
section 191 of the Housing Act 1996. 

 Local Connection under Section 193 of the Housing Act 1996 

Kent Local Authority Data

During the quarter Local Housing Authorities in Kent (KCC area) received 1,092 applications for 
housing assistance under the homelessness legislation of the Housing Act 1996 (‘excluding 
ineligible households’). This is 53 (5%) more than the same quarter one year ago when 1,039 of 
the eligible household applications were ‘accepted’. Since 2009 there has been a general upward 
trend in the number of decisions made not only in Kent but also in England. 

Canterbury was the highest district in Kent with 272 ‘accepted’ decisions (of which 154 were 
eligible but not homeless) and, excluding London Boroughs, one of the highest Local Housing 
Authorities in South East England. 

Page 56



31

Figure 31:

Priority need acceptances (main homelessness duty): 

Priority need households are those with dependent children or pregnant, elderly, a disability, 
mental illness, young person or suffering domestic violence. Within the KCC area 320 households 
of the 1,092 were accepted as homeless and in priority need. This is 6 (<2%) less than quarter 3 
one year ago. Where a Local Authority is satisfied that an applicant is eligible for assistance, is in 
priority need and is homeless through no fault of their own, the authority will owe a main 
homelessness duty. Such households are referred to as acceptances. 

Acceptances vary across the county. During the current quarter Maidstone accepted 79 priority 
need households, the highest district in the county. In contrast Gravesham district recorded <5 
priority need households.

To give an indication of relative levels of homelessness in relation to number of households, the 
rate can be calculated. At the end of September 2016; nationally (England) had an estimated 
homelessness rate of 0.64 households in priority need per 1,000. At the local level Ashford (0.67), 
Dover (0.66), Maidstone (1.16) and Medway Unitary (0.98) are above the national average. The 
London Borough of Newham was the highest nationally with an average 2.40 (i.e. 24 priority need 
households in every 10,000 households). 

Page 57



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 32

Figure 32:

Highlights: Local Housing Authorities in the KCC area, 1st July to 30th September 2016

1,092 applications received for housing assistance (this excludes households ineligible for 
assistance) under the homelessness legislation of the Housing Act 1996

This is 5% higher than the corresponding quarter last year with 1,039 applications.

Of the 1,092 decisions made during the quarter:

29% (320) were accepted as ‘homeless and in priority need’

38% were eligible but found not to be homeless

21% were found to be eligible but not in priority need

6% were eligible and in priority need but found to be intentionally homeless

6% (65) of the cases the category was not known

The 320 households accepted as homeless and in priority need is a decrease of less than 2% (6 
households) compared to one year ago

Where a household is accepted the authority must ensure that suitable accommodation and advice 
is available

Page 58



33

At the end of the September qtr, 936 households in Kent (KCC area) were living in temporary 
accommodation

This is 78 households more than the previous qtr and 209 households more than 1 year ago.

Other notable data: 

Clinks and Homelessness Link report in ‘Are the Accommodation Needs Being Met for People in 
Contact with the Criminal Justice System?’ report that: 

32% of rough sleepers contacted in London had been in prison at some point

15% of the prison population were homeless before custody

32% of all households (40% in London) accepted as homeless in England had lost their home 
because an assured shorthold tenancy had ended

User Voice for the National Audit Office (2016) reported that although service users reported that 
services had generally stayed the same or improved since TR, 

42% of respondents said that obtaining help with housing had got worse

Figures from the charity Crisis include: 

39% of homeless people have experienced being sanctioned by the Benefits System

88% of homeless people have previously had a job

The government White Paper ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’ states: 

In 2015, the average home in the South East of England increased in value by £29,000, while the 
average annual pay in the region was just £24,542

The average London home made its owner more than £22 an hour during the working week in 
2015

The Council of Mortgage Lenders predicts that by 2020 only 25% of 30-year-olds will own their own 
home. In contrast, more than 50% of the generation currently approaching retirement were 

homeowners by their 30th birthday

Home ownership among 25- to 34-year-olds has fallen from 59% just over a decade ago to just 37% 
today

Page 59



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 34

Limitations of data

Accommodation status is often only self-reported and not verified. It is suspected that some 
Criminal Justice service users may claim to be of No Fixed Abode to avoid address checks. This 
may be due to range of reasons including mistrust of professionals, avoiding safeguarding 
referrals, avoiding detection of crime or miss claiming of benefits. 

It is also recognised that some housing problems may not be as evident to professionals as rough 
sleeping and therefore the extent of a service users housing problems may be underestimated and 
under recorded. There are also multiple reasons a service user may under report housing issues, 
for example, for fear of Children’s Social Services referrals. 

Clinks and Homeless Link state that obtaining data that accurately reflects the accommodation 
outcomes for people on release from prison remains challenging. In 2014 a joint inspectorate 
report found that the settled accommodation figures are ‘misleading’ as they do not take into 
account the suitability or sustainability of the accommodation. The report went on to highlight that a 
better understanding of current accommodation and education training and employment
outcomes would be beneficial. At present prisons rely heavily on self-reported information from 
offenders at the point of release with no follow-up on longer-term accommodation and education 
training and employment outcomes. The Joint Inspectorate found this to be an ineffective way of 
judging the effectiveness of resettlement services.

Clinks and Homeless Link report that the measure of accommodation outcomes was migrated to 
CRCs who, they cite, have a target of 90% of people leaving prison going to settled 
accommodation. The Clinks and Homeless Link scoping exercise found some confusion about how 
the target figure should be viewed under the new arrangements, with some CRCs reportedly 
seeing the 90% target as aspirational while others say it is a clear target. KSS CRC state there is 
no performance measure on the outcomes at this stage.

According to performance management information published by the Ministry of Justice in October 
2016, the coverage of recording accommodation outcomes across England and Wales is highly 
variable. The report highlights that  ‘due to the issues with data coverage, it is not possible to report 
actual performance’.

Clinks highlights that in the recently published White Paper, ‘Prison Safety and Reform’, 
performance measures or standards will be introduced for prison governors, who will be 
empowered to have greater autonomy over how they commission services to meet the specific 
needs of their population. These performance measures include those relating to work, education 
and housing. The paper outlines that the MoJ ‘will look at the rate of prisoners in suitable 
accommodation on release, compared to before they entered custody, so we can use that 
information to increase the number of offenders that have somewhere to live when they are 
released and track progress.’ To encourage partnership working, a joint outcome measure has 
been introduced for both prisons and probation. Housing, Employment, Training and Educational 
Attainment (HETE) must now be recorded for all offenders at various points of their order or licence 
and whenever there are any changes to the status. 

To enable prison governors to achieve their desired accommodation outcomes, it will be important 
for them to ensure there is effective communication with Local Authorities to ensure the supported 
housing needs of people leaving prison can be met. Clinks highlight that it is also important for the 
MoJ and Her Majesties Prison and Probation Service (HMPPS) to ensure that the metrics used to 

Page 60



35

measure prison effectiveness get much closer to the kinds of transformation needed to support 
lasting change. There is a danger otherwise that the setting of targets, e.g. for settled 
accommodation, will remain very blunt institutional tick-box measures rather than conveying 
meaningful information about the accommodation progress of individuals.

Costs

During the compilation of this paper it has been clear there is a need to establish the full cost of 
housing and homelessness to all relevant agencies. Whilst this needs to be undertaken 
comprehensively in order to establish potential investment and cost savings, some of the key cost 
figures are outlined below. 

Local Authorities

According to 24Housing, 75% of Government housing spend is on Housing Benefit. The 
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) estimate Local Authorities 
expenditure on homelessness in 2010-11 totalled almost £345m. They also cite estimates that 
around £1 billion is spent annually on preventing and dealing with homelessness through 
Supporting People funding, Local Authority provision and other welfare administration.

It is suggested that the government will be providing £61m for Local Housing Authorities to meet 
the costs that will arise from the Homelessness Reduction Bill.  

Homelessness 

The DCLG cite the New Policy Institute’s (2003) estimate of the annual cost of homelessness as 
£24,500 per person and the New Economics Foundation (2008) as estimating the annual cost of 
homelessness as £26,000 per person. 

The Making Every Adult Matter Manifesto (2009) quotes example costs of £24,350 for one 
homeless person in a year with one extreme multiple-needs example reaching £407,500. The 

Page 61



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 36

same report claims that costs in two examples with multiple-needs were reduced from £16,000 to 
£2,700 and £32,000 to £3,000 when stable accommodation and support were in place.   

Supported Housing 

Clinks report that an estimated £4.2 billion is annually spent on supported housing across the UK.

The most comprehensive evaluation of Supporting People, a funding stream for supported housing
introduced in 2003, found that a £1.6 billion investment generated net savings of £3.4 billion to
the public purse. This includes avoiding £315.2 million health costs, £413.6 million costs of crime 
and criminal justice and £96 million costs of homelessness. 

According to the National Housing Federation, the supported and sheltered housing sector, on 
average, saves the taxpayer close to £940 per person every year.

Criminal Justice System

Estimated costs of re-offending are £15 billion per year in the Criminal Justice System alone 
(24housing). For example, according to the DCLG a drug offence conviction is estimated at around 
£16,000.

The House of Commons UK prison statistics estimates the cost of custody in England and Wales 
as £115.76 per day (2014), £125 in Scotland. This equates to a UK average of £43,939 per 
annum. 

Mental and Physical Health  

Health deteriorates the longer individuals sleep rough with rough sleepers experiencing premature 
mortality and increased mental and physical ill health. Unstable housing or homelessness impacts 
upon the ability to register with a GP and access appropriate treatment. The DCLG (2012) 
estimates that approximately 40% of rough sleepers have the multiple concurrent health needs of 
physical illness, mental health problems and substance misuse. 

The Department of Health estimates that homeless people are 3.2 times more likely to be admitted 
to hospital at an estimated cost of £76.2 million per annum. This estimate rises to £85.5 million if 
outpatient appointments and A&E attendance are included. The net cost (i.e. over and above the 
costs for the same number of the general population) is approximately £64 million per annum.

High Rent

The government White Paper ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’ states that high rents are bad 
news for all taxpayers including those who own their own home. If rents are too high, then private 
renters struggle to pay, and the taxpayer has to foot the bill with more Housing Benefit. That is 
money that could be spent on schools, hospitals and other frontline services. 

Housing First

Page 62



37

The Centre for Social Justice (CSJ) has piloted the Housing First approach in Manchester, where 
80% of tenancies have proved to be stable. CSJ reports state that there, the Local Housing 
Authority has saved £2.51 for every £1 invested.

Scope

In asking agencies for their views on the strategic and systemic barriers to service users obtaining 
and maintaining suitable and safe accommodation, Gravesham Borough Council sum this up in 
simple terms as being: 

Cause and effect

Supply and demand

Affordability and cost

In exploring the scope of the strategic and systemic issues the following areas have been further 
identified as root causes of housing and homelessness issues, nationally and in Kent:
 

Housing and Land Markets 

A recent article by 24housing reports that at the Public Accounts Committee Local Government 
Association chairman, Lord Porter, blamed the Treasury for the current housing crisis expressing 
the view that councils have been actively discouraged from building homes whilst also being 
encouraged to transfer out housing stock. Without government overhaul of the system, the housing 
and homelessness crisis cannot be effectively addressed. According to the DCLG the number of 
dwellings owned by Local Authorities has reduced from 3.67 million in April 1994 to 1.61 million in 
April 2016. They report this being due to Right to Buy sales and the large scale voluntary transfer 
of Local Authority stock to Private Registered Providers.   

Page 63



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 38

The government White Paper ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’ explores the strategic and 
systemic barriers to obtaining and sustaining affordable housing. The government’s White Paper 
neatly describes the fundamental issue as ‘the housing market is broken’, with the supply of 
affordable housing remaining the single biggest challenge. This is reflected by third sector 
commentary, for example, Toby Lloyd from Shelter identifies the primary problem faced by housing 
and homelessness as the land market. He argues that availability and price will always be a 
problem without public sector intervention and a mixed market approach (24housing).  

The White Paper describes the housing market in the UK as broken, with the simple cause being 
that for too long, not enough homes have been built. The paper outlines that since the 1970s, there 
have been on average 160,000 new homes each year in England whereas our identified need is 
225,000 to 275,000 or more homes per year to keep up with population growth and start to tackle 
years of under supply.

The White Paper highlights three key problems:

1. Not enough Local Authorities planning for the homes they need
Over 40% of Local Authorities do not have a housing plan that meets the projected growth in 
households in their area. It highlights a significant reason for this is the way local decision-makers 
respond to public attitudes about new housing.

2. House building being too slow
The pace of development is too slow. Reforms have led to a large increase in the number of 
homes being given planning permission. But there is a large gap between permissions granted and 
new homes built. More than a third of new homes that were granted planning permission between 
2010/11 and 2015/16 have yet to be built.

3. A construction industry too reliant on a small number of big players
The very structure of the housing market makes it harder to increase supply. Housing associations 
have been doing well, they are behind around a third of all new housing completed over the past 
five years, but the commercial developers still dominate the market. A handful of very big 
companies are responsible for most new building. Britain’s 10 largest house building firms build 
around 60% of our new private homes.

National Characteristics of Homelessness 

Kent County Council’s Strategic Business Development & Intelligence Unit report that the main 
reason for the loss of a household’s last settled home during the quarter June-September 2016 
was the end of an assured short hold tenancy (32%) (i.e. a tenancy with a private landlord), the 
highest on record. (There was a low of 11% in 2009). 

The second reason given is that parents or friends are no longer able or willing to provide 
accommodation (27%). Other reasons cited were; a relationship breakdown (violent or other 
reasons), which taken together were responsible for 17% of acceptances. Financial problems such 
as mortgage arrears (1%) and rent arrears (3%) are currently not a significant factor and together 
account for 520 households nationwide. 

Nationally, during the quarter ‘priority need’ households (14,930) were: 

 Those with dependent children 69% (52% in 2005) 
 Where a household member is pregnant 6% (12% in 2009) 
 With a mental illness 9% 
 A physical disability 7%
 A further five categories cover the remaining 9% (including young persons 2%)

Page 64



39

Nationally 2,670 foreign national applicants were accepted as homeless between 1st July and 30th 
September 2016, up 2% compared to one year ago (2,620). Of these, 560 were European 
Economic Area (EEA) accession country (A10) nationals, 770 were from other EEA countries and 
1,350 were from outside the EEA. During this quarter foreign nationals accounted for 18% of all 
acceptances. 

Local Authority Housing Registers

For the purpose of fully understanding the issues relating to the role of Local Housing Authorities it 
is helpful to understand their remit and definitions. The KCC Strategic Business Development and 
Intelligence Unit offer the following definitions in their Homelessness Bulletin:

Definition of homelessness: 

The term ‘homelessness’ is often considered to apply only to people ‘sleeping rough’. However, 
most of the statistics on homelessness relate to the statutorily homeless i.e. those households 
which meet specific criteria of priority need set out in legislation, and to whom a homelessness 
duty has been accepted by a Local Authority. 

Such households are rarely homeless in the literal sense of being without a roof over their heads, 
but are more likely to be threatened with the loss of, or are unable to continue with, their current 
accommodation.  

Definition of rough sleepers: 

Rough Sleepers are defined as people who sleep in the open air (such as on the streets, or in 
doorways, parks or bus shelters) or in buildings or other places not designed for habitation (such 
as barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or shelters made from cardboard boxes). 

For information on rough sleepers in England the DCLG has collected annual data on rough 
sleepers since 1998, and publish experimental information and statistics.

Statutory homelessness:
 
Each Local Housing Authority is required to consider housing needs within its area, including the 
needs of homeless households, to whom Local Housing Authorities have a statutory duty to 
provide assistance. 

Housing Acts of 1977, 1985 and 1996, and the Homelessness Act 2002, placed statutory duties on 
Local Housing Authorities to ensure that advice and assistance to households who are homeless 
or threatened with homelessness is available free of charge. A "main homelessness duty" is owed 
where the authority is satisfied that the applicant is eligible for assistance, unintentionally homeless 
and falls within a specified priority need group. Such statutorily homeless households are referred 
to as ‘acceptances’.

Households in priority need:
 
The priority need groups include households with dependent children or a pregnant woman and 
people who are vulnerable in some way e.g. because of mental illness or physical disability. In 
2002 an Order made under the 1996 Act extended the priority need categories to include: 
applicants aged 16 or 17; applicants aged 18 to 20 who were previously in care; applicants 
vulnerable as a result of time spent in care, in custody, or in HM Forces, and applicants vulnerable 
as a result of having to flee their home because of violence or the threat of violence. 

Page 65



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 40

Where a main duty is owed, the authority must ensure that suitable accommodation is available for 
the applicant and his or her household. The duty continues until a settled housing solution 
becomes available for them, or some other circumstance brings the duty to an end. Where 
households are found to be intentionally homeless, or not in priority need, the authority must make 
an assessment of their housing needs and provide advice and assistance to help them find 
accommodation for themselves.

Figure 33:

Households ‘homeless at home’:
 
Household ‘homeless at home’ are those accepted as owed a main duty, or awaiting a decision on 
their application, but able to remain in their existing accommodation for the immediate future. 

Temporary accommodation:
 
Temporary accommodation refers to those households in accommodation arranged by Local 
Housing Authorities pending enquiries or after being accepted as homeless awaiting re-housing. 
This can include bed and breakfast hotels, self-contained annexe style units, hostels/women’s 
refuges, Local Authority and Registered Social Landlord stock and leased private sector stock. 

Clinks and Homeless Link draw attention to reports by the Prison Reform Trust, outlining how 
hostel or other temporary accommodation can present particular challenges for people in contact 
with the CJS and place them at risk of future offending behaviour. This is particularly true for 
people who experience substance misuse issues and have begun to detox in prison, as other 
hostel clients may be actively using substances. Few hostels are specifically for people who are 
abstinent from drugs and alcohol. 

Women also experience unique challenges, and as hostels are often unable to provide gender-
specific support, women can feel unsafe and at risk. In some cases this can lead to them to sleep 
rough or re-offend.

Page 66



41

Figure 34:

Figure 35:

Page 67



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 42

Figure 36:

Figure 37:

Page 68



43

Decisions:
 
Refer to decisions taken in respect of all eligible households that apply for assistance under the 
Housing and Homelessness Acts. These do not therefore include households found to be ineligible 
for assistance (some persons from abroad are ineligible for assistance). 

Acceptances:
 
A main ‘homelessness duty’ is owed where the Local Authority is satisfied that the applicant is 
eligible for assistance, unintentionally homeless and falls within a specified priority need group. 
Such statutorily homeless households are referred to as ‘acceptances’. These households are 
consequently owed a main homelessness duty by a local housing authority which continues until a 
settled housing solution becomes available or circumstances bring the duty to an end.

Challenges to CJS Service Users 

A recurring issue at present posing a significant issue to NPS service users in particular, is the 
policy of many Local Housing Authorities deeming individuals ‘too high risk’ to be placed on the 
Housing Register. The assessed risk of serious harm may be towards specific individuals or in 
specific circumstances but Local Housing Authorities deem this risk of serious harm as too great to 
place them in emergency or longer term accommodation. Risk Management Plans do not seem to 
be taken into consideration by some Local Housing Authorities who view ‘high risk’ as 
unmanageable despite the robust plans in place. KSS CRC report instances where this has been 
extended to the exclusion of individuals assessed as presenting a medium risk of harm with only 
‘low risk’ individuals given consideration for social housing.

A further issue arises when CJS service users are accepted onto the Housing Register but are 
assessed as ‘low priority’. Service users may not be equipped to understand the minutiae of detail 
surrounding bidding for a property or what their rights are or how they achieve a better points score 

Page 69



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 44

on the Housing Register. KSS CRC note that their cohort is normally young single males who tend 
to fall to the bottom of the housing priority lists. NACRO and Centra’s Housing Brokerage Service 
report that the majority of the service users they work with who are regarded as ‘homeless or at 
risk of’ are street homeless or sofa surfing and are often denied assistance under the priority need 
banner by the Local Authority. Whilst CJS professionals understand and accept that Local Housing 
Authorities provide services to the whole community, and must adhere to local and national 
prioritisation policy, this remains a challenge to be managed by the professionals and the individual 
involved.   

Furthermore, NACRO and Centra raise the problem that Local Housing Authorities have frequently 
reduced or removed their own housing stock, relying on Housing Associations to provide beds, this 
has reduced the number of available beds and therefore forced Local Housing Authorities to 
tighten up referral criteria. KSS CRC add that due to the continuing reduction of Local Authority 
housing stock, Housing Associations are putting increasingly strict conditions upon whom they 
deem suitable for housing. Furthermore, the housing stock that is available is often of poor quality 
and in an area where service users have previously offended and used illicit substances meaning 
that, even if referral criteria is met, to place them there may jeopardise their rehabilitation.

London Borough Placements

It has been noted by the multi-agency Margate Task Force and across CJS agencies there are an 
increasing number of families or individuals housed in deprived areas such as Margate by London 
Boroughs. The primary incentive appears to be cost saving where Local Housing Authorities in 
high rent areas can save money by placing service users in areas with lower rent costs, in turn 
saturating the housing market. This not only reduces the available housing but poses a number of 
other complex challenges to all of our agencies. 

The most difficult areas overall seem to be Margate due to the number of London Boroughs 
accommodating people there and in turn saturating the housing market and Tunbridge Wells due 
to the cost of private rented accommodation being so high.

The Localism Act 2011 allows Local Housing Authorities to place homeless households into private 
rented sector and places a re-application duty on them if a household becomes unintentionally 
homeless again within two years. The DCLG has collected quarterly figures from Local Housing 
Authorities on the operation of this new duty from 2013.

Intentional Homelessness

Clinks and Homeless Link highlight concerns about the impact of ‘intentional homelessness’ stating 
that in England, for a Local Authority to have a duty to house someone they must be vulnerable, in 
priority need and be assessed as unintentionally homeless. In Wales the Local Authority is not 
required to test for intentionality. Some Local Authorities reportedly find people to be intentionally 
homeless by virtue of them committing a crime or breaching a Court Order in the knowledge that 
this could result in spending time in custody, which could result in the loss of the home. This is 
more likely to be the case when offending is linked to accommodation, for example through Anti-
Social Behaviour at a property. 

So called ‘intentional homelessness’ has long been cited as a key problem in Kent faced by those 
who have been convicted of a criminal offence. Many Kent Local Housing Authorities deem a 
person to have made themselves intentionally homeless though the commission of a criminal 
offence. The offence does not have to have been committed in the accommodation, nor does the 
person have to be serving a prison sentence in order for this exclusion to apply. One of the 
greatest frustrations to Offender Managers is when they know that being homeless is increasing 

Page 70



45

the service user’s risk of re-offending or the risk of causing serious harm and yet they are excluded 
from Local Housing Authority support due to making themselves intentionally homeless by virtue of 
their offending. This exclusion is at odds with the priority need category of being vulnerable due to 
time spent in custody. If this person does not have sufficient support needs to be eligible for 
Supported Housing they have few other routes out of homelessness to explore.

Case example: 

DB was subject to Licence for two years. Thanet District Council deemed her intentionally 
homeless due to her offending. Prior to this she built up rent arrears of approximately £1500 and 
failed to keep her Council accommodation in good condition. She appealed the decision but was 
unsuccessful. Therefore her only option was to seek private rented accommodation, which proved 
to be virtually impossible due to needing a rent guarantor. DB completed her Licence without re-
offending but remained technically homeless throughout, staying with fellow service users and 
unfortunately, relapsing into substance misuse. (KSS CRC)

Mike Barrett, CEO Porchlight, argues that in order to address the systemic housing issues in Kent, 
the ex-offender protocol needs to address the Kent wide approach to re-housing ex-offenders. He 
states that currently it is to deem them intentionally homeless, thereby making it impossible to 
access secure accommodation or even temporary accommodation. This creates two main 
problems, it increases the chances of the individual re-offending and it increases the likelihood of 
that person ending up on the streets. This inevitably leads to re-arrests if they are out on licence or 
charged with a related offence under the Vagrancy Act or a breach of the peace.

NACRO and Centra report that ‘intentional homelessness’ is a huge problem for prison leavers 
reporting that 9/10 Local Housing Authorities refusing prison leavers as priority need unless there 
are evident and diagnosed health needs, and even if this is the case, rejection is often the end 
outcome. 

Local Connection

Proving a local connection, or presenting an argument for acceptance despite no local connection, 
is a particular issue for CJS service users. Clinks have highlighted this problem to the DCLG. Local 
Authorities are required to determine whether someone has a local connection to that area before 
they start to process any housing application. Someone is defined as having a local connection if 
they already live there, have close family living there or if they work in that area. Pathways to 
Independence highlight that Local Authorities across Kent all have different local connection 
criteria and, due to the transient nature of clients’ lifestyles or imprisonment, clients often fall foul of 
being able to secure accommodation through Kent Homechoice or may be accepted by the Local 
Authority then refused by Housing Associations on the basis of offending history or affordability.

Furthermore, during Clinks’ consultation with members they said that for some people in contact 
with the CJS, returning to the area they lived in before prison is not appropriate, safe and in some 
cases can lead them to re-offend. It is important that service users are consulted when 
resettlement decisions are taking place. Further to this, a report by the Prison Reform Trust and 
Women in Prison shows that as women are often imprisoned considerable distances from the 
community they lived in, it can be challenging for them to both liaise with the relevant housing 
organisations and meet eligibility criteria.

Feedback from Local Authorities

Page 71



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 46

Whilst raising concerns about some Local Housing Authority decisions it is important to highlight 
the problems they also face with CJS service users. Feedback from Three Rivers Council, 
Hertfordshire (during an NPS SEE Accommodation Workshop)  highlighted the following issues as 
challenges for Local Housing Authorities:  

 A shortage of accommodation for all
 Conflicting priority groups, e.g. disabilities, mental health, social services etc.
 Unwillingness of landlords to take on CJS service users
 Lack of funds for private rented
 Reduction in housing related support for supported accommodation
 Housing being involved at ‘the last minute’
 Reliance on Housing Associations

The Benefit System

The charity Crisis states, ‘recent reforms to the benefit system are causing homelessness and 
making it harder for homeless people to get back on their feet’.

Crisis identifies a number of key issues resulting in homelessness or making it more difficult to 
move on from homelessness including the recent changes to Housing Benefit, the introduction of 
Universal Credit, the imposition of Benefit Sanctions and inadequate employment, training and 
education support for homeless people.  Crisis highlights concerns that Universal Credit will restrict 
18 to 21 years olds from claiming the housing element of the benefit. 

The Policy Briefing, ‘Housing Support for 18-21 year olds’, outlines the intention to tackle ‘youth 
unemployment and dependency on the social security system,’ including proposals to remove 
automatic entitlement to housing support for 18 to 21-year-olds in order ‘to prevent young people 
slipping straight into a life on benefits’. However, it should be noted that in relation to CJS service 
users, there will be exceptions including those subject to custodial sentences or on remand, those 
in structured drug or alcohol treatment or those subject to MAPPA. 

Clinks and Homeless Links report that the extension of the Shared Accommodation Rate (SAR) of 
Housing Benefit to everyone up to 35 years old has made it increasingly difficult for people to find 
affordable and appropriate accommodation. The roll out of Universal Credit is also beginning to 
have an impact. One of the key elements of Universal Credit is monthly payments paid to the 
claimant, rather than to the landlord. Many landlords are therefore concerned about taking on 
tenants they may perceive to be at high-risk of non-payment. This also puts people who may need 
support in managing their money at risk of falling into arrears and losing their home. Recent 
research suggests that 86% of council tenants in receipt of Universal Credit are in arrears.

NACRO and Centra report that the ongoing changes to the benefits system have huge implications 
on the housing situation, primarily because landlords have developed a reluctance to accept 
tenants who are claiming benefits. The recent change in benefits means people under 22 cannot 
be referred directly to youth forums and now have to go to the council to make a claim for Housing 
Benefit. NACRO and Centra note they have found that in a lot of cases the individuals will be 
advised to return home and live with their parents and will not be able to claim. 

A presentation to the NPS SEE Accommodation Workshop by Three Rivers Council, Hertfordshire 
explained the impact of the Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016. The Act introduced the benefit cap 
of £20k per household. It introduced a four year freeze on some benefits including Local Housing 
Allowance and also implemented the ‘shared room rate’ for under 35s in the social housing sector. 
These benefit caps are greatly impacting on service users who may fail to understand implications.

Page 72



47

Case example: 

One young family of 8 with a disabled child and a new-born baby are facing eviction due to the 
benefits cap and the family’s lack of understanding about their change in benefits and 
responsibilities regarding rent. Their house is unsuitable and overcrowded but they cannot bid on 
properties while they are in arrears, which they cannot afford to pay. The council will still be 
supporting them financially in terms of temporary accommodation due to being a priority need if 
they are evicted, but have refused discretionary payment. It seems therefore a purposeless waste 
of money to move them to possibly more expensive and unsuitable accommodation and to split the 
family up which will increase strain on parents. They have recently been referred to Early Help but 
it seems the parents should have been identified as in need of support at an earlier time by the 
Local Authority accommodation provider which may have resulted in a better outcome for family 
and in terms of financial waste. (KSS CRC)

 
As noted by Kelie Williams, Family Support Worker, Porchlight, delays in ex-offenders obtaining 
income through the benefit system may also increase the likelihood of the person re-offending.

Private Renting

The cost of private renting is often too great for some CJS service users to even consider. In 
addition to the cost of the rent, prospective tenants are frequently required to pay several hundred 
pounds in referencing fees and holding deposits to even be considered for a property. The 
referencing process often screens out CJS service users on the basis of their previous convictions. 
Others may be required to provide a guarantor to cover the rent if they are unable to pay, this may 
not be an option for those without employed and supportive family members willing to agree to this. 
Taking these costs into consideration, in addition to a deposit and rent in advance, prospective 
tenants may require several thousand pounds in order to able to secure a private rented property. 
They then need to ensure they can pay the rental costs, even if eligible for Housing Benefit ,a ‘top 
up’ payment is often required which can be very difficult to find in light of the benefit cap. This is 
particularly challenging in high cost areas of Kent such as Tunbridge Wells. Summed up by KSS 
CRC, ‘private rented – too expensive’. 
Furthermore, as highlighted by KSS CRC, private landlords are often very reluctant to offer a 
tenancy to an individual who may have a chaotic social history resulting through substance misuse, 
poor mental health and/or offending behaviour. KSS CRC report knowledge of only three private 
landlords who will accept benefit claimants, two in Dover and one in Margate. NACRO and Centra 
and Clinks and Homeless Link all highlight a lack of private landlords willing to take on their client 
group and/or individuals claiming Housing Benefit, in addition where they do locate willing 
landlords they tend to require large deposits which their client group often do not have access to.

Some Local Housing Authority schemes do run rent deposit schemes, though KSS CRC note that 
ability and eligibility to access these is inconsistent across the county.

The White Paper ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’ also identifies concerns that in areas where 
the housing shortage is most acute, high demand and low supply is creating opportunities for 
exploitation and abuse: unreasonable letting agents’ fees, unfair terms in leases and landlords 
letting out dangerous, overcrowded properties. In short, it’s becoming harder to rent a safe, secure 
property. And more and more people cannot find a place to rent at all, the loss of a private sector 
tenancy is now the most common cause of homelessness.

Figure 38:

Page 73



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 48

Furthermore, the Policy Briefing, ‘Housing Support for 18-21 year olds’ highlights concerns that the 
Universal Credit restrictions may create a ‘catch 22’ situation for many young people. The ‘catch 
22’ is created by landlords being unwilling to give young people a tenancy because they cannot 
provide proof of income (e.g. proof of entitlement to housing support), but unable to claim housing 
support as they have no tenancy and therefore cannot provide any evidence of rent liability (e.g. a 
tenancy agreement).

This is a particular issue for those young people who do not have an obvious exemption and will 
not be automatically entitled to housing support when they make their initial claim, but rather 
subject to an interview at the Jobcentre Plus to prove their need.

Under current Housing Benefit arrangements, claimants are able to access a pre-tenancy 
assessment from Local Authorities to prove their entitlement to support, however, officials have 
stated this is not possible within the Universal Credit system. YMCA are currently progressing this 
issue with the relevant Minister and officials at DWP.

Added to this is the problem accessing shared accommodation for under 35s whose Local Housing
Allowance only covers a room in shared accommodation and the reluctance of some
of the older people within this age group to share with people they don’t know (Clinks and 
Homeless Link).

Pathways to Independence highlight this issue of private sector accommodation being impacted 
upon by welfare benefit changes. The amount of accommodation available (in line with Housing 
Benefit eligibility) has reduced dramatically with single/shared units having been reduced. Many 
landlords now won’t accept individuals reliant on the welfare state or without a guarantor. The 
result is that many clients with serious offending histories (or problematic behaviours) are in danger 
of being excluded from the different stages of accommodation through which they would have 
historically travelled on release from prison. 

Karen Fleet, Head of Homelessness Services, Porchlight highlights the importance of early 
referrals to support services in order to secure private rented accommodation. She raises the issue 
that access to the private rented sector is particularly challenging for offenders in custody as they 
are unable to view properties in advance of being released and may have to rely on a support 
worker viewing the property on their behalf. Karen Fleet also states it has been identified that there 
is a significant lack of accommodation available for those released from prison in the North/West of 
Kent. Furthermore, she adds that short custodial sentences cause breaks in tenancy and can 

Page 74



49

create a break down in support networks. This will often set the ex-offender back significantly in 
their progress and may put them at risk of homelessness if they are unable to keep their 
accommodation during the sentence and return to it on release. 

Supported Housing

Homeless Link describe supported housing as any housing scheme where housing, support and 
sometimes care services are provided to help people to live as independently as possible. 
Supported housing is an umbrella term applied to a wide range of accommodation with 
individualised support for vulnerable people. There is a wide range of supported housing schemes 
provide support for people who are homeless, or have learning disabilities, people living with 
mental illness, or who are recovering from substance misuse, and those who have spent their 
childhood in care, are fleeing domestic violence, or who are elderly and need extra support to live 
independently. Supported housing schemes work with people for as long as they need support, 
whether that is a matter of days or years. This can include support with health needs, including 
mental health and drug and alcohol use, managing benefits and debt, developing daily living skills 
and accessing education, training and employment.

Funding for supported housing has two components: housing costs (rent and eligible service 
charges) and the cost of the support provided, such as staff, keyworkers, and day to day support
activities. The Government’s current proposals only relate to the housing costs, presently paid 
entirely through the benefits system. However, funding needs to be considered holistically to 
ensure that appropriate funding is in place for the sector in the future.

Housing costs are paid via Housing Benefit, as supported housing is currently exempt from 
Universal Credit. Costs are higher than in other forms of social housing, for reasons including the 
costs of maintaining communal spaces, higher levels of wear and tear or the need to have 
enhanced security measures in certain properties. This is currently recognised through an 
enhanced rate of Housing Benefit paid to people who live in supported housing. The total amount 
of Housing Benefit spent on supported housing is estimated at £4.12 billion per year.

Support costs are usually funded through the Local Authority, with other sources including NHS or 
grant funding. In 2003, the Supporting People (SP) programme was introduced to fund support 
costs in supported housing. This was a central Government grant administered at a Local Authority 
level through a ring-fenced funding pot. However, the ring-fence was removed in 2009 and it is has 
become difficult to track spending on support costs in supported housing. Since 2009, the National 
Audit Office estimates that funding for housing-related support (previously SP) has reduced by 
45%, between 2010/11 and 2014/15.11 Current reports of Local Authorities making further 
substantial cuts to housing-related support budgets are concerning.

Homeless Link highlight the pressing question of the implication of the current housing related 
support/ supporting people and care responsibilities; all sit with upper-tier authorities, while 
homelessness responsibilities and Housing Benefit sit with lower-tier authorities.  

Clinks and Homeless Link draw attention to concerns regarding the future funding of supported 
housing. There is also uncertainty for the homelessness and wider supported housing sector due 
to proposed changes to how these services will be funded from April 2019. The DCLG and DWP 
are currently consulting on the plans. It is proposed that core rent and service charges will be paid 
up to the Local Housing Allowance rate through Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, with Local 
Authorities receiving additional ring-fenced funding to top-up this rate where necessary, given the 
additional costs of supported housing. An alternative model is being developed for short-term 
accommodation services. Rents in the supported housing sector are also subject to an annual 1% 
rent reduction from April 2017. The Government’s plans must be seen in the context that supported 
housing has lost a significant amount of investment and access to these services is increasingly

Page 75



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 50

limited, with a current shortfall of 16,692 places.

Homeless Link raise concerns that from April 2019, the Government is proposing that rents and 
service charges in supported housing will be paid via Universal Credit, or Housing Benefit 
(depending on Universal Credit roll-out), up to the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rate only. The 
LHA rate is linked to the local private rental market and is capped at the 30th percentile of rental 
costs. This varies from £69.73 per week in Hull and East Riding to £260.64 per week in Inner North 
London. The average cost of supported housing is £173 a week, although this varies significantly 
by type of service and resident group. This is the first time the LHA cap will be applied to supported 
housing. Under Universal Credit rules, housing costs will be paid to the resident, rather than the 
landlord as is currently the case with Housing Benefit. It is proposed that any shortfall between the 
LHA rate and the housing costs will be met from a local ring-fenced top-up fund, administered by 
Local Authorities. It is currently unclear how the size of the pot will be determined for each Local 
Authority. There are also concerns about different types of services being in competition for 
funding at a local level, potentially leading to particular groups missing out.

The National Housing Federation state that Housing Associations must factor this into their future 
planning now; meaning schemes are no longer viable so are being cancelled and delayed. If the 
cap remains unchanged, we know that from April 2018:

 156,000 units of existing supported and sheltered housing in the sector will have to close – 
41% of all existing schemes. 

 80% of the total existing development pipeline will remain un-developed – over 9,270 
specialist homes. 

 Almost a quarter (24%) of supported housing providers told us that all of their supported 
and sheltered units were at risk of becoming unviable and closing. 

The charities also raise concern that Local Authorities are removing funding for specialist services
for people who have offended, partly due to a misconception that equivalent services will be 
offered by CRCs. However, stakeholders also highlighted that this reflects pressure on Local 
Authority budgets and a lack of available housing in some areas.

Pathways to Independence raise concern that changes in funding priorities don’t obviously include 
those with serious offending histories. Funding priorities target issues (such as mental health) 
which are evident within the offending cohort, but individual agencies funded to provide services 
often preclude those with specific convictions (serious violent including murder, arson, sexual 
offences as examples) which mean that those cohorts will find it harder to access agencies for 
support/housing. Pathways to Independence has, traditionally, taken those clients who have been 
excluded from other agencies either through their own extreme behaviour or due to restrictions in 
eligibility criteria. Those same clients are rejected through every process of supported housing 
through to independent accommodation.

Karen Fleet, Head of Homelessness Services, Porchlight, emphasizes that it needs to be 
recognised that information, advice and guidance for referrals to supported accommodation (and 
private rental sector) should be offered to offenders while they are still in prison and at an earlier 
stage than it is currently.  Earlier intervention will help to reduce the risk of homelessness as 
support workers will have more time to source appropriate accommodation prior to release.

Supported Housing in Kent provides an invaluable service to CJS service users however, securing 
a suitable placement remains an ongoing challenge. KSS CRC report length of licence to be a 
barrier in some examples, and in others only accepting cases assessed as presenting a low risk of 

Page 76



51

serious harm. In the East of the county KSS CRC note a lack of suitable supported 
accommodation for Service Users with multiple needs who just cannot maintain a tenancy. 

In respect of refusals due to the service users being ‘too high risk’ Pathways to Independence have 
responded stating that there are few high risk referrals that come through to Pathways that senior 
management would not have a willingness to work with as the funds are simply not available to 
provide the 24hr and/or additional staffing which they feel would be required, particularly on 
release from prison or direct from Approved Premises when they are still relatively untested in a 
more relaxed environment in the community. That is primarily the reason that Pathways to 
Independence has to refuse some high risk service users.

Pathways to Independence also note that they have had a history of close involvement with Multi 
Agency Public Protection (MAPPA) panels that unfortunately dwindled at the time NACRO secured 
the Accommodation Aid and Advice (AAA) tender in 2013. Historically, senior management would 
attend many MAPPA panels months in advance of prison release for Level 2s and 3s. By being 
involved so closely, it better enabled the charity to be prepared for release and willing to offer 
accommodation. Pathways to Independence would be keen to re-establish that close link with the 
panels. 

NACRO and Centra’s Housing Brokerage Scheme state that referrals in to Supported Housing 
have become extremely difficult due to increasingly long waiting lists (70-100+) with most providers 
and two of the Supported Housing providers used in the past are now only accepting referrals from 
the Local Authority, who tend to argue that prison leavers have made themselves intentionally 
homeless and community cases are not priority need. NACRO and Centra describe the supported 
housing market as ‘saturated’ and highlight that while funding continues to decrease, people with 
high need are often placed together creating chaotic environments, and those with medium to low 
need are placed in accommodation with little or no support.

Figure 39 – Supported Housing Example Costs from Pathways to Independence:

KENT SERVICES COSTS PER PERSON

Rent (pw)
Compulsory Service Charge 

*(pw)

Average (pw) £135.37 £6.49

Figure 40 – Supported Housing Individual Example Costs from Pathways to Independence:

INDIVIDUAL EXAMPLE

Housing Benefit Information (pw)
Core Rent £85.26  

Eligible Housing Service Charge £122.08  

Personal Service Charge £7.85 Ineligible for HB

Support Charge £102.98 Ineligible for HB

Total Liability of Resident £318.17  

Page 77



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 52

Total Eligible for Housing 
Benefit               £207.34 £207.34

(payable in full if client in receipt of standard 
JobSeekers Allowance level of income or lower)

Figure 41 – Supported Housing KCC Example Costs from Pathways to Independence:

AVERAGE KCC SUPPORT (PW PER PROPERTY)
AVERAGE PER PERSON/

PER WEEK

£677.26 £110.49

Resources 

Asides from cuts to core services, additional services for those suffering housing or homelessness 
issues has also faced cuts. For example, the provision of resources for rough sleepers varies 
across the county. There are mixed reports of whether a lack of resources for rough sleepers 
deters them from particular areas. For example, it is reported there are no homeless hostels or 
night shelters in the Swale area at all with local provision only available through an emergency 
protocol in ‘severe weather’ not for general cold weather. 

Case example: 

Service users DA and TB were sent to Medway, an area where they have no local connections, 
because there was no suitable temporary accommodation in the Swale area. Both have mental 
health problems and both had been made homeless following a bereavement, whereby they were 
unable to stay at the property following the death of a close relative who had been supporting 
them. Concerns were made over DA’s mental health and ability to cope when moved away to an 
unfamiliar area and the response from the Council Housing Officer was ‘all the homeless people 
have mental health problems’ therefore this could not be taken into account. DA chose to sleep 
rough on many occasions instead of stay at the allocated B&B because of the other residents and 
feeling unsafe. He expressed frustration he is not allowed to be at the hostel during the daytime 
and therefore has to walk around all day. TB is an 18 year old boy with behavioural problems, sent 
alone after losing a parent to a different area. (KSS CRC)

KSS CRC currently commission a Kent Housing Brokerage Service covering 7 community and 4 
prison areas; Medway, Gravesend, Maidstone, Tunbridge Wells, Sittingbourne, Ashford (covering 
Folkestone and Canterbury), Margate, HMP Elmley, HMP Stanford Hill , HMP Rochester and HMP 
East Sutton Park. The contract employs 10 staff, the equivalent of 4 FTE in the community and 3.5 
FTE in custody plus 1 FT manager. 

The Kent Housing Brokerage Service was commissioned by the KSS CRC to provide support and 
assistance to service users regarding their housing situation. The contract is delivered by NACRO, 
in partnership with Centra who provide the community provision. In custody referrals are made by 
KSS CRC and the service is accessible to anyone serving in the 4 prisons within which it operates, 
in the community referrals are received from CRC Responsible Officer’s throughout Kent. The 
service has mixed feedback with some managers describing it as a slow process with long waiting 
lists. 

At this time there has been mixed advice as to whether the NPS can refer into the service. NACRO 
and Centra state they do not work with high risk offenders and their service is not currently 
available to NPS service users. However, there has been suggestions this service could be made 

Page 78



53

available to the NPS through the Rate Card. At the SEE Accommodation Workshop, Steve-
Johnson Proctor, SEE NPS Deputy Director, highlighted the problem that Transforming 
Rehabilitation promised CRC housing support services, yet in many areas this has not come to 
fruition almost 3 years later. Steve Johnson-Proctor raises the issue that the NPS have lost the 
freedom to commission locally as was the case prior to Transforming Rehabilitation.    

Through the Gate

Due to the Transforming Rehabilitation reforms, CRCs are now responsible for providing 
resettlement services to prisoners in the last three months of their sentence. According to the 
Target Operating Model published by the Ministry of Justice, resettlement services ‘must include 
providing direct support in custody in helping offenders find accommodation, providing assistance 
with retaining employment held pre-custody and gaining employment or training opportunities post-
release. CRCs can also choose to deliver additional resettlement services in pursuance of 
payment by results. However, Clinks and Homelessness Link report that the extent to which they 
are choosing to do this is currently unclear. It is also unclear as to whether these additional 
services include any education, training or employment support. It is also noted that early reports 
regarding ‘Through the Gate’ services are ‘disappointing’ (24housing).

This was reflected during discussion at the NPS SEE Accommodation Workshop where Deputy 
Director Steve Johnson-Proctor noted that whilst all prisoners should be able to access the five 
core services of Through the Gate, that the commission mechanism is not established in non-
resettlement prisons with part of the problem being the upfront funding mechanism verses 
performance.   

Clinks and Homeless Link report some positive feedback about the implementation of the Basic 
Custody Screening Tool part 2 (BCST 2), conducted by the CRC within five days of the initial 
screening tool being completed by prison staff. For all sentenced prisoners, the resettlement plan 
should be reviewed 12 weeks before release. During the last 12 weeks of someone’s sentence, 
CRCs are required to take action on the resettlement plan developed on the basis of the BCST 2. 
The systematic application of BSCT 2 by the CRCs is reported to be seen by many stakeholders 
as a good opportunity for early intervention such as tenancy rescue and managed tenancy ends, 
which can prevent arrears, and issues such as properties being taken over. 

The BCST 2 also represents an opportunity for early planning, including managing the
expectations of people leaving prison in terms of their housing options, which are often very
limited. However, stakeholders did express some concerns with the BCST 2 as it relies on self 
disclosure. Some people, especially those on short-term sentences, may be reluctant to fully
disclose their housing situation due to a fear that their Employment and Support Allowance
(ESA) will be stopped. Further to this, people may have accommodation in place for their release
but their situation may change before they are released, which the BCST 2 may not record. From 
the perspective of Porchlight, Kelie Williams, Family Support Worker outlines the difficulties of 
working with prisoners prior to release where a release date is not known, even when they have 
been assessed and referred in a timely manner. 

Approved Premises

It is important to note that Approved Premises are designed to manage the risk of serious harm 
presented by individuals, not to serve as accommodation. The recent report by Clinks and 
Homeless Link report the common misconception from some stakeholders who expressed belief 
that accommodation provision for those under supervision of the NPS was often easier to secure, 
claiming those without stable accommodation to return to are placed into Approved Premises to 
serve the remainder of their sentence. This is incorrect and concerning. 

Page 79



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 54

During Clinks and Homeless Links scoping exercise, concern was raised by one interviewee that 
when Approved Premises are full, high to medium risk people are sometimes placed in temporary 
accommodation which is unsuitable for their level of risk. It is important to note that where 
Approved Premises placements are assessed as required but not available, that individual 
continues to face all of the issues outlined in this paper in obtaining accommodation, temporary or 
otherwise. Indeed, in numerous cases, service users assessed as presenting a high risk of serious 
harm are managed of No Fixed Abode, in some instances, rough sleeping. 

Clinks and Homeless Link also identify that  women service users experience unique challenges in 
relation to Approved Premises. Stakeholders in both the Midlands and the North East said it is 
harder for probation to find Approved Premises for women who are sometimes placed far from 
their local area, which makes it harder for them to access the services they are familiar with and 
have contact with friends and family.

Steve Johnson-Proctor, Deputy Director for the NPS SEE division, notes that the SEE has the 
lowest proportion of Approved Premises places in the country, with the exception of Wales. In the 
recent NPS SEE Accommodation Workshop he stated that no Approved Premises has been 
opened for 40 years and it has been identified there is a need for at least 10 new Approved 
Premises nationally. In Kent our Approved Premises has achieved an increase from 26 to 31 beds 
in the past year, yet waiting lists remain around 6 months long.   

Service User Issues

Motivation to secure and maintain appropriate accommodation and attitude toward CJS 
professionals can present barriers to assessing and addressing accommodation issues. Service 
users may be reluctant to divulge the details of where they are living or staying for a wide range of 
issues. Some may have developed an inherent mistrust of professionals due to poor experiences 
or through the influence pro-criminal family and friends. Some fear the intrusion of professionals 
into theirs and their families lives; some with cause, others without. Some are concerned about 
impact on others Housing Benefit or tenancies. 

Case example:

DT is a prolific domestic abuse perpetrator who has been subject to repeat short custodial 
sentences and periods of Post Sentence Supervision. We are now on the third round of recall and 
re-release due to his refusal to supply probation with the address he is residing. DT does not 
present as a rough sleeper, he reports staying with friends who have not given him permission to 
disclose their address. It is suspected DT’s deceit may be due to hiding contact with women and 
children to whom he presents a risk of serious harm. We face the further accommodation 
challenges that DT also presents a risk of serious harm to those he suspects have committed a 
sexual offence excluding him from a number of providers, including most Approved Premises. 
(NPS) 

There are a number of service users who are just not ready to engage to secure appropriate 
housing and these people need to be supported and guided through sequenced interventions to 
develop their motivation and life skills. KSS CRC report that Floating Support from Kent County 
Council will offer a maximum support of one year, however, for a long term chaotic individual this is 
a very modest amount of time to be supported. 

Page 80



55

Chaotic lifestyles, particularly for substance misusers, present a challenge to professionals in 
terms of appointment attendance. A missed or late appointment with an accommodation provider 
may result in the referral before closed. In addition, as highlighted by the KSS CRC, the 
rehabilitation pathways now being offered by the substance misuse treatment providers more rigid 
than in previous times. If a service user misses prescribing appointments they may be refused a 
script for several weeks. They may then feel they have no choice but to re-offend and use their 
income to fund their drug habit therefore not paying their rent and placing their accommodation at 
risk. Substance misusers often also have mental health issues and therefore suffer from dual 
diagnosis and CJS professionals receive very little specialist advice on how to manage this.

Case example: 

HV was subject to Licence for one year. Thanet Council refused to offer any accommodation 
support due to HV ‘trashing’ accommodation when it was provided. HV had numerous mental 
health issues, extreme learning difficulties and as such was unable to cope living alone. She could 
not cook, clean or maintain any form of accommodation without resorting to making ‘dirty protests’ 
when she ‘didn’t like it’. Whilst on licence the service user remained homeless and slept in tents 
and in shop doorways. HV remained unsupported by mental health services due to her transient 
lifestyle, formally undiagnosed due to her inability to comply with appointments. She was supported 
by The Gap project in Broadstairs and by a Learning Disability Social worker. (KSS CRC)

Developing and maintaining the ability to obtain and run a home and to sustain a tenancy is a 
challenge to some CJS service users. Some may never have run a home before and others may 
have been in custody for a long period where many aspects of society have changed. We have 
recently seen an example in the NPS where a service user was provided with a one-bedroom self-
contained property but with no support or information about how to furnish and equip it, how to 
claim benefits or how to manage household chores or budget. Other may have the residual skills to 
manage their own accommodation but fail to apply their skills and experience due to mental health 
issues and/or substance misuse. These issues have been emphasised as a particular problem for 
those service users managed under Integrated Offender Management (IOM) due to the nature of 
their histories and lifestyles. 

Kelie Williams, Porchlight Family Support Worker, highlights the challenge of finding 
accommodation for those service users who have committed specific offences which restrict where 
they can be housed due to their bail or licence conditions; for instance a hostel near to a school or 
nursery may be inappropriate if the offender has committed an offence against a child. In addition, 
complications arise when offences such as arson have been committed, again limiting the 
accommodation options available. Offenders with an arson convictions are notoriously difficult to 
house as many housing providers will automatically exclude them due to insurance restrictions as 
well as concerns about risks to others.  Anti-social behaviour exhibited by a tenant is an 
undesirable management challenge for any accommodation provider. Unfortunately some of our 
CJS service users will have a history of poor behaviour and may need a bespoke Risk 
Management Plan to address this. Training to be a ‘Good Neighbour’ has successfully been 
delivered in some areas. 

A history of eviction can be extremely difficult for CJS service users to overcome in persuading any 
accommodation provider to offer a second chance. Specialist support is required in order to assist 
individuals to appropriately explain and address their history when applying for accommodation.
Furthermore, Kelie Williams raises the issue that ex-offenders often have to accept an 
accommodation offer, regardless of whether it is a significant distance from any support networks 
they may have and, if it is, this could lead to a break down in support. As a result, re-offending 

Page 81



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 56

becomes a risk. She notes that it can also be extremely demoralising for many ex-offenders when 
they are placed in accommodation where their children are unable to visit them.

Young People

Whilst this report has largely focused on the issues facing adult CJS service users it is vital to 
recognise and address the specific issues facing young people. Claire Williams, Head of Youth and 
Family Services, Porchlight highlights that young people who leave prison often have no structure 
in place for when they leave and therefore frequently return to what they know and end up re-
offending again, perpetuating the cycle that led them to initially entering prison. Claire Williams 
argues that more work needs to be done with young people before they leave prison; this should 
involve examining past behaviours, what support worked well, what didn't, where they want to get 
to, what do they want to achieve in the future. Their families need to be involved in the discussions 
to better understand the young person’s situation. Support should be offered around their housing, 
training, employment and social time and these plans need to be put in place prior to release.

In Claire William’s view a multi-agency approach to meet the young person’s needs, will ensure 
comprehensive support is available and so this should be prioritised. Referrals to housing 
providers need to be made or mediation needs to be completed with the family to help the young 
person to return home.  She highlights that when people are released from custody they may move 
completely out of area and this can cause problems when trying to include the family in their 
support planning. Barriers may include travel and organising the on-going support for when the 
young person is housed. Claire Williams also notes the challenges for a staff member to know 
what is available in terms of support provision in areas where they do not work.

Ageing Offender Population

An ageing offender population presents particular challenges in relation to housing and 
homelessness. Recoop, Resettlement and Care for Older Ex-Offenders and Prisoners, states that 
older people are the fastest growing section of the CJS service user population with an increase in 
146% of prisoners aged 60 or over (2014). Recoop define older offenders as those aged 50 or 
over, particularly because they are more likely to suffer with health and other difficulties. They 
highlight one of the key issues being no specific national policies in relation the particular needs of 
this group. 

According to Recoop, the likelihood of having accommodation on release from custody decreases 
the older a prisoner is. They cite that in 2010-11 the proportion of positive accommodation 
outcomes on release from custody were lower for those aged 50-59 (81%) and 60+ (79%) than the 
average 86%. 

The challenge for many older CJS service users and the professionals working with them, is they 
are often excluded from general population accommodation services on the basis of risk or 
behaviour. However, specialist high risk placements, such as Approved Premises, cannot cater 
with the health and care needs they may have. CJS professionals are often faced with a hopeless 
situation whereby a high risk service users with complex physical and mental care needs is of No 
Fixed Abode. In this instance recall to custody has to reluctantly be considered.       

Family and Friends

The vast proportion of CJS service users currently registered as of ‘No Fixed Abode’ are heavily 
reliant on family and friends to accommodate and support them. In some instances this means 
residing or spending time with pro-criminal associates where substance misuse may be 
exacerbated. Sofa surfing or temporary residence in houses of multiple occupancy can lead to 

Page 82



57

further crime and anti-social behaviour. This can lead to a situation where service users are 
located in a small geographic area together in poor quality housing in areas of high deprivation, 
with easy access to illicit drugs.

In other circumstances it may result in individuals rotating between the homes of friends and family 
until they have outstayed their welcome. For many people, providing accommodation and support 
for a homeless friend or family member can lead to emotional, financial and practical pressures 
which may result in deterioration of their own accommodation stability. There are examples of this 
situation impacting upon current NPS service users supporting their own family members. 
Ultimately, these pressures, in conjunction with challenging behaviour, may lead to the person 
being asked to leave the accommodation.     

Cuckooing

It is to be noted that some vulnerable service users who have successfully secured and maintained 
accommodation may be at risk of ‘cuckooing’, whereby their homes are effectively taken over by 
more sophisticated criminals who use their home as a base to deal drugs and commit crime. It is 
essential that all professionals working with vulnerable service users are alert to the signs of 
cuckooing and take prompt intervention.   

Expectations of Probation Services

Probation is not, nor ever has been, a housing provider, yet it seems to be falling more and more 
upon both the CRC and NPS to source accommodation.

Police, NPS and prisons are Responsible Authorities for Multi Agency Public Protection 
Arrangements (MAPPA). Despite the fact that accommodation is frequently discussed as a critical 
area of risk of serious harm, these agencies are not housing specialists, nor have access to 
housing stock. The MAPPA Guidance does state that the Local Housing Authority and Registered 
Social Landlords have a Duty to Cooperate with the Responsible Authorities in assessing and 
managing risk. However, the Guidance is also clear that this co-operation goes as far as is 
consistent with the exercise of their other statutory functions. 

In Kent a MAPPA Housing Panel has been formed to attempt to provide multi-agency housing 
coordination in respect of the most complex MAPPA cases. Whilst it has had some limited 
success, some of the most complex and challenging cases remain stubbornly difficult to secure 
support for.  

Whilst in some cases, Offender Managers have adequate notice of release dates to plan for 
accommodation work, it is of note that in many cases Offender Managers are faced with crisis 
management accommodation work where a service users reports as homeless unexpectedly 
having lost their accommodation. This results in a ‘firefighting’ approach where all efforts are made 
to try and secure some form of accommodation. Frequently, even with sufficient planning, all 
routes are exhausted without success and the Offender Manager is trying to manage the risks 
presented whilst the service users is in the community of No Fixed Abode. It is not uncommon for 
either such situation to lead to a recall to custody.  For many years accommodation has been cited 
by Offender Managers as the single most stressful element of their role. 

Summary

It is imperative to note that it is the combination of the above factors, national, local and personal,  
that collide to impact so severely upon CJS service users in obtaining and maintaining safe 

Page 83



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 58

accommodation. Steve Johnson Proctor, Deputy Director, SEE NPS, framed the problem as the 
combination of Government policy, housing investment, public opinion and the NPS 
Accommodation Strategy. Whilst frustrations and despair can run deep when faced with such a 
range of strategic and systemic barriers, there are potential solutions and local actions that can 
address this situation with full multi-agency engagement and support. 

Solutions

The Homelessness Reduction Act

The Homelessness Reduction Act is expected to come into force in April 2018. The Act will require 
earlier intervention by Local Housing Authorities to prevent homelessness to all affected, not just 
those protected under existing laws. The Act defines the meaning of threatened homelessness, 
states the duty to provide advisory services, to assess eligible applicants’ cases and agree a plan. 
It makes clear the duties to those who are homeless or threatened with homelessness and covers 
failure to co-operate by an applicant for assistance. Local connection is also clarified. The Act also 
covers reviews of Local Housing Authority decisions, duty on public authorities in England to refer 
cases and codes of practice. The following excerpt highlights the requirement of Local Housing 
Authorities to design a service designed to meet the needs of CJA service users leaving custody:

179 Duty of local housing authority in England to provide advisory services:

(1) Each Local Housing Authority in England must provide or secure the provision of a service, 
available free of charge to any person in the authority’s district, providing information and advice 
on—

(a) preventing homelessness,
(b) securing accommodation when homeless,
(c) the rights of persons who are homeless or threatened with homelessness, and the 
duties of the authority, under this Part,
(d) any help that is available from the authority or anyone else, whether under this Part or 
otherwise, for persons in the authority’s district who are homeless or may become 
homeless (whether or not they are threatened with homelessness), and
(e) how to access that help.

(2) The service must be designed to meet the needs of persons in the authority’s district including, 
in particular, the needs of—

(a) persons released from prison or youth detention accommodation,
(b) care leavers,
(c) former members of the regular armed forces,
(d) victims of domestic abuse,
(e) persons leaving hospital,
(f) persons suffering from a mental illness or impairment, and
(g) any other group that the authority identify as being at particular risk of homelessness in 
the authority’s district.

Duties to persons becoming homeless intentionally make reference to the assessment of the 
applicant’s case. However, it remains unclear at this stage if this will turn the tide of Local Housing 
Authorities deeming CJS service users ineligible due to their criminal behaviour resulting in 
intentional homelessness.
 
In practice this means that Local Housing Authorities will be required to start assessing those at 
risk of being made homeless 56 days before losing their home, rather than the current requirement 

Page 84



59

of 28 days. However, Local Housing Authorities have raised concerns about the cost implications 
as the wider factors discussed above. It is suggested that the government will be providing £61m 
for Local Housing Authorities to meet the costs that will arise from the Homelessness Reduction 
Act.  

The White Paper: ‘Fixing Our Broken Housing Market’

The government White Paper proposes three key solutions to try and ‘fix’ the housing market: 

1. Plan for the right homes in the right places

This is critical to the success of our modern industrial strategy. Growing businesses need a skilled 
workforce living nearby, and employees should be able to move easily to where jobs are without 
being forced into long commutes. The government intend to consult on a new standard 
methodology for Local Housing Authorities to calculate ‘objectively assessed need’, and encourage 
councils to plan on this basis. The government will also insist that every area has an up-to-date 
housing plan and will increase transparency around land ownership, so it is clear where land is 
available for housing and where individuals or organisations are buying land but not building on it. 

2. Build homes faster

The White Paper outlines plans to invest in making the planning system more open and 
accessible, and tackle unnecessary delays. It makes clear that development is about more than 
just building homes. Communities need roads, rail links, schools, shops, GP surgeries, parks, 
playgrounds and a sustainable natural environment. Without the right infrastructure, no new 
community will thrive and no existing community will welcome new housing if it places further strain 
on already stretched local resources.  The government intend to give councils and developers the 
tools they need to build more swiftly, and expect them to use them. Local Authorities should not put 
up with applicants who secure planning permission but don’t use it. 

3. Diversify the housing market

The White Paper outlines intention to open up the housing market up to smaller builders and those 
who embrace innovative and efficient methods. They set out how they will support Housing 
Associations to build more, explore options to encourage Local Authorities to build again, 
encourage institutional investment in the private rented sector and promote more modular and 
factory built homes. They also claim they will make it easier for people who want to build their own 
homes.

4. Helping people now

The White paper outlines the following intentions to address the immediate housing and 
homelessness crisis:   

 Continuing to support people to buy their own home through Help to Buy & Starter Homes
 Helping households who are priced out of the market to afford a decent home that is right 

for them through our investment in the Affordable Homes Programme
 Making renting fairer for tenants
 Taking action to promote transparency and fairness for the growing number of leaseholders

Page 85



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 60

 Improving neighbourhoods by continuing to crack down on empty homes, and supporting 
areas most affected by second homes

 Encouraging the development of housing that meets the needs of our future population
 Helping the most vulnerable who need support with their housing, developing a sustainable 

and workable approach to funding supported housing in the future
 Doing more to prevent homelessness by supporting households at risk before they reach 

crisis point as well as reducing rough sleeping

The Benefit System

The charity Crisis states they are working to ensure the benefit system provides a safety net to 
prevent people becoming homeless, including aim to ensure benefits cover housing costs in all 
parts of the UK. 

The National Housing Federation (NHF) argues that within a secure and sustainable future funding 
model they believe that actual rents and eligible services charges for supported and sheltered 
housing should be funded via Universal Credit or Pension Credit for those of pensionable age.

The NHF presents that the key elements of this approach would be: 

 Actual rents and eligible service charges funded via the benefits system through either 
Universal Credit or Pension Credit depending on the claimants age 

 A new definition and set of criteria should be developed to clarify which housing should be 
eligible for enhanced payments, as a minimum this should include housing currently 
defined as ‘specified’ 

 All providers seeking enhanced benefit payments above those available in general needs 
housing should be required to register with a national regulatory body 

 There would not be any caps on funding available through the benefit system but a system 
of ‘flags’ would identify potentially excessive costs for closer scrutiny by a specialist 
supported housing team within Universal Credit 

 Eligible service charges within Universal Credit are more restrictive than the current 
approach. Any ‘people-focused’ housing management costs, if no longer eligible for 
benefits funding, should be met via funding for support services 

 The default setting for payment of the housing element of Universal Credit claimants living 
in supported housing should be for it to paid direct to the landlord 

 The threat of the LHA cap must be removed from the supported and sheltered sector 

The NHF states that the reason they are calling for actual rents and eligible service charges via the 
benefits system is because their members have reported that any new funding approach must give 
them certainty around the income stream for housing costs to give residents confidence that their 
home is secure and enable providers to invest in new and existing services. 

The NHF believe that the only way this can be done is by continuing to fund actual rents and 
eligible service charges through either Universal Credit or Pension Credit. This is essential to 
ensuring that they can leverage the private finance required to invest in new development.

There are concerns about payment of housing costs direct to claimants within Universal Credit. 
NHF report they have been working with the Department for Work and Pensions to develop the 
concept of ‘trusted partner’ status whereby social landlords can indicate that a Universal Credit 
claimant may be vulnerable and would benefit from payment of rent direct to the landlord. They 
would want to see this approach mirrored within supported housing where, because of the nature 

Page 86



61

of the client group, they would anticipate a high proportion of benefit payments made directly to the 
landlord.

The NHF recognises that Universal Credit is a wholly different approach from Housing Benefit and 
it is not possible to simply import supported housing as it stands into Universal Credit. To feel 
confident that it can pay actual rents and service charges within a largely automated Universal 
Credit system the Department for Work and Pensions will need mechanisms to assess which 
providers are eligible for benefits above general needs levels and assess which properties are 
eligible for benefits above general needs levels. 

Converted Shipping Container Accommodation

Converted shipping container accommodation has been successful in Amsterdam for more than a 
decade and use is expanding worldwide. They are fast to install, low cost and easy to move or to 
re-purpose. The Guardian reports that Brighton Housing Trust funded the installation of 36 
shipping container homes on a former scrap metal yard at a cost of approximately £25,000 per 
container. These are rented at £650 per month to ’tenancy ready’ people. Claire Jones and Steve 
Peel, KSS CRC, visited Brighton, where they learnt the project did not accept any applications until 
the applicant had proven they completed some form of drug rehabilitation. This may be connected 
with anti-social behaviour complaints which occurred after the project opened.

Social Impact Bonds (SIBs)

Kent County Council (KCC) have been successful in their Social Impact Bond application to the 
DCLG Homelessness Prevention Fund. This SIB aims to support entrenched rough sleepers in 
East Kent. The overarching aim for the jointly commissioned entrenched rough sleeper programme 
is to improve outcomes for entrenched rough sleepers who have spent a lengthy spell in the 
homelessness system, which may include recurring periods of bouncing between the streets and 
un-sustained accommodation.  Initial intelligence has shown there are up to 155 rough sleepers in 
the East Kent catchment area. KCC expect to see a significant number of people supported.

The programme will operate on a payment-by-results basis, with funding spanning four years; the 
first outcome payments are expected to be made in December 2017 and the final payments in 
September 2020. KCC is the contracting authority for the Entrenched Rough Sleeper Social Impact 
Bond programme. The DCLG is the authority providing the outcomes payments, via KCC to the 
provider.

It should be noted that the provider of the service is expected to work with a proportion of the 
cohort according to the principles of ‘Housing First’, as described below. However, current 
feedback indicates the funding is insufficient to achieve this. The service outcomes are focussed 
on accommodation, mental health, substance misuse and education, training and employment. 

Housing First

The Guardian reports that following successful trials in the UK and abroad, the government is 
planning to tackle rough sleeping by placing homeless people in permanent housing before they 
have conquered problems such as alcohol abuse, drug addiction and mental illness. In what is 
described as ‘a revolution in policy’, upfront investment would be made in housing places for rough 
sleepers with troubled lives. Communities Secretary Sajid Javid told the Observer he was keen to 
examine the scheme, under which people are placed straight into permanent homes with access to 
healthcare and employment, training and education.

Page 87

https://www.theguardian.com/politics/sajid-javid


V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 62

The approach, known as ‘Housing First’, turns the ‘treatment first’ policy around and works on the 
assumption that people make most progress sorting out their lives once in a stable home, rather 
than a hostel or shared temporary accommodation. Homeless Link summarise Housing First as an 
evidence-based approach to successfully supporting homeless people with high needs and 
histories of entrenched or repeat homelessness to live in their own homes. It has been widely 
adopted across the US, is central to the national homelessness strategies in Canada, Denmark, 
Finland and France, and is growing in popularity in countries including Italy, Sweden, Spain and, 
increasingly, the UK. Successful Housing First pilots are operating in Newcastle, London, the 
Midlands, Greater Manchester, on the South Coast and in Wales and Scotland.

Homeless Link’s summary of Housing First principles in England: 

People have a right to a home. This means: 

• Housing First prioritises access to housing as quickly as possible

• Eligibility for housing is not contingent on any conditions other than willingness to maintain a 
tenancy

• The housing provided is based on suitability (stability, choice, affordability, quality, community 
integration) rather than the type of housing

• The individual will not lose their housing if they disengage or no longer require the support

• The individual will be given their own tenancy agreement

Flexible support is provided for as long as it is needed. This means:

• Providers commit to long-term offers of support which do not have a fixed end date; recovery 
takes time and varies by individual needs, characteristics and experiences

• The service is designed for flexibility of support with procedures in place for high/low intensity 
support provision and for cases that are ‘dormant’

• Support is provided for the individual to transition away from Housing First if this is a positive 
choice for them

• The support links with relevant services across sectors that help to meet the full range of an 
individual’s needs

• There are clear pathways into, and out of, the Housing First service 

Housing and support are separated. This means: 

• Support is available to help people maintain a tenancy and to address any other needs they 
identify

• An individual’s housing is not conditional on them engaging with support

• The choices they make about their support do not affect their housing

• The offer of support stays with the person – if the tenancy fails, the individual is supported to 
acquire and maintain a new home

Individuals have choice and control. This means that they:

Page 88

https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2014/oct/20/housing-first-the-counterintuitive-method-for-solving-urban-homelessness


63

• Choose the type of housing they have and its location within reason as defined by the context. 
(This should be scattered site, self-contained accommodation, unless an individual expresses a 
preference for living in shared housing)

• Have the choice, where possible, about where they live

• Have the option not to engage with other services as long as there is regular contact with the 
Housing First team

• Choose where, when and how support is provided by the Housing First team

• Are supported through person-centred planning and are given the lead to shape the support they 
receive. Goals are not set by the service provider.

The service is based on people’s strengths, goals and aspirations. This means:

• Services are underpinned by a philosophy that there is always a possibility for positive change 
and improved health and wellbeing, relationships and community and/or economic integration

• Individuals are supported to identify their strengths and goals

• Individuals are supported to develop the knowledge and skills they need to achieve their goals

• Individuals are supported to develop increased self-esteem, self-worth and confidence, and to 
integrate into their local community

An active engagement approach is used. This means:

• Staff are responsible for proactively engaging their clients; making the service fit the individual 
instead of trying to make the individual fit the service

• Caseloads are small allowing staff to be persistent and proactive in their approach, doing 
‘whatever it takes’ and not giving up or closing the case when engagement is low

• Support is provided for as long as each client requires it

• The team continues to engage and support the individual if they lose their home or leave their 
home temporarily.

A harm reduction approach is used. This means:

• People are supported holistically

• Staff support individuals who use substances to reduce immediate and ongoing harm to their 
health

• Staff aim to support individuals who self-harm to undertake practices which minimise risk of 
greater harm

• Staff aim to support individuals to undertake practices that reduce harm and promote recovery in 
other areas of physical and mental health and wellbeing

According to The Guardian, in Finland, between 2008 and 2015, around 2,500 new dwellings were 
built for homeless people, supported by teams of trained advisers, with the effect of dramatically 

Page 89



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 64

reducing homeless numbers and securing the vast majority in stable tenancies. It has also been 
piloted in Manchester, where 80% of tenancies have proved to be stable. There, it is estimated that 
the Local Authority has saved £2.51 for every £1 invested.

A major report by the think-tank Centre for Social Justice (CSJ) is now recommending this 
approach as a way to tackle rough sleeping and homelessness in the UK.

The CSJ is calling on the government to adopt Housing First nationwide by investing £110m to 
secure homes in the private rented sector for those who have suffered recurrent homelessness, 
and to provide wraparound care and advice once they are housed. It argues that the scheme 
would pay for itself within three years by cutting the costs of remedial treatment, which often has 
little positive effect. Homeless people currently have to progress through different types of hostel 
and shared accommodation, where they must show they have undergone treatment for their 
problems before being awarded a tenancy. But the CSJ says that approach should be ‘flipped’, 
with the first priority being the provision of a permanent home.

The CSJ report states: ‘Housing First prioritises rapid access to a stable home for someone, from 
which they can then begin to address other support needs through coordinated wraparound 
support and case management. Importantly, someone does not have to prove that they are 
‘housing ready’ to access permanent housing and there is no requirement to engage in support 
services to continue to maintain a tenancy.’

Holistic Approach

It is clear from the research and data available that the accommodation crisis for CJS service users 
cannot be resolved in silo. It is not solely an accommodation problem but a social one and 
therefore can only be successfully resolved through a holistic approach. The full assessment of 
each CJS service user at the point of entry into services should identify the key issues related to 
offending and harm. In order to address the accommodation crisis it is imperative the issues linked 
with obtaining and maintaining accommodation are immediately highlighted and addressed in the 
supervision plan. Regardless of whether the individual is in custody or in the community the 
available services should then be sequenced and delivered in order to prioritise securing and 
stabilising safe housing. 

For example, Swale put in place a multi-agency protocol; Swale Multi-Agency Professionals 
Meeting: Homeless, Complex, and Multiple Needs Offenders, which is an information sharing and 
joint working protocol between: HMP Elmley, Kent Police, Swale Housing Department, Swale 
Community Safety Team, KSS CRC and Kent NPS.

Following a number of serious incident investigations in the Swale area, from 1st June 2016 HMP 
Elmley, Kent Police, Swale Borough Council Housing Services, Swale Community Safety Team, 
KSS CRC and the NPS started holding professional meetings to share information on service 
users who are presenting as homeless with complex and multiple needs, and who are not 
supported within any other multi-agency framework.  This forum was designed to enable Police, 
Prison, Housing, CSP, CRC and NPS staff to make a contemporary and holistic assessment of the 
individual’s presenting needs, and agree a plan of action to mitigate identified risks and support 
successful community integration.  This multi-agency forum abides by the Kent and Medway 
Information Sharing Agreement used by public authorities and public service organisations 
operating within Kent and Medway, including services in the voluntary and private sector. 
 
The principles underlying this protocol are to ensure that sufficient information is shared between 
identified key agencies on homeless service users presenting with complex and multiple needs, to 
agree an effective multi-agency action plan.  It ensures that current issues of risk of significant 

Page 90

https://www.theguardian.com/society/housing
https://www.theguardian.com/cities/2014/oct/20/housing-first-the-counterintuitive-method-for-solving-urban-homelessness


65

harm and need relevant to service users are identified and shared with other partnerships and 
agencies in order to support effective decision making and swift referral processes.

It should be noted this forum may need review to ensure it remains operational.

The multi-agency SEE NPS Accommodation Workshop held in November 2016 identified a 
number of opportunities for the future:

 A referral protocol/pathways
 Adult offenders accommodation programme
 Joint Housing Protocol
 Nomination rights for schemes (multi-agency)
 Partnership and building local relationships
 The implementation of the Homeless Reduction Bill
 Sharing good practice
 Utilising Care Act Assessments
 Linking in with Local Housing Authority commissioning
 Focus on different groups, e.g. sex offenders with learning difficulties, elderly offenders 
 Developing work with Community Safety Partnerships 

It is recommended that these national and regional developments are monitored closely to ensure 
integration with locally developed action plans.  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessments

Clinks highlights the role of Joint Strategic Needs Assessments (JSNAs) in addressing housing 
and homelessness issues for CJS service users. JSNAs look at the current and future health and 
social care needs of the local community, these are needs that could be met by the Local 
Authority, Clinical Commissioning Groups or the NHS Commissioning Board. Under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, Local Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups have equal and joint 
duties to prepare JSNAs through Health and Wellbeing Boards.

Clinks recommends that the relevant Local Authority housing lead is represented on the Health 
and Wellbeing Board to ensure the housing needs of the community are identified. JSNAs should 
consider, ‘how needs may be harder to meet for those in disadvantaged areas or vulnerable 
groups who experience inequalities’. It is positive that some of these groups are specifically 
highlighted as including people who are experiencing multiple needs and/or have a conviction. 
However, these groups act as a guide and JSNAs are not required to explore the needs of these 
populations. 

Clinks recommends that JSNAs include a specific focus on the needs of people with convictions 
and those who experience multiple and complex needs. This will ensure JSNAs can be a useful 
tool for determining supported housing needs.

Making Every Adult Matter

Consideration could be given to widespread adoption of the principles of the Making Every Adult 
Matter (MEAM) Approach. Clinks is a member of the MEAM coalition, alongside Homeless Link 
and Mind. MEAM currently supports 27 areas across the country to improve local responses for 
people experiencing multiple needs. Fifteen of these areas are using the MEAM Approach, a non-
prescriptive framework to help local areas design and deliver better coordinated services.

Page 91



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 66

Although each MEAM Approach area delivers differently, all bring together a partnership of
voluntary and statutory agencies that commit to designing a coordinated and flexible response for
people experiencing multiple and complex needs. In many MEAM Approach areas, for instance
Sunderland and Basingstoke, the partnership is led by the housing department of the Local
Authority, and has helped them to create strong strategic and operational links with other agencies.

Communication and Training 

Clinks and Homeless Link note that during their scoping exercise for the report into 
accommodation for CJS service users, it was highlighted that due to the implementation of 
Transforming Rehabilitation, some stakeholders reported disruption and confusion about the new 
probation landscape and the roles and responsibilities of each organisation. They state that it is 
essential that CRCs and the NPS work to develop and maintain positive relationships between 
themselves and Local Authorities, including Housing Options Teams, to ensure that there is firstly 
a clear understanding about each partner’s responsibilities and secondly to promote positive 
accommodation outcomes for their service users.

To ensure appropriate accommodation outcomes have the best chance of being achieved for 
people in contact with the CJS, it is important that this issue is resolved. Clinks and Homeless 
Links suggest this could be done through the creation of an accommodation strategy, developed in 
partnership with the Ministry of Justice, Department of Communities and Local Government and 
the Department of Work and Pensions.

In the course of compiling this paper it has become clear there remains a high level of confusion 
both locally and nationally regarding the current Criminal Justice System and the role and remit of 
probation staff in addressing housing and homelessness problems. An open source search 
immediately revealed a wealth of inaccurate or misleading information suggesting that ‘your 
Probation Officer can help you find accommodation’ with many sources still citing a prison 
sentence of 12 month or more as the qualifying criteria. The development and implementation of a 
multi-agency Kent communication and training strategy might be considered to address this issue.      

Prison Interventions

When a service user arrives in custody they should be assessed for and placed in suitable services 
such as substance misuse treatment and mental health services. Release plans need to be 
ascertained in a timely manner allowing sufficient time to be assessed for suitability. Where it is 
known that the individual does not have appropriate accommodation to be released to they should 
be referred promptly to the appropriate resettlement service such as Through the Gate, NACRO or 
other accommodation providers that work in prisons. 

Clinks and Homeless Link highlighted some good practice during their scoping exercise. A 
‘departure lounge’ has been developed at HMP Durham, within the prison visitor centre, for people 
released from HMP Durham within the Durham Tees Valley area. This provides an opportunity for 
the CRC to meet with their client immediately after release. The departure lounge has been 
developed in partnership with local agencies such as Durham Food and Clothes Bank, Drug and 
Alcohol Action Teams and Nepacs. The Through the Gate team provide an appointment card 
listing all of the client’s appointments and issue an all-day bus pass. The departure lounge also 
provides a place for the families of those being released to meet them. This model could be further 
explored by Kent prisons.

Page 92



67

Prison Estates

Glyn Robbins (housing worker and campaigner) argues for prison land in London to remain in 
public ownership and to be redeveloped into genuinely affordable homes. The government 
announced the closure of Holloway women’s prison in 2015. Robbins notes that the 10-acre site 
now stands empty in the borough of Islington which, despite the media stereotypes, is the tenth 
most deprived in England. He cites that there are 20,000 households on the housing waiting list 
and 880 families in temporary accommodation. Robbins argues that building hundreds of 
‘genuinely affordable’ homes on the Holloway site is recommended. Instead, the government has 
appointed a property agent with a view to selling-off this valuable public asset to private 
developers.

In Glyn Robbins article ‘A Prison Break from the Housing Crisis’, he expands that this case has 
implications beyond north London. The government has embarked on a programme of closing 
inner-city prisons, freeing-up land where thousands of homes could be built. But once that land is 
privatised, the chances of it being used for public benefit evaporate. He fears that an opportunity to 
reduce housing need could be missed at Holloway, as has happened elsewhere. He reports that 
Jeremy Corbyn, supports the development of a community plan to include the maximum possible 
number of social rented homes, alongside social facilities and a women’s building to honour the 
history of the place where the suffragettes were imprisoned.  

Using public land to address the housing crisis goes beyond former prisons. The New Economics 
Foundation (NEF) has identified ten plots around the UK where 4,631 homes could be built. But 
the NEF has also found that when public land is developed, only 20% of the homes are genuinely 
affordable. Glyn Robbins states, ‘this gets to the heart of the housing crisis’.

Tenancy Sustainment Programme

There is a clear need for the delivery of tenancy sustainment and ‘good neighbour’ programmes 
both in the community and in custody. During the scoping exercise conducted by Clinks and 
Homeless Link, respondents were keen to express that providing training opportunities, to improve 
and demonstrate tenancy and independent living skills for people leaving prison, would assist them 
to access housing and demonstrate that they could be a ‘good tenant’. There are such 
programmes available and it is recommended these are reviewed for suitability and then re-rolled 
and promoted both in the community and in custody. 

Subsidised Tenancies

A KSS CRC manager has proposed subsidised tenancies as a potential solution for IOM service 
users (though it could be expanded to other CJS service users), suggesting an agreement with an 
accommodation provider who would provide a tenancy and additional wraparound support. It is 
also suggested this be supported by volunteers who specifically work with the IOM cohort who can 
also give them support and ensure they keep their appointments, sign on for their benefits or 
attend required employment training.

A challenge to accommodation providers is that these types of tenancies incur additional costs. 
One suggested solution is to subsidise tenancies through funding in order to pay accommodation 
providers to install CCTV and to pay for the additional tenancy support packages. Suggested 
commissioners include Community Safety Partnerships, Police and Crime Commissioner and 
Local Housing Authorities, though this is not an exclusive list.

Page 93

https://www.theguardian.com/society/2015/nov/28/closure-of-holloway-womens-prison-revolution
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-34763339
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-34763339
http://www.islingtongazette.co.uk/news/politics/jeremy_corbyn_holloway_prison_site_is_our_biggest_opportunity_to_help_solve_housing_crisis_1_4793759
https://www.crimeandjustice.org.uk/project/justice-matters-community-plan-holloway
http://neweconomics.org/2016/11/putting-people-in-control-of-public-land/
http://neweconomics.org/2016/11/putting-people-in-control-of-public-land/


V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 68

A further suggestion from a former KSS CRC staff member is the consideration of 24 or 48 hour 
tenancies to address the issue of those service users who are not tenancy ready due to multiple 
complex issues. The tenancy could be reviewed on a rolling basis, withdrawn if necessary and 
reinstated with service user agreement. This would provide the opportunity for service users to 
build their skills and experience in managing a tenancy whilst note permanently excluding them on 
the basis of poor behaviour. 

Local Authority Housing Policy Review

All Local Housing Authorities are required to publish a Homelessness Strategy that is supported by 
a review of activity in their area (some Kent districts have joint Strategies). In addition they also 
publish a Housing Strategy for their area. These documents are available through the Local 
Authority websites. 

Clinks recommend that each Local Authority develop a multi-agency housing strategy. Local 
Authorities should clearly define vulnerable groups to include people with a conviction and stop 
excluding CJS service users from support on the basis of intentional homelessness due to a 
criminal conviction. This could be restricted to those cases where the criminal activity has directly 
led to the withdrawal of the accommodation, e.g. cultivation of cannabis in the home. Local 
Housing Authorities should also consider accepting individuals assessed as presenting a high or 
medium risk of serious harm if provided with a robust Risk Management Plan outlining how the 
person’s behaviour and risks will be managed.

They also recommend to the DCLG that future funding models should be designed to enable 
flexibility and encourage reciprocal relationships between Local Housing Authorities that will enable 
people who have offended to receive housing support from a Local Housing Authority where they 
do not have a local connection if assessed as necessary.

Furthermore, Clinks and Homeless Link raise the importance of inter-agency relationships as a 
critical factor in addressing housing and homelessness for CJS service users. When someone is 
leaving prison with ‘No Fixed Abode’ they generally need to attend a meeting with the Housing 
Options team, based in the Local Authority, to get advice or to be assessed under homelessness 
legislation. In areas covered by the research (except Wales) there are not yet strong strategic or 
operational links between the Local Authority Housing Options Teams and the NPS or CRCs, they 
were considered to be ‘embryonic’. 

One notable exception to this is in Wales due to the implementation of ‘the pathway’, which is 
designed to support Local Housing Authorities, Youth Offending Teams, the NPS and the Wales 
CRC to carry out their new responsibilities, providing services to people due to leave the secure 
estate. The pathway aims to bridge the gap between the Housing (Wales) Act 2014 and the 
Offender Rehabilitation Act 2015, supporting prisoners to access appropriate accommodation on 
release.

During the Clinks and Homeless Link scoping exercise, some stakeholders reported that accessing 
Housing Options teams has become increasingly challenging. Stakeholders said that some Local 
Housing Authorities require people to make an online application for homeless services which 
serves as a huge barrier for people leaving prison, as access to the internet in prisons can be 
challenging or even completely unavailable.

Some stakeholders said that advocacy and even legal advice is required for service users to get an 
adequate service when meeting with some Housing Options teams. Further to this, stakeholders 
said that in many cases it is not possible to undertake link work with Housing Options until 
someone leaves prison. Not knowing if and where accommodation will be provided can be a 

Page 94



69

source of stress and anxiety for prisoners and also impact on planning for other services and 
interventions.

However, the Clinks and Homeless Link scoping exercise did highlight some areas of good 
practice. For example, in Stockton on Tees the Local Authority works flexibly to undertake work 
with individuals before they leave prison. They also do not assess intentionality before providing 
temporary accommodation. Some Housing Options teams have specialist workers working with 
people in contact with the CJS. For example, Tower Hamlets has a specialist worker based in 
probation services who sees people under supervision.

In light of these findings, actions to further develop strategic and operational links between CJS 
agencies and Local Housing Authorities in Kent are highly recommended. 

Supported Housing

Questions about the future of funding for supported housing remain a concern. In November 2016 
the government announced a consultation on future funding models for supported housing. For the 
purpose of this paper I have reviewed the consultation responses from Clinks and Homeless Link.

Clinks emphasise the importance of supported housing providers and their clients being fully 
informed about the changes to the funding for supported housing and how this is likely to impact 
them and their services. Clinks recommend that DCLG and DWP provide up to date and frequent 
guidance to supported housing providers, and work in partnership with them to promote accessible 
guidance to their service users. In a response to the DCLG consultation Clinks state that as the 
intention is for DCLG to devolve top-up funding to providers, it is essential that this is supported by 
clear strategy, accountability framework and guidance to support Local Housing Authorities 
undertaking their new commissioning responsibilities.

During Clinks consultation, members supported the development of a national commissioning 
framework for supported housing. It is suggested that the framework should enable and encourage 
co-commissioning arrangements to facilitate partnership working across different sectors, including 
health and CJS agencies. This should help ensure that the multiple and complex needs of people 
requiring supported housing are met. If a national commissioning framework is established, it is 
essential that this is done in partnership with other government departments, including the Ministry 
of Justice (MoJ).

During Clinks consultation, members said that longer term contracts would give organisations
greater certainty and the stability to enable them to develop their services to most appropriately
meet the needs of their clients. However, to ensure that smaller, voluntary sector organisations
are able to deliver services, Clinks recommends that grant funding should be used to fund 
innovative, untested services, to allow for continuous development of the evidence base.

To encourage market diversity, and ensure that smaller organisations are able to take part in the 
commissioning and procurement process, it is important that Local Authorities carefully consider 
the impact of contract size on market diversity. Clinks recommends that wherever possible large 
contracts are broken into smaller lots to encourage and ensure market diversity. If Local Authorities 
are considering combining several existing contracts, an impact assessment should be carried out 
to assess the effect on market diversity.

In their recommendation to the government, The National Housing Federation (NHF) state that 
housing costs should be met in a way which gives long-term certainty to funding for providers, to 
enable continued investment in homes and services that meet tenants’ needs. To do this they 
argue that the government should continue to fund actual rents and eligible service charges 

Page 95



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 70

through the mainstream benefits system with checks on who can receive this funding via a new 
approach to registration for providers. 

The NHF suggest that support costs should be funded from a central government budget, which 
different departments could feed into, setting the outcomes they would like to see for the money 
that they are putting in. Some of this money would be distributed at a national level and some at a 
local level to ensure spending meets local needs and complements any health and care 
commissioning. Additional safeguards would need to be built in to protect any local funding. 

The NHF summarise the key proposals for supported housing as: 

 The removal of the threat of the Local Housing Allowance cap from the supported and 
sheltered housing sector 

 Funding actual rents and eligible service charges for supported and sheltered housing via 
the benefits system through Universal Credit and Pension Credit 

 Strengthening funding mechanisms for support services by establishing an enhanced 
national budget for support services 

 Exploring approaches to safeguarding any funding that is devolved to a local level, 
including the use of a ringfence 

 Working with the sector to develop proposals around a new approach to registration and 
regulation for supported and sheltered housing providers. 

It is of note that in Kent Pathways to Independence are described by both KSS CRC and NPS 
managers and staff as providing tremendous support and a being a key partnership agency. CJS 
agencies in Kent are keen to ensure the security and stability of future funding for Pathways to 
Independence in light of the planned funding reforms.  

Psychologically Informed Planned Environment (PIPE) 

CJS staff and service users may be familiar with PIPEs, in relation to specific prison units and 
Approved Premises. However, a report by No One Left Out, drawing upon ’Psychologically 
Informed Services for Homeless People: Good Practice Guide’ (DCLG, 2012) aims for 
accommodation support services to also become psychologically informed. A Psychologically 
Informed Environment (PIE) “is one that takes into account the psychological makeup, the thinking, 
emotions, personalities and past experience, of its participants in the way that it operates.” 

PIEs are an approach to supporting people out of homelessness, in particular those who have 
experienced complex trauma or are diagnosed with a personality disorder. It also considers the 
psychological needs of staff: developing skills and knowledge, increasing motivation, job 
satisfaction and resilience. Many of the service users homeless services work with seem to have 
difficulty managing their emotions, appear impulsive and do not consider the consequences of their 
actions. Some may be withdrawn, isolated and reluctant to engage or exhibit anti-social behaviour. 
The purpose of a PIE is to help staff understand where these behaviours are coming from and 
therefore work more creatively and constructively with challenging behaviours.

Pathways to Independence highlights that they are undertaking a strategic review this year and 
central to that review is the exploration of both PIE and trauma informed care philosophies which 
senior managers feel would be of enormous benefit to both service users and staff. The improved 
outcomes from various projects nationally have been impressive and are in line with how senior 
managers see the development of both the ethos and culture of the organisation. They are in the 
early stages of staff training and preparing their current residents for potentially adapting the way 
they deliver their services. Pathways are also keen to explore the development of community-

Page 96



71

based initiatives such as outreach and floating support services to better meet the demand of both 
the offender and homeless cohorts at a time when they anticipate they will become more 
marginalised and excluded from mainstream services. 

BASS

The Bail Accommodation and Support Service (BASS) is commissioned by the MoJ to provide 550 
bed spaces for either defendants or short-term prisoners who would otherwise be in custody due to 
not having a suitable address for bail or release on home detention curfew. Service users are 
assisted in their search for move-on accommodation and bailees are offered further support via 
interventions or signposting in relation to employment and education, alcohol and drug use and 
other areas of need. Referrals can now be made by either NPS Court duty staff, or from
prison-based bail information, home detention curfew or CRC Through the Gate teams.

KSS CRC reports the use of BASS hostels in Thanet and Folkestone as proving very useful. This 
means releasing service users early on Home Detention Curfew, with the positives of being on a 
tagged curfew, in supported accommodation and have access to a range of support services that 
BASS provide. This has been seen to work well both from a rehabilitative stance and in terms of 
enforcement when needed.

NACRO

NPS could directly fund NACRO and Centra to provide a service to NPS service users, if NACRO 
and Centra have capacity and are willing to work with high risk service users. Alternatively KSS 
CRC could negotiate with NACRO and Centra to make their service available to the NPS via the 
Rate Card. If this is to be explored further the potential workload impact would need to be fully 
assessed for support staff. Furthermore, it would have to be clear what the fee for purchase 
service would provide, for how long and with determined measurable outcomes. 

Service User Involvement

Clinks emphasises the importance of service user involvement in addressing housing and 
homelessness issues. They state that to support someone on their journey to desistance, which is 
the highly individualised process by which someone may re-offend before stopping altogether, it is 
important that interventions are not done to someone but they are done with them. It is therefore 
important that when determining whether someone in contact with the CJS requires a supported 
housing or other housing placement, that this takes into account the wishes of the service user and 
is done in partnership with them where possible.

Many voluntary sector organisations facilitate service user involvement, to listen to their service 
user’s views and involve them in service design, delivery and evaluation. These approaches 
amplify the voices that often go unheard, to make sure services benefit from the insights of experts 
by experience. Clinks recommends that Local Housing Authorities engage with existing service 
user involvement networks facilitated by voluntary organisations, especially supported housing 
providers, to enable service users to strategically inform how supported housing placements and 
other housing services are delivered.

A collaborative approach with service users should be considered throughout the formation and 
delivery of the recommended multi-agency housing and homelessness action plan.  

Page 97



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 72

Actions for Consideration

1. Explore funding possibilities for accommodation access for CJS service users:

a. CRC to fund bed spaces and sell through the Rate Card 
b. NPS to fund bed spaces through staffing underspend
c. Co-commissioning arrangement between two or more RRB agencies
d. Develop a CJS private rental sector access scheme
e. Develop a CJS service user rent deposit scheme
f. Purchase and management of converted shipping container accommodation

2. Monitor recommendations for a cross-departmental government accommodation strategy 
and communicate/implement as necessary

Page 98



73

3. Ensure compliance with existing agency accommodation strategies and 
communicate/implement as necessary

4. Consider a review and refresh of the Kent Offender Accommodation Strategy and 
communicate/implement as necessary

5. Each Kent Local Authority to develop and implement a multi-agency housing strategy

6. Consider adopting the Making Every Adult Matter Approach where not already in place

7. Consider adopting the Housing First Approach where not already in place

8. Develop and implement a multi-agency housing and homelessness communication strategy 
to improve knowledge and understanding of agencies role and remit in relation to 
accommodation and associated matters

9. Develop and deliver multi-agency housing and homelessness training to frontline staff

10. Develop and maintain a multi-agency housing and homelessness repository of information, 
resources, referral forms, processes, pathways, training packs and best practice

11. Review existing Tenancy Sustainment and Good Neighbour Programmes for suitability, re-
roll and promote

12. Kent Prisons to explore the ‘departure lounge’ model highlighted as good practice at HMP 
Durham and, if possible, roll out in establishments.

13. Explore attendance of the Local Authority Housing Leads at Health and Wellbeing Boards 
(if not already in place) 

14. Explore options for a multi-agency scheme to identify empty Local Authority properties, or 
others available through purchase or let, set up a programme of ETE development to be 
delivered in the properties developing skills in property maintenance with the longer term 
plan to let to CJS users  

15. Ensure that developments in DCLG Supported Housing strategy are shared with all RRB 
members in a timely fashion

16. To consider collaboration with service users in the consideration and delivery of the 
proposed multi-agency housing and homelessness actions 

Annex A: Multi-Agency Data Collection

The multi-agency data collection for the purpose of this paper included the following request to 
Reducing Re-Offending Board and Integrated Offender Management Performance and Delivery 
Group members, NPS staff and housing partners:
 

Please provide the following: 

a) A brief summary of your agency and the criteria for service users

b) Any data sets your agency currently collates in relation to housing and homelessness in 
Kent

Page 99



V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 74

c) Any data outlining the current accommodation status of your service users. Please 
breakdown the data in as much detail as possible, e.g. No Fixed Abode – are they street 
homeless/rough sleeping, sofa surfing or avoiding home visits/curfew. If possible please 
include demographics, e.g. age, gender, location.

d) Your views on the strategic and systemic barriers to your service users obtaining and 
maintaining suitable accommodation? 

e) Any relevant documents, research, papers etc. you feel should be reviewed in preparation 
for this paper.

Thanks to the following contributors:

Claire Jones, Head of Service (Assessment, Rehabilitation and IOM), KSS CRC

David Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, KSS CRC

David Hughes, Chief Executive, Gravesham Borough Council

Donna Pearson, Executive Director, Pathways to Independence

John Littlemore, Head of Housing & Community Services, Maidstone Borough Council

KSS CRC Data Analysts

Linda Lauris, Housing Operations Manager, Gravesham Borough Council

Mark Collison, Probation Officer, West Kent NPS

Melanie Anthony, Kent County Council 

NACRO and Centra Kent Housing Brokerage Service

Paul English, Performance and Quality Officer, South East and Eastern Division, NPS

Rose Cole, Business Development Coordinator, Porchlight

Steve Peel, Senior Probation Officer & Accommodation Lead, KSS CRC

Wendy Ruck, former Probation Service Officer, KSS CRC
Bibliography

Adam Forrest, The Guardian, (2015, October), “Living in a Steel Box: Are Shipping Containers 
Really the Future of Housing?”, retrieved from www.theguardian.com, 2nd June 2017

BBC, (2017, January), “New Homelessness Law: What Impact Will it Have?”, retrieved from 
www.bbc.co.uk, 20th May 2017

BBC, (2017, March), “Homelessness Reduction Bill to Become Law”, retrieved from 
www.bbc.co.uk, 20th May 2017

Bill Tanner, (2017, January), “Ex-Offenders to Face a ‘Cliff Edge’ “, retrieved from 
www.24housing.co.uk, 24th March 2017

Page 100

http://www.theguardian.com/
http://www.24housing.co.uk/


75

Clinks, (2017, February), “Clinks’ Response to the DCLG and DWP Funding for Supported 
Housing Consultation” 

Clinks and Homelessness Links, (2017, February), “Are the Accommodation Needs Being Met for 
People in Contact with the Criminal Justice System?”

Crisis.org.uk, accessed 22nd May 2017 

Department for Communities and Local Government, (2012, August), “Evidence Review of the 
Costs of Homelessness”

Department for Communities and Local Government, (2017, January), “Local Authority Housing 
Statistics: Year ending March 2016: England”

Department for Communities and Local Government, (2017, Feb), “Fixing Our Broken Housing 
Market”

Department for Communities and Local Government, (2017, March), “Statutory Homelessness and 
Prevention and Relief, October to December 2016: England”

Grahame Allen and Chris Watson, House of Commons Library, (2017, April), “UK Prison 
Population Statistics”, retrieved from www.parliment.uk/commons-library 2nd June 2017 

Glyn Robbins, (2017, May), “A Prison Break from the Housing Crisis”, retrieved from 
www.crimeandjustice.org.co.uk 26th May 2017

Homeless Link, (2016) “Housing First Principles”

Homeless Link, (2016) “Housing First in England: The Principles”

Homeless Link, (2016, December) “Future Funding Consultation Briefing”

Homeless Link, (2017)  “Future Focus: A Framework to Shape the Funding Sustainable supported 
Housing Services”  

Homelessness Reduction Bill

Howard League for Penal Reform, (2016, August), “Call to stop revolving door to prison as 
numbers recalled to custody soar”, retrieved from www.howardleague.org 2nd June 2017

Information Sharing and Joint Working Protocol Between: HMP Elmley, Kent Police, Swale 
Housing Department, Swale Community Safety Team, KSS Community Rehabilitation Company 
and National Probation Service (Kent LDU) (2016, October)

Kent County Council, Strategic Business Development & Intelligence Unit (2016, December), “Kent 
Local Housing Authorities Business Intelligence Statistical Bulletin: Homelessness Bulletin 2016 
Qtr3”, retrieved from www.kent.gov.uk/research 20th May 2017

Kent County Council, (2017, May), “East Kent Entrenched Rough Sleeper Programme Service 
Specification” 

Kent Online, (2016, December) “Over 3,000 homeless in Kent according to new report by Shelter”

Page 101

http://www.parliment.uk/commons-library
http://www.crimeandjustice.org.co.uk/
http://www.howardleague.org/
http://www.kent.gov.uk/research


V6 Abbie Gardner, Senior Probation Officer, Kent NPS Accommodation Lead 76

Mark Lawrence (2017, February), ”‘Housing Minister ‘Has Hands Tied by Treasury’ “, retrieved 
from www.24housing.co.uk, 24th March 2017

National Housing Federation, (2016, June), “A proposal for a strong and sustainable future for 
supported and sheltered housing”

National Probation Service, (2016, November), “Housing Needs Strategy” 

National Probation Service, South East and Eastern, (2016, November), “NPS SEE 
Accommodation Workshop: Meeting Notes” 

Nicholas Pleace, Crisis, (2015, July), “At What Cost? An Estimation of the Financial Costs of 
Single Homelessness in the UK

No One Left Out: Solutions Ltd for Westminster City Council, (2015), “Psychologically Informed 
Environments” 

Recoop, Resettlement and Care for Older Ex-Offenders and Prisoners, (2017, May), “Why Older 
Offenders?”, retrieved from www.recoop.org.uk 2nd June 2017

Richard Hughes, (2017, March), “Policy Briefing – Housing Support or 18-21 Year Olds”, YMCA

Toby Helm, (2017, March), “Government Considering Plans to House Addicts Who Sleep Rough”, 
retrieved from www.theguardian.com, 22nd May 2017

Page 102

http://www.24housing.co.uk/
http://www.recoop.org.uk/


Kent Drug and Alcohol Services 
Commissioning Update – October 2017

1. Adult Drug and Alcohol Services

1.1 West Kent Drug and Alcohol Service

The West Kent contract, delivered by CGL has been in place since April 2016 and 
following a period of co-design, a new operational model was agreed in September 2016.  
We are currently working with CGL to deliver the following improvements to the service:

 Building ‘recovery capital’ for service users to focus on what a service user 
needs to begin treatment and those aspects that are needed to maintain or build 
change.  A “Building Recovery in the Community” worker has been recruited 
into the service and is currently working with service users to develop links in 
the West Kent community.

 Ensuring that recovery is prominent in services and treatment systems through 
the use of ‘Recovery Motivators’.

 Delivering interventions in a dynamic way which does not allow service users to 
drift into long-term maintenance.

 
1.2 The East Kent Drug and Alcohol Service

In East Kent, The Forward Trust (formerly RAPt) are five months into the new contract and 
have begun Phase 3 of the co-design process for the new service.  In collaboration with 
key stakeholders they are focusing on work stream planning around the priorities identified 
for each hub area.  Areas of focus include, Mental Health, opiate service users and 
building recovery capital.

2. Young Person’s Drug and Alcohol Service

We are currently in the process of commissioning a new Young Person’s Drug and 
Alcohol Service.  The procurement process is underway and the new contract will be 
awarded to the successful Provider in early October 2017.  The service will go live on 1st 
January 2018 and will include a “core service” for 11-18 year olds with the flexibility to 
provide interventions for 18-24 year olds who have an identified need for the young 
person’s provision (rather than simply accessing the adult provision).  We will work with 
the successful Provider to mobilise the new service throughout October, November and 
December to ensure a seamless transfer to the new service.

Page 103

Agenda Item B6



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A3 Notes of meeting held on 19 July 2017
	B1 Kent Community Safety Agreement Update
	B2 KCSP Working Group update
	B2 - Appendix 1 - KCSP Working Group ToR

	B3 Housing & Homelessness for CJS Service Users
	B3 - Appendix 1 - HOUSING & HOMELESSNESS for CJS Service Users

	B6 Kent Drug and Alcohol Services Commissioning update

